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We are now one big family carrying over 60 
million passengers. Our responsibility is also 
big: we must ensure the satisfaction of every 
passenger we carry, both on the ground and 
in the sky. Because we work for them.

Although we are not the largest airline in 
the world yet, we continue to be the best 
in passenger satisfaction. In terms of 
satisfaction, our aircraft are fully equipped 
take off towards happiness!

Our aircraft are equipped with various features to boost satisfaction:

Award-winning features Special destinations Delicious treats Technological equipment Multilingual crew Exclusive transfer
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CROWNED 
QUALITY 
Turkish Airlines’ strong commitment 
to passenger satisfaction has been 
crowned by Skytrax, the world’s 
leading and most prestigious airline 
and airport auditing and consulting 
firm. “Skytrax Passengers Choice 
Awards” has chosen Turkish Airlines 
the “Best Airline in Europe” again, for 
the fifth time in a row.



OVER-THE-TOP 
ENTERTAINMENT

With implementation of numerous 
innovations, Turkish Airlines 
makes traveling much more 

enjoyable by offering pleasant 
surprises to passengers. 

Believing that in-flight 
entertainment systems add 
a distinctive value to travel 
comfort, we offer exclusive 

headsets to our Business and 
Economy guests for a better 

music experience.
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Turkish Airlines has been operating in domestic 
and international passenger and cargo 
transportation by air as its mainline business since 
its establishment in 1933.

50.88% of the company’s shares are publicly-
traded whilst 49.12% are held by the Privatization 
Administration. Paid-in capital of the Company 
amounts to TRY 1.38 billion. The Company has 13 
subsidiaries in total, of which 3 are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and 10 are joint ventures.

Turkish Airlines is the airline that flies to the most 
countries and international destinations worldwide. 
Moreover, the Company ranks 7th in the number of 
international passengers and 13th in revenues. 

By the end of 2015, Turkish Airlines increased the 
number of aircraft in its fleet to 299 from 261 as 
at the end of 2014. The fleet consists of 73 wide-
body and 216 narrow-body and 10 freighter aircraft.

As of 2015, Turkish Airlines flies to 287 
destinations in total with 51 domestic and 236 
international destinations. The Company’s 
passenger volume increased by 12.0% year-over-
year to 61.2 million in 2015. Passenger volume 
grew by 15.8% on domestic routes and 9.3% on 
international routes. The number of passenger 
aircraft landings increased by 9.6% to 452,982.

Cargo-Mail transportation volume has also risen by 
7.9% to 720.440 tons in 2015.

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE 
OF TURKISH AIRLINES

50.88% Other (publicly-traded)

49.12% Privatization Administration of the 
Prime Ministry of Republic of Turkey

Turkish Airlines 
is the airline 
that flies to the 
most countries 
and international 
destinations 
worldwide.

TURKISH AIRLINES AT A GLANCE
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KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(US$ million) 2014 2015 Variation (%)

Yield (Net) 11,070 10,522 -5

Net Profit 845 1,069 26

Net Profit Margin (%) 7.6 10.2 2.5

EBIT 808 1,039 28.6

EBIT Margin (%) 7.3 9.9 2.6

EBITDAR 2,085 2,580 23.8

EBITDAR Margin (%) 18.8 24.5 5.7

INCREASED COMPETITION LED TO 
DECLINE IN GLOBAL REVENUES
2015 has been a challenging year in many 
aspects, both for the aviation industry and for 
Turkish Airlines specifically. Up to 35% decrease 
in fuel costs, which represents the highest 
cost item for airlines, brought in increased 
capacity and as a result, increased competition 
in the industry. According to IATA data, global 
passenger and cargo revenues of airlines 
declined by 5.7% and 17.5%, respectively due to 
increased competition.

Fluctuation in exchange rates was another 
factor that had an influence on demand and 
airline financial metrics. Depreciation of Euro, in 
particular, and the currencies of all developing 
countries against US Dollar caused the industry 
to have a hard time in pricing and planning 
issues. Still, global passenger traffic increased by 
6%, the highest growth rate recorded for many 
years. As costs decreased, profitability of airlines 
rose significantly.

In 2015, Turkish Airlines managed to limit the 
decrease in its revenues thanks to its effective 
revenue management and geographically diverse 
source of revenues. Total sales revenues of the 
Company decreased by 4.9% to US$ 10.5 billion. 

Passenger revenues represented 89% and cargo 
revenues accounted for 9% of total revenues in 
2015.

NET PROFIT AT RECORD LEVEL
Turkish Airlines has the most effective cost 
management compared to its competitors in 
the industry, and despite the decline in its total 
revenues, the Company managed to increase its 
net profit by 26% to approximately US$ 1.1 billion 
in 2015, the highest level ever achieved in its 
history. According to IATA statistics, average net 
profit margin of airlines was around 5% in 2015, 
however Turkish Airlines increased its profit 
margin from 7.6% to 10.2%, which is well above 
the industry average.

LEADER AMONG OTHER FLAG CARRIERS
Turkish Airlines expresses its profitability and 
cash generation potential in EBITDAR (earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, 
and rent costs), which is a common performance 
criterion in aviation industry. The Company’s 
EBIDTAR was US$ 2.6 billion with a margin 
of 24.5% in 2015, a record level among other 
global flag carriers. Turkish Airlines, reaching an 
average EBITDAR margin of 19.5% for the last five 
years, continues to be one of the most profitable 
airlines in the industry.

EBITDAR rose by 24%
to US$ 2.580 million

24%
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Net Profit rose by 26%
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NUMBER ONE IN PRODUCTIVITY
Turkish Airlines unit costs per available seat 
kilometers reduced by 17.0% to USc 6.42 in 
2015. This reduction mainly resulted from the 
drop in oil prices, along with the increased labor 
productivity and effective cost management of 
the Company. In 2005, Turkish Airlines stepped 
up its labor productivity with 2.212 passengers 
per employee, outperforming the average of its 
main competitors* for 2014 (1.541) by 43%.

With 37% of operational costs incurred in Turkish 
Lira, Turkish Airlines was positively influenced by 
the depreciation of Turkish Lira against US dollar, 
maintaining its global advantage of lower unit 
costs in 2015.

“Main Competitors: Delta Airlines, American Airlines, 
United-Continental Airlines, Lufthansa, Air France-KLM, 
IAG, Singapore Airlines and Emirates.

AVERAGE EBITDAR 
MARGIN 2011-2015: 
19.5% (US$ MILLION)
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201420122011 20152013

Personnel/ASK

Fuel/ASK

Other/ASK

Total CASK

USC
8.46 7.92 7.94 7.74 6.42

3.85 3.49 3.66 3.403.63

2.95 3.00 2.96 2.82 1.96

1.65 1.43 1.36 1.26 1.07

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Turkish Airlines 
increased its net 
profits by 26% to 
approximately US$ 
1.1 billion in 2015.
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THE SECOND MOST-ACTIVE STOCK
Turkish Airlines’ stocks have been listed on 
Istanbul Stock Exchange ‘Borsa İstanbul’ 
(BIST) under the Ticker Symbol “THYAO” since 
1990. Percentage of publicly-traded shares of 
the Company rose to 50.88% after the two 
secondary public offerings in 2004 and 2006. 
Investors consider Turkish Airline shares as 
one of the most preferred stocks in Turkey 
with a high liquidity and wide investor base for 
many years. Turkish Airlines’ shares were the 
second most actively traded stock on Borsa 
Istanbul with a trading volume of TRY 68 billion 
in 2015. The Company’s share price, however, 
underperformed by 9% in comparison to Borsa 
Istanbul due to several negative developments 
which are believed to have direct impact on 
air transportation such as geopolitical risks in 
operational regions and global security concerns, 
in 2015.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUES BY REGION (%)

30.7% Europe

22.6% Middle East

13.3% Domestic Routes

13.0% Middle East

12.3% Americas

8.0% Africa

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUES BY REGION

(US$ million) 2014 2015
Variation 

(%)

Domestic 1,429 1,373 -3.9

Middle East 1,315 1,335 1.5

Europe 3,559 3,166 -11.0

Africa 915 826 -9.7

Americas 1,195 1,270 6.3

Far East 2,418 2,333 -3.5

TOTAL 10,831 10,303 -4.9

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUES BY CATEGORY

(US$ million) 2014 2015
Variation 

(%)

Passenger Revenues 9,858 9,368 -5

Cargo Revenues 973 935 -3.9

Other 239 219 -8.3

TOTAL 11,070 10,522 -4.9

BALANCED INCOME PORTFOLIO
Turkish Airlines’ extensive flight network provides 
a natural hedging mechanism against regional 
crises by diversifying the Company’s income 
stream. According to the distribution of global 
revenues by region in 2015, Europe still enjoys 
the largest share although with a fall from 
32.9% to 30.7%, whilst Middle East and America 
increased their shares with newly-launched 
long-distance routes such as Taipei, Manila, San 
Francisco and Miami. 72% of all tickets were sold 
on international markets, which corresponds to 
nearly US$ 7 billion worth of service exports.

TURKISH AIRLINES INC. - BIST 100 PERFORMANCE BENCHMARK
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In 2015, the global economy was directed mainly 
by the US Federal Reserve’s (FED) decision to 
raise interest rates, an interest rate cut in Japan to 
control recession, and China’s lower-than-expected 
growth rate.

Slowly recovering from the crisis, the US grew by 
2.5%, while the Eurozone grew by 1.5%, with an 
expansionary monetary policy for the shrinking 
markets.

The tightening of the US monetary policy led 
to capital outflows from emerging markets and 
depreciation of those currencies against US 
dollar. This downward trend was most marked in 
emerging countries such as Russia and Brazil, in 
particular. 

US$ 33 billion. According to IATA reports, 
profitability in the industry is expected to continue 
in 2016, and see US$ 36.3 billion. IATA announces 
that net profit margin increased to 4.6% from 2.3%, 
and a net profit margin of 5.1% is expected in 2016. 

In 2015, passenger volume increased by 6.5% and 
total number of passengers rose to 3.545 billion 
from 3.327 billion. This figure is expected to rise by 
6.7% to 3.782 billion in the next year.
 
INCREASE IN LOAD FACTORS
IATA statistics indicate that load factors rose to 
80.6% in 2015 from 79.8% in 2014. According to a 
report issued by ATW in January 2016, load factors 
are expected to be similar in 2016, at about 80.4%.

The drop in oil prices, another significant factor 
affecting the industry, continued in 2015. The 
price of crude oil, which was around US$ 100 a 
barrel in 2014, fell to US$ 55 a barrel in 2015. This 
downward trend is expected to continue in 2016, 
with prices estimated to drop below US$ 51. 

Continued drop in oil prices, in turn, led to a 
reduction in fuel costs, a major single cost item in 
the industry, resulting in lower unit costs. Airlines 
that employ hedging tools at higher levels were 
unable to take full advantage of decreased oil 
prices in 2015, but are expected to benefit further 
from this opportunity in 2016. 

Marked by these developments, the global 
economy registered 3.1% growth. Growth in 
developed economies reached 2%, while emerging 
economies experienced a slowdown in growth rate, 
with a decline from 4.5% to 4%.

TURKISH ECONOMY GREW BY NEARLY 3%
In 2015, the Turkish economy was influenced 
by global economic developments as well as 
challenging domestic conditions with two general 
elections during the year. Despite these negative 
conditions, Turkish economy grew by nearly 3% 
in 2015. While private and public consumption 
provided the largest contribution to economic 
growth in 2015, net exports had a negative impact, 
and the contribution of investments remained 
limited.

In 2016, similar factors are expected to impact 
the global economy, although economic growth 
is expected to gradually rise to 3.4% in 2016 and 
to 3.6% in 2017. In the coming period, India, being 
one of countries that are least affected by the 
recession in emerging markets, is expected to 
outperform China, whilst the downward trend is 
expected to continue in Russia and Brazil.

RECORD PROFITS IN AIRLINE INDUSTRY
Signs of recovery in developed economies 
accelerated growth in the airline industry. Achieving 
a net profit of US$ 17 billion in 2014, the industry is 
estimated to close 2015 with a record profit of  

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENTS AND 
FORECAST FOR 2016

FX RATES AGAIST US DOLLAR
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*Source: IATA

GLOBAL GROWTH

(%) 2014 2015 2016 2017

USA 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.6

Russia 0.6 -3.7 -1 1

China 7.3 6.9 6.3 6

India 7.3 7.3 7.5 7.5

Brazil 0.1 -3.8 -3.5 0

Worldwide 3.4 3.1 3.4 3.6

Source: IMF WEO Update, January 2016
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The drop in oil prices also reduced the share of 
fuel costs in operational costs to 27% from 32%, 
which is expected to fall further to around 20% in 
2016.* Whilst the reduction in oil prices lowered 
unit costs, it also had a significant impact on unit 
revenue. Reflecting the reduction in fuel prices 
to ticket prices, airlines experienced lower unit 
revenues due to competition. As oil prices are 
expected to continue on a downward trend, air 
carriers are expected to face difficulties if they fall 
back to counterbalance this decline with increased 
demand.

REGIONAL DEVELOPMENTS
Among other factors that influenced the civil 
aviation industry were the tragic terrorist attacks 
and regional developments. In particular, the 
terrorist attacks in the Europe had a rapid and 
significant effect on air traffic. Incidents taking 
place in Russia, Syria and Iraq influenced regional 
airlines negatively. However, regional developments 
such as the recent lifting of some of the sanctions 
on Iran are being closely monitored by regional 
airlines.

American carriers, utilizing relatively less hedging, 
have benefited more from reduced oil prices. They 
demonstrated a better performance, compared 
to other regions, with the impact of the strong 
position of US dollar. North American carriers, 
closing the year 2014 with a net profit of US$ 11.3 
billion, are expected to close the year 2015 with a 
net profit of US$ 19.4 billion* IATA estimates US$ 
19.2 billion net profit for North American carriers in 
2016.

Despite fierce competition, European carriers also 
demonstrated improved performance, with net 
profits estimated to have risen to US$ 6.9 billion in 
2015 from US$ 2.9 billion in 2014. In 2016, net profit 
is expected to reach US$ 8.5 billion. European 
airlines achieved 3.9% increase in capacity (ASK) in 
2015 over the previous year. Capacity increase is 
expected to reach 6.2% in 2016*.

Ongoing efforts are being made towards creation 
of the single European sky and coordination of slot 
allocation in the upcoming period. Another issue 
that must be observed closely is the shrinking 
demand in some regions due to terror incidents.

Slower-than-expected growth in the Chinese 
economy also significantly impacted the industry, 
particularly in the Asia Pacific region. While 
concerns in the cargo market persist, passenger 
market continues its rise with reduced fuel costs, 
lower ticket prices and increasing demand.

Airlines in the Asia Pacific region increased their 
net profit to US$ 5.8 billion in 2015 from US$ 2.1 
billion in 2014. According to IATA data, this figure is 
expected to reach US$ 6.6 billion in 2016. Closing 
2015 with a 6% increase in capacity year-over-year, 
regional airlines are expected to see 8.4% capacity 
increase in 2016.*

Regional developments in the Middle East had a 
negative impact on aviation industry. The overall 
industrial performance of the region, however, was 
offset by the presence of the Gulf airlines. Middle 
Eastern airlines increased their net profit to US$ 1.4 
billion in 2015 from US$ 900 million in 2014.* IATA 
estimates indicate a net profit of US$ 1.7 billion for 
2016. Regional airlines closed 2015 with a 12.1% 
increase in capacity year-over-year. According to 
ATW, a 12.2% capacity increase is anticipated in 
2016.

The exchange rate issues faced by Latin American 
countries against the strong US dollar placed 
airlines into a difficult situation; and regional 
companies were unable to benefit fully from the 
decline in oil prices. Closing 2014 with a net profit 
of US$ 200 million, Latin American carriers are 
expected to close 2015 with a net loss of US$ 300 
million due to these unfavorable developments. 
Postponing delivery of new aircraft in consequence 
of these developments, Latin American air carriers 
are expected to generate a net profit of US$ 400 
million with somewhat improvement in exchange 
rate effect, in 2016.

Besides Latin America, Africa was also severely 
affected by the decline in exchange rates. African 
carriers, expected to close the year 2015 with a net 
loss of US$ 300 million, are anticipated to close 
2016 with a net loss of US$ 100 million despite the 
relative improvement in the economy*.

INVESTMENTS ON THE RISE
Growth in the global economies and increasing 
demand are driving infrastructural developments in 
the aviation industry. Several airport construction 
projects were launched to meet the increasing 
demand, particularly in the Gulf region. Istanbul 
is poised to become an even more important 
connection hub with the completion of its new 
airport as well as the other airport projects in Gulf 
region.

Another indicator of market growth is the existing 
future orders and future expectations of aircraft 
manufacturers. For example, projections of major 
aircraft manufacturers such as Boeing and Airbus 
for the next 2 decades are as follows:

 ↗  Boeing’s forecast for long-term demand over 
the 2015-2035 period covers introduction of 
38,050 new aircraft (920 cargo and 37,130 
passenger aircraft) amounting to US$ 5.6 
trillion.

 ↗  Airbus’s long-term forecast in 2015 for the 
next 2 decades covers introduction of 32,585 
new aircraft in total, worth of US$ 4.7 trillion, 
with 37,781 passenger aircraft and 804 cargo 
aircraft.

The effect of the low-cost carriers in the industry 
continues to increase steadily. According to CAPA 
data, low-cost carriers account for more than 25% 
of total seat capacity as of 2015. Seeking to lower 
their costs and become more flexible under these 
conditions, several airlines, particularly in Europe 
and Asia, prefer to launch their own subsidiaries 
and diversify their services.

*Source: IATA
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As the airline that 
flies to the most 
countries and as 
the most well-known 
Turkish brand 
worldwide, we bring 
together people from 
different cultures 
and accompany 
them during their 
travels by keeping 
our service quality 
always at the 
highest level.

DEAR ESTEEMED SHAREHOLDERS, 
CUSTOMERS, BUSINESS PARTNERS AND 
EMPLOYEES,
Turkish Airlines continued to grow at full stream 
in 2015, maintaining a steady growth trend for the 
last 13 years. Throughout the year, we successfully 
realized our growth plans, and moved forward 
decisively on track towards achieving our targets 
for passenger traffic and financial results. As in 
preceding years, we outperformed the industry 
with a robust growth rate, which provided us with 
strength and drives us forward towards our vision 
for 2023. Passengers were extremely satisfied 
with our brand’s high-quality, friendly service; and 
our investors were pleased with our successful 
financial results.

In 2015, we worked hard and diligently to offer the 
very best service to our 61.2 million passengers, 
with our workforce of over 50,000 employees 
and 299 aircraft. This success is the result of our 
disciplined, professional and agile way of business, 
and provides insight on our vision for 2023, which 
plays a significant role in our long-term planning. 
Our aim is to reach 120 million passengers with a 
total revenue of US$ 30 billion and a fleet of over 
500 aircraft by 2023, and ultimately increase our 
current share of 2.1% in global aviation industry to 
5% on our way to 2030. One of our most important 
incentives in achieving our target will be the new 
airport under construction in Istanbul. With its huge 
capacity and modern infrastructure, new airport 
will play a significant role in accomplishment of our 
targets as one of the biggest projects in the history 
of civil aviation.

WE CONTINUED TO CREATE VALUE FOR OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS IN 2015
Marked by economic and political turbulence 
worldwide, 2015 has been a challenging year 
for both the aviation industry as a whole, and 
specifically for Turkish Airlines. Fuel costs, 
representing the largest cost item for airlines, fell by 
30-35%, resulting in capacity increase accompanied 
by increased competition. According to IATA 
statistics, global passenger and cargo revenues of 
airlines declined by 5.7% and 16.4%, respectively. 
Fluctuations in exchange rates were another 
factor that had an influence on demand and airline 
financial metrics. Depreciation of Euro, in particular, 
and the currencies of all developing countries 
against US Dollar caused the industry to have a 
hard time in pricing and planning issues. Despite 
the bumpy course, 2015 marked a 6.5% growth in 
global passenger traffic, the highest level recorded 
in global air transportation after many years. Airline 
profitability also rose significantly. Strengthened 
commercial and cultural links between countries 
and leisure travel contribute to this inevitable 
growth.

Turkish Airlines continued to increase its share in 
this growth by consistently enhancing its service 
quality and applying sustainable policies. Carrying 
61.2 million passengers in 2015, Turkish Airlines saw 
a rise of 11.8% in passenger volume throughout the 
year. The Company recorded a 13.6% increase in 
available seat kilometers (ASK) and 11.7% increase 
in revenue passenger kilometers (RPK); and the 
number of our international to international transfer 
passengers rose by 18.1% year over year. While 
average load factor on our passenger flights was 
77.9%, Turkish Cargo, one of the fastest growing air 
cargo brands, grew by 8.7% over the previous year 
and carried 720,000 tons of cargo in 2015.

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

REVENUE PASSENGERS
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In 2015, our Company experienced a first in its 
history: Our net profit increased by 65% compared 
to the previous year and reached TRY 2.993 
billion, whilst primary operating profit increased 
by 72% over the previous year to TL 2.486 billion. 
Thus, Turkish Airlines surpassed one billion US 
dollars for the first time in its history, and closed 
2015 with US$ 1.069 billion net profit. Our total 
sales revenue reached TRY 28.752 billion with a 
19% increase compared to 2014. As a significant 
benchmark that reflects the Company’s profitability 
and cash generation potential, Turkish Airlines 
attained US$ 2.6 billion EBITDAR (earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent 
costs) at a margin of 24.5% with a 5.7 percentage 
point increase over the previous year. With these 
results – and despite the fierce competition in the 
global industry, political and economic instability 
in the surrounding regions and foreign exchange 
fluctuations directly affecting the industry – Turkish 
Airlines once again retained its position among the 
most profitable airlines in 2015.

As one of the most important contributors to this 
success, our fleet remained to be one of the 
world’s youngest fleets with the introduction of 
new aircraft in 2015, with an average of 6.8 years. 
Turkish Airlines fleet is one of the world’s most 
prominent fleets with a total of 299 aircraft –216 
narrow-body, 73 wide-body, and 10 cargo, and 
provides us with a significant leverage on our 
path towards our vision for 2023. Looking more 
closely at air transportation industry, we see that 
our strategic fleet provision and investment policies 
based on demand contribute enormously to our 
goal of becoming one of the world’s leading airlines. 
In line with our year-end strategy and taking into 
account both the narrow-body aircraft scheduled 
to join our fleet as from 2016, and the aircraft lease 
terms for which will expire, Turkish Airlines’ fleet is 
expected to consist of 440 aircraft in total, including 
cargo aircraft, by the end of 2020. 

In 2015, our fleet expanded with 33 new aircraft 
worth of US$ 2.6 billion. These aircraft were 
financed successfully with low interest rates at 
around 3% and 10-12 year terms, and principally 
covered with cash entirely obtained from 
operations. In order to strengthen our healthy 
finance strategy through diversification, for the first 

time this year, Turkish Airlines issued two EETC 
bonds denominated in dollar and Japanese Yen in 
the USA and Japan, respectively. Once again, our 
Company was recognized this year with a number 
of awards for its creative financing structures by 
Airfinance Journal, Bond & Loans Awards and 
Global Transport Finance.

In 2015, our Company was also recognized for 
its corporate governance practices covering 
ethics, transparency, shareholder relations and 
risk management strategies. Turkish Airlines was 
recognized for the “Best Corporate Governance” 
award by Ethical Boardroom, leaving 11 major 
European airlines behind. In addition, World Finance 
named Turkish Airlines as the “Company with the 
Best Corporate Governance” in Turkey. Turkish 
Airlines was recognized for the “Best Investor 

Relations in Turkey” at the 25th “IR Magazine Awards 
– Europe” hosted in London by IR Magazine, one 
of the most prominent and respected Investor 
Relations publications in the world.

As a responsible global citizen, Turkish Airlines 
always aims to contribute to sustainable 
development. We believe in the importance 
of sustainable growth in harmony with all of 
our stakeholders, considering both our natural 
resources and our future generations in everything 
we do. In 2015, we issued and released our first 
Sustainability Report which outlines our efforts 
within this framework. We were among the 26 
highest-ranked companies on Borsa Istanbul 
Sustainability Index, which was announced in 
November.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Among these services are our private lounges, 
which play a significant role in our passengers’ 
travel experience. As of year-end 2015, we have 16 
CIP lounges in total, 1 in Moscow, 3 in international 
terminals in Turkey and 12 in domestic stations. 
Approximately 3.3 million passengers were served 
in our lounges in 2015. Our CIP lounge in the 
Istanbul international terminal served 1.6 million 
passengers last year, and was named as the 
“World’s Best Business Class Airline Lounge”. We 
are planning to launch new CIP lounges under 
Turkish Airlines brand in Washington, Nairobi and 
Hannover in 2016. Also, our efforts to open an 
exclusive CIP lounge for our brand in New York are 
ongoing.

This year, once again our success was recognized 
with many awards which, we believe, are the most 
important indicators of the value we attach to our 
passengers. We were awarded by Skytrax as the 
“Best Airline in Europe” one of the world’s most 
prestigious airline awards, for the 5th time in a row. 
And besides this award, we also won the awards 
“World’s Best Business Class Airline Lounge”, 
“World’s Best Business Class Lounge Dining” and 
“Best Airline in Southern Europe”. Turkish Cargo 
was chosen the “Best European Cargo Airline” at 
the award ceremony hosted by Air Cargo News for 
the 31st “Cargo Airline of the Year” Awards, the most 
prestigious event in the industry.

We aim to serve not only our passengers, but also 
their personal and commercial freight in the best 
and safest manner. Turkish Cargo, a subsidiary of 
Turkish Airlines, recorded 7.7% growth and carried 
720,000 tons of cargo and mail, increasing the 
number of its flight destinations to 47 with the 
newly launched destinations in 2015. We have 
expanded our cargo fleet and network with the 
improvements we made throughout the year. 
Turkish Cargo aims to achieve 14.3% increase in 
revenues and 13.8% increase in freight volume in 
2016.

WE INVITED PASSENGERS TO WIDEN 
THEIR WORLD IN 2015
As the airline that flies to the most countries and 
as the most well-known Turkish brand worldwide, 
we bring together people from different cultures 
and accompany them during their travels by 
keeping our service quality always at the highest 
level. Our greatest motivation comes from our own 
culture. We aim to represent traditional Turkish 
hospitality in the skies and offer all passengers 
that choose us the best travel experience. Driven 
by this motivation, we are climbing towards the top 
ranks of the aviation industry. Turkish Airlines is the 
fourth-largest air carrier by total flight destinations 
with 49 domestic and 235 international destinations 
worldwide as of year end. Currently, we fly to 287 
destinations -including 51 domestic destinations- in 
284 cities across 113 counties, which makes us the 
airline that flies to the most countries worldwide 
with 111 countries and 236 international destinations.

Our regional flight network also shows some fairly 
impressive figures. We fly to 34 destinations in 
the emerging Middle East market, 48 destinations 
in African market, a rising star in aviation, and 34 
destinations in the Far East/Middle Asia market 
which attracts attentions with its strong potential.

GOOD EXPERIENCES MAKE HAPPY 
PASSENGERS
We believe that our distinctive value lies in the 
experience we offer in the skies, and therefore, in 
2015, we introduced our new innovative services 
built on our cultural values and principles to offer 
you, our esteemed passengers, a travel experience 
well beyond expectations.

OUR EMPLOYEES ARE OUR GREATEST ASSET
Turkish Airlines, as the national flag carrier of 
Turkey, aims to provide a superior career experience 
for all employees. Today, Turkish Airlines is a 
giant, multi-cultural family and a major economic 
power with workforce of 50 thousand people, 
including nearly 26,000 people employed by 
our 16 subsidiaries. Our family goes beyond just 
offering just employment opportunities; we are now 
considered a competent academy for employee 
development. With an organizational structure that 
supports and encourages continuous development, 
we not only offer employment to thousands of 
people but also provide great opportunities for our 
employees who are looking for a career in aviation 
industry through our leadership programs such as 
“Leaders of Tomorrow”. Our efforts in this regard 
were crowned with a major award in 2015. Turkish 
Aviation Academy was recognized as the first 
official Corporate University in Turkey by the Global 
Council of Corporate Universities in 2015.

DEAR STAKEHOLDERS,
Behind these successful results we achieved 
in 2015, as outlined above, lies a set of 
fundamental principles that constantly guide 
us. As representatives of Turkish nation, we are 
well aware that we should treat our passengers 
as if we would treat a guest in your own home 
and demonstrate them Turkish hospitality with 
delightfully distinctive services. Turkish Airlines, 
Turkey’s most valuable brand and pioneer of many 
innovations in the industry, will continue to raise the 
bar even higher each day.

These achievements represent important gains for 
not only Turkish Airlines but also all of our business 
partners. Combined with right strategies, our 
strengths that differentiate us from other industry 
actors such as extensive flight network, low-cost 
structure and the advantageous geographical 
location of Istanbul as a natural hub turned into a 
tremendous asset for the Company. The mutual 
progress we have achieved with our stakeholders 
continued steadily with new collaborations and 
partnerships throughout the year.

55.8% International

1.0% Charter

42.5% Domestic

0.7% Hajj-Umrah

TOTAL PASSENGER VOLUME
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To speak specifically for the next year, we aim to 
increase the total number of our aircraft to 339 
consisting of 240 narrow-body, 87 wide-body and 
12 cargo aircraft by the end of 2016. We expect our 
load factor to hit at 78% for the year, and we want 
to achieve an ASK of 186 billion with a total increase 
of 21% in our capacity. If we take a closer look by 
region; we aim to enhance our capacity by 11% in 
Turkey, 31% in America, 27% in Africa, 23% in the 
Far East, 17% in Europe and 17% in the Middle East. 
This year, we aim to carry 72.4 million passengers 
in total, with 30.6 million passengers on scheduled 
domestic flights, 40.8 million passengers on 
scheduled international flights, including chartered 
and hajj-umrah flights, and obtain approximately 
US$ 12.2 billion sales revenue as a result of these 
operations.

As the airline that flies to the most countries 
worldwide, Turkish Airlines aims to maintain its 
position among top-ranking airlines of the world 
with capacity increases particularly in long-haul 
operations through investments in wide-body fleet, 
and increase in the number of transfer passengers 
with the launch of new routes. We also aim to 
raise our unit revenue by enhancing service quality, 
increasing Business Class passenger revenues and 
expanding cargo operations.

Today, along with our subsidiaries, Turkish Airlines 
employs approximately 50 thousand people and is 
the largest exporter in Turkey with an export figure 
of over US$ 7 billion; and as the greatest global 
brand of Turkey, we continue to grow steadily to 
turn Istanbul into a global aviation hub.

We became a prominent actor in the global aviation 
industry with the ongoing support and trust of our 
colleagues, business partners and stakeholders 
that we always appreciate. I would like to express 
my sincere gratitude to all of our stakeholders 
and look forward to sharing with you even greater 
accomplishments in the future.

M. İLKER AYCI
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

M. İLKER AYCI
Chairman of the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Committee
Born in 1971 in Istanbul, M. İlker Aycı graduated 
from Political Science and Public Administration 
Department of Bilkent University in 1994, and 
served as a researcher at the Department of 
Political Sciences at Leeds University in the 
UK in 1995 before he received his Masters 
Degree in International Relations (English) at 
Marmara University in 1997. Starting his career 
in 1994, he hold a variety of positions at Kurtsan 
İlaçlar A.Ş., Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality, 
and Universal Dış Ticaret A.Ş., respectively. He 
served as General Manager at Başak Sigorta 
A.Ş. between 2005 and 2006, and at Güneş 
Sigorta A.Ş. from 2006 to 2011, after which 
he served as the Chairman of the Investment 
Support and Promotion Agency of Turkey from 
2011 to 2015, and as the Vice President and 
later on the Chairman, of the World Association 
of Investment Promotion Agencies from 2013 
to 2015. He has been serving as the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Committee of Turkish Airlines since April 2015. Mr. 
Aycı also holds several roles as a Board Member 
and/or Chairman in several organizations, 
including of the Insurance Association of Turkey, 
Turkish-Chinese Business Council of the Foreign 
Economic Relations Board, Vakıf Emeklilik A.Ş., 
and VakıfBank Güneş Sigorta Sports Club (2008 
Europe Challenge Cup Champion). He speaks 
English and Russian.
 
E-mail: iayci@thy.com

TEMEL KOTİL, PHD
CEO, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Committee
Born in 1959 in Rize, Mr. Kotil graduated from the 
Aeronautical Engineering Department of Istanbul 
Technical University (ITU) in 1983. In 1986, he 
received his first Master’s degree in Aircraft 
Engineering Department of Michigan University in 
Ann Arbor, USA, which was followed by his second 
Master’s degree in Mechanical Engineering in 1987, 
and Doctorate degree in Mechanical Engineering 
in 1991, at the same university. From 1991 to 1993, 
Kotil established and managed the Aviation and 
Advanced Composite Laboratories at the Faculty 
of Aeronautics and Astronautics of ITU, where he 
also served as Assistant Professor and Associate 
Professor, later on as Head of Department and 
eventually as Vice-Dean of the same faculty from 
1993 to 1994. Mr. Kotil also served as Head of the 
Research, Planning and Coordination Department 
of the Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality, after 
which he served as a Guest Professor at Illinois 
University in 2001, and then as Head of Research 
and Engineering Department of AIT Inc. in New 
York. In 2003, he began his career at Turkish 
Airlines as Chief Technical Officer and he was 
appointed as CEO of Turkish Airlines in 2005. In 
2006, he was elected to serve as a Member of 
IATA Board of Directors. In 2010, he was appointed 
as a Board Member of the Association of European 
Airlines (AEA), and as Vice Chairman between 2012 
and 2013, and as Chairman in 2014. Mr. Kotil is 
married with four children, and has authored many 
articles and publications. 

E-mail: tkotil@thy.com

İSMAİL CENK DİLBEROĞLU
Member of the Board and the Executive 
Committee
Born in 1975 in Istanbul, İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu 
graduated from Faculty of Law, Marmara 
University. From 1999 to 2003, he worked as 
a private lawyer in his own office. Since 2003, 
he has practiced law as business and legal 
consultant in commercial law, corporate law, tax 
law, execution and bankruptcy law, at “Kollektif 
Hukuk Bürosu”, a law partnership. In 1999, he 
was appointed as a member of the Board of 
Trustees of Ensar Foundation, where he served 
as Vice Chairman until 2011. Currently, he serves 
as Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the 
same foundation. He is married with three 
children.

E-mail: idilberoglu@thy.com
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İSMAİL GERÇEK
Member of the Board
Born in Çanakkale, Çan in 1963, Mr. Gerçek 
graduated from Public Administration Department 
of Political Sciences Faculty, Ankara University 
in 1985. Between 1992 and 1994, he studied 
economics and received his MA degree in money 
& banking in the USA. He is currently pursuing 
his Ph.D. in Financial Law at Istanbul University. 
He began his careers as an Assistant Inspector 
at the Inspection Board of the Ministry of Finance 
in 1985 and served as a Finance Inspector and 
Finance Inspector General until 1998. From 1995 
to 1997, he deputized for Assistant Treasurer 
in Istanbul. He also served as a Member of 
the Audit Committee in several organizations 
including Tekel and Joint Funds Bank. Currently 
pursuing his career as a Chartered Accountant 
and Independent Auditor, Mr. Gerçek serves 
as the Chairman of the Board of Trustees at 
Fatih Sultan Mehmet Foundation University and 
Participation Banks Association of Turkey.
 
E-mail: igercek@thy.com

PROF. DR. MECİT EŞ 
Member of the Board
Born in 1953 in Samsun, Mr. Eş received his 
degree from the School of Economics, Istanbul 
University in 1974. After holding several offices, 
he pursued his academic studies at Anadolu 
University and received his Ph.D in 1985 and 
became an Associate Professor in 1990 and a full 
Professor in 1996. From 1992 to 2012, he served 
as a Faculty Member at Department of Public 
Finance, Faculty of Economics and Administrative 
Sciences, Dumlupınar University, and currently 
he continues his academic career as a Professor 
at Faculty of Commercial Sciences, Istanbul 
Commerce University. He has published many 
books and articles in his field, and is married with 
three children.

E-mail: mes@thy.com

MEHMET BÜYÜKEKŞİ 
Member of the Board
Born in 1961 in Gaziantep, Mr. Büyükekşi 
graduated from Faculty of Architecture, Yıldız 
Technical University in 1984. He attended 
Business Administration courses at Marmara 
University as well as Business Administration 
and English courses in the UK in 1988. Currently 
he serves as President of the Turkish Exporters’ 
Assembly (TİM), Council Member of Istanbul 
Chamber of Industry (ISO) as well as Member 
of the Board of Directors of Türk Eximbank, 
Turkish Airlines, Istanbul Development Agency 
(İKA), Istanbul Leather and Leather Products 
Exporters’ Association (IDMIB), and Ziylan Group. 
He also serves as Vice President and Executive 
Committee Member of Foreign Economic 
Relations Board (DEIK). He previously served as 
a Member of the Board of the Turkish Leather 
Foundation (TURDEV), TOBB-BİS Organize Sanayi 
ve Teknoloji Bölgeleri A.Ş., TOBTİM Uluslararası 
Ticaret Merkezi A.Ş., Turkish Do&Co, and Energy 
Efficiency Association (ENVERDER), as well 
as President of the Association of Turkish 
Footwear Manufacturers (AYSAD) and Executive 
Committee Member of B20 Turkey. He also 
served as President of the Istanbul Leather 
and Leather Products Exporters’ Association 
(IDMIB) from 2000 to 2006, and as Founding 
President of Turkish Footwear Industry Research, 
Development and Education Foundation (TASEV) 
from 1997 to 2008. He is married with three 
children and speaks English fluently. 
 
E-mail: mbuyukeksi@thy.com
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

OGÜN ŞANLIER
Independent Member of the Board
Born in 1974 in İzmit Ogün Şanlıer graduated from 
Department of Public Administration (French), 
Faculty of Economics and Administrative 
Sciences, Marmara University in 1999, where 
he also attended Political Science and Public 
Administration Post Graduate program in French. 
He served as North Africa Regional Manager at 
Anadolu Isuzu Otomotiv San. Tic. A.Ş. from 1999 
to 2001, and as Export Manager at Feniş Holding, 
Feniş Dış Ticaret A.Ş. from 2002 to 2007. He also 
held managerial positions at Istanbul Metropolitan 
Municipality between 2007 and 2013; and 
currently, he serves as the founding Chairman of 
İstanbul Medya Akademisi A.Ş. He speaks French, 
English, German and is married with two children.

E-mail: osanlier@thy.com

MUZAFFER AKPINAR
Independent Member of the Board
Born in 1962, Mr. Akpınar graduated from 
St. Michael’s High School and Faculty of 
Administrative Sciences, Boğaziçi University. His 
started his professional career as the founding 
partner of Penta Textile in 1986 and was 
appointed as CEO of KVK Mobil Telefon Hizmetleri 
A.Ş. in 1993. Subsequently, he served as the CEO 
of MV Holding A.Ş. and played an active role in 
the incorporation of Fintur Holding BV. Mr. Akpınar 
then served as the CEO of Turkcell from January 
1st 2002 to July 2006. As an entrepreneur and 
investor, he continues to pursue several projects 
in the fields of renewable energy, technology, 
chemicals and construction. He is married with 
two children. 
 
E-mail: muzafferakpinar@thy.com

ARZU AKALIN
Independent Member of the Board
Born in 1973, in Germany, Ms. Akalın completed 
part of her education in Germany and attended 
Istanbul Vefa Poyraz High School. She graduated 
with a First from Faculty of Law, Istanbul 
University. After receiving her Bachelor’s degree, 
she attended post-graduate program in Public 
Law at Istanbul University in 1995. Akalın started 
her professional career in 1997 and served 
as a company officer in brand and patent law 
at a private company for 11 years before she 
started her own law office in 2010. Specialized 
in Commercial Law and industrial rights, in 
particular, Akalın also works as Patent and 
Trademark Attorney. She has a native proficiency 
in German. Currently, she pursues her Ph.D 
in law at Bremen University, Germany and 
also serves as President of Turkish Youth and 
Education Service Foundation (TÜRGEV).

E-mail: arzu.akalin@thy.com
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MISSION AND VISION

MISSION
 ↗ To improve the Company’s position as a 

global air carrier by expanding the global 
reach of its long-range flight network,

 ↗ To improve the Company’s position as 
a technical maintenance provider by 
developing its technical maintenance unit 
into a major regional base,

 ↗ To improve the Company’s position as a 
service provider in all strategic areas of civil 
aviation, including ground handling services 
and flight training,

 ↗ To maintain the Company’s leading position 
in domestic airline industry,

 ↗ To provide an uninterrupted and superior 
flight service by entering into a collaborative 
agreement with a global airline alliance 
that complements the Company’s network 
so as to improve our corporate image and 
marketing abilities globally,

 ↗ To make Istanbul a significant hub in 
aviation industry,

 ↗ To become the preferred leading European 
air carrier with a global network of coverage 
thanks to our strict compliance with flight 
safety, reliability, product line, service quality 
and competitiveness, whilst maintaining our 
identity as the flag carrier of the Republic of 
Turkey in Civil Air Transportation Industry.

VISION
To become an air carrier with;

 ↗ A continued growth trend over industry 
average,

 ↗ Continuous improvement in operational 
safety, and operational excellence,

 ↗ The most envied service levels worldwide
 ↗ Unit costs equating with low cost carriers,
 ↗ Sales and distribution costs below industry 

averages,
 ↗ Loyal customers who manage their 

own reservation, ticketing, and boarding 
formalities themselves,

 ↗ Personnel constantly developing their 
qualifications with an awareness of the 
close relationship between the benefits for 
the Company and the added value that they 
contribute,

 ↗ A sense of entrepreneurship that creates 
business opportunities for fellow members 
in Star Alliance and takes advantage of the 
business potential provided by them

 ↗ A management team well adapted to 
modern governance principles by observing 
the best interests of not only shareholders 
but also stakeholders.



TURKISH AIRLINES ANNUAL REPORT 201518

Today, Turkish Airlines ranks among the best-loved airline brands of the world 
thanks to our extensive flight network and high-quality service. Our Company 
increased brand awareness through ad campaigns involving world-famous 
celebrity faces and advantageous flight promotions, which not only increase 
the loyalty of our existing customer base but also make it easier to reach 
our target passengers. Turkish Airlines also reinforces its brand awareness 
through the sponsorship agreements signed with various popular sports 
teams and players worldwide. Most recently, Turkish Airlines has attracted 
attentions with the announcement of its official sponsorship for EURO 2016, 
which is scheduled for June 10 and July 10, 2016. The Company aims to 
further increase its brand recognition, awareness and value with existing and 
future projects and sponsorships in the coming period.

Brand Awareness & Attractiveness

Turkish Airlines, extending its flight network under the motto “Widen Your 
World”, manages its flight network by accurately analyzing passenger demand 
from various destinations. As of year-end 2015, Turkish Airlines expanded 
its flight network to 287 destinations in 113 countries, compared to its flight 
network of 264 destinations in 108 countries in 2014. As the air carrier that 
files to the most international destinations worldwide, Turkish Airlines also has 
the fourth largest flight network in the world. The Company also provides the 
most extensive connection network for passengers in Africa and the Middle 
East regions. We owe the competitive strength of our flight network to our 
young and powerful fleet. Turkish Airlines increased the number of aircraft 
at its fleet to 299, lowering the average fleet age to 7.0 by the end of 2015, 
compared to its fleet of 261 aircraft with an average age of 7.2 in 2014. We aim 
to continue this strong growth and have a fleet of 500 aircraft by 2023. With 
the introduction of the new airport in the coming years, our Company aims to 
remain one of the most preferred airlines that flies to the most destinations 
worldwide, leveraging on the geographical advantage of our main hub in 
Istanbul and our strong fleet structure to increase both direct and transit 
passenger potential.

Sustainable Growth and Profitability

STRATEGIES



MORE LANGUAGES
As the airline that flies to the 
most countries around the world, 
Turkish Airlines continues its 
initiatives to speak the same 
language as its passengers. 
Turkish Airlines now reaching 
offer of service in 8 languages 
at its Transfer Desks at the 
Atatürk Airport, is moving toward 
collaboration with universities 
to increase the number of cabin 
crew members who can speak 
different languages.



CHAUFFEUR-DRIVEN 
TRANSFERS   

Turkish Airlines continues to develop 
different projects for its 

Business Class guests. Currently, 
studies are continuing to offer 

chauffeur-driven transfer service for 
Business Class passengers. This 

special service is planned to be 
offered at departure and 

arrival airports.
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At Turkish Airlines, we care about our employees just as much as we care 
about our customers, and try to demonstrate our appreciation with the work 
environment, social opportunities, and career opportunities we offer. Our 
Company follows a friendly service policy at every phase of our service, and 
is well aware happiness, efficiency and loyalty of employees is of paramount 
important in this policy. To that end, we offer a pleasant working environment 
with surprises activities to increase employee satisfaction and motivation. 
The Company also offers various training opportunities to help employees 
gain benefits that will both support their careers and contribute to our brand 
awareness. Turkish Airlines will continue to implement new policies to enhance 
employee efficiency and engagement in the upcoming years.

The largest companies in the past focused on their products, pushing their 
customers, who preferred them, into the background. Today, on the other 
hand, the most successful companies grow by defining customer-oriented 
strategies instead of being product-oriented. Customer focus is of paramount 
importance in airline industry; therefore airlines rely on emerging technologies 
and changing regulations in order to meet customer expectations in the best 
manner. And the key to customer satisfaction is correct analysis of customer 
identity. Well aware of this fact, our Company builds its strategy by taking 
customer sensitivity on issues such as price, timing, and service quality into 
consideration. Turkish Airlines believes that each stage of service should be 
designed with customer satisfaction in mind. As such, the Company offers 
a variety of choices before and during the flight, along with our friendly 
and welcoming crew members. Turkish Airlines aims to offer a wide range 
of services to satisfy passengers at every stage of their flight experience, 
including time-saving preflight procedures such as check-in services via a 
user-friendly website and easy-to-use kiosks at airports; various in-flight service 
concepts such as in-flight entertainment options, special occasion celebration 
surprises, and sleep collections that promise home comfort in the skies; and 
excellent post-flight services at our lounges for transfer passengers to feel 
at home while waiting for their connection flights. Many of our recognitions 
and awards including “Airline of the Year Award” (CAPA, 2013), “Airline Market 
Leadership Award” (ATW, 2011), “Best Airline in Europe” (five years in a row) 
(Skytrax, 2015), “World’s Best Business Class Airline Catering” and “Best 
Business Class Lounge Dining” represent the outcomes of the ideas generated 
to make customers feel special. With our new motto “Touching Hearts”, Turkish 
Airlines announced its focus on winning people and touching hearts in 2016, 
analyzing all customer contact points and developing projects for improvement 
of our front-line service.

Creating Value for EmployeesCustomer Focus
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AFFILIATES AND SUBSIDIARIES

Turkish Airlines 
has a total of 
13 subsidiaries: 
3 wholly-owned and 
10 joint ventures.

Turkish Airlines continues to strengthen its global 
brand identity with its qualified and experienced 
staff and group companies in order to become a 
leader in the aviation industry.

The Company has 13 subsidiaries in total, of 
which 3 are wholly-owned subsidiaries and 10 
are joint ventures.

Our subsidiaries and affiliates help us lower 
our costs and enhance flexibility, quality and 
efficiency in our operations, thereby, increasing 
our competitive strength and effectiveness in 
aviation industry.

Turkish Airlines’ subsidiaries contribute to 
development of both air transportation and 
Turkish aviation industry; and they have also 
become profit centers with the services they 
offer to other customers in the industry and 
started to contribute positively to consolidated 
profitability and shareholder value creation.

As of 2015, Turkish Airlines and its group 
companies grew into a big family with over 
45,000 employees and will continue to create 
considerable employment opportunities for our 
country in the future.
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5,646

950 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Maintenance, repair, and technical 
support services to more than 100 
domestic and international airlines, 
besides Turkish Airlines.

TURKISH TECHNIC INC.
Established in 2006 as wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Turkish Airlines and merged 
with Turkish HABOM in 2015, Turkish 
Technic aims to become a prominent 
technical maintenance base for regional 
air transport industry with its nearly 
5,700 employees and subsidiaries. 
To that end, the Company continues 
operations to provide maintenance and 
repair services as well as a full range of 
technical and infrastructure support for 
the aviation industry.

3,504

1,226 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Market leader in charter flights 
between Germany and Turkey.

SUN EXPRESS 
SunExpress was incorporated in 1989 
as a joint venture by Turkish Airlines and 
Lufthansa as equal partners.

The Company inaugurated its first flight 
in1990, and after serving the charter 
market for many years, it launched 
international flights between Antalya-
Frankfurt in 2001, becoming Turkey’s 
first privately-owned air carrier to operate 
international scheduled flights. Along 
with Sun Express Germany, which was 
established in 2011 in Frankfurt, Sun 
Express serves with a fleet of 68 aircraft 
and over 3,500 employees as of 2015. In 
addition, Sun Express Turkey’s 25 aircraft 
are utilized for Anadolu Jet operations as 
at year-end 2015.

426

1,825 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Jet fuel storage and supply 
services at Istanbul Atatürk Airport 
and other domestic airports.

TURKISH OPET AVIATION FUELS
Turkish Opet Aviation Fuels was 
established in 2009 as a joint venture 
between Turkish Airlines and OPET 
Petrolcülük A.Ş as equal partners, and 
commenced operations on July 1st, 2010. 

Today, the Company has the largest 
integrated jet fuel facility in Turkey 
and has fuel servicing capability at all 
domestic airports across Turkey. In 2015, 
the Company maintained its market 
leader position with jet fuel sales of over 
4 million cubic meters.
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AFFILIATES AND SUBSIDIARIES

9,654

257 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Ground handling services at 8 
airports around Turkey, with 
Istanbul Atatürk Airport at the 
fore. 

TURKISH GROUND SERVICES
Established in 2009 as a joint venture of 
Turkish Airlines and HAVAŞ Havaalanları 
Yer Hizmetleri A.Ş.as equal partners, 
Turkish Ground Services (TGS) has been 
active since early 2010. 

TGS provides ground handling services to 
many domestic and international airlines, 
principally including Turkish Airlines and 
Sun Express at Istanbul Atatürk, İstanbul 
Sabiha Gökçen, Ankara Esenboğa, İzmir 
Adnan Menderes, Antalya, Adana, Bodrum 
and Dalaman Airports. With a workforce 
of nearly 10,000 employees, the 
company has provided ground services 
to nearly 650 thousand flights and over 
88 million passengers at international 
standards. 

5,111

377 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Catering services to more than 60 
domestic and international airlines, 
including Turkish Airlines.

TURKISH DO & CO
Turkish DO&CO was established as 
a joint venture of Turkish Airlines and 
DO&CO Restaurants & Catering AG with 
equal shares.

Headquartered at Istanbul Atatürk Airport, 
the Company provides catering services 
to domestic and international airlines 
with nine gourmet kitchens operating at 
nine stations in Turkey. Nearly 190,000 
meals, each prepared carefully by Turkish 
DO&CO’s culinary staff, are served daily 
at the company’s kitchens. Turkish 
Do&Co has significantly improved the 
quality of catering service offered by 
Turkish Airlines on board, bringing many 
international awards to our Company.

268

240 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Engine maintenance, repair, and 
overhaul services to customers in 
Turkey and around the region.

TURKISH ENGINE CENTER (TEC)
Turkish Engine Center was established in 
2008 as a joint venture of Turkish Airlines 
and United Technologies, holding %49 
and %51 of the shares, respectively.

With a high-tech, environmentally-friendly 
maintenance center located on an area 
of around 25,000 sqm at Istanbul Sabiha 
Gökçen International Airport, TEC has 
the capacity to offer full maintenance 
services to nearly 200 aircraft annually.
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31

10 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Nacelle and thrust reverser 
maintenance and repair services 
at international standards in its 
HABOM facilities.

GOODRICH TURKISH TECHNIC 
SERVICE CENTER 
Established in 2010, Goodrich Turkish 
Technical Service Center is a 40%-60% 
joint venture of Turkish Technic and TSA-
Rina Holdings, a subsidiary of Goodrich 
Incorporation, respectively. 

Providing maintenance and repair 
services to Turkish Airlines and other 
international airline companies at 
international standards, Goodrich Turkish 
Technical Service Center aims to become 
an important actor in the industry.

153

9 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Production of cabin interior 
systems for Turkish Airlines’ 
needs in particular.

TURKISH CABIN INTERIOR SYSTEMS
Turkish Cabin Interior Systems (TCI) was 
established in 2011 as a joint venture 
by Turkish Airlines, Turkish Technic and 
TUSAS, with 30%, 20% and 50% of 
the shares, respective. TCI undertakes 
design and production of cabin interior 
products and components, as well 
as logistics support, modification and 
marketing services. Through R&D studies, 
TCI achieved a weight reduction of 91 
kilograms in Boeing 737 galleys produced 
for Turkish Airlines and was approved 
to enter Boeing’s “Approved Suppliers 
List” globally for B-737s, increasing its 
marketing operations for third-party 
customers. The company also completed 
production of five shipset galleys for 
Airbus 330s at Turkish Airlines fleet, and 
negotiations are ongoing for entering the 
“Approved Suppliers List” for A330.

40

7 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Seat design and production as 
well as spare parts manufacture, 
modification, marketing, and sales 
services, since late 2013.

TSI AVIATION SEATS 
TSI Aviation Seats was incorporated in 
2011 by Turkish Airlines, Turkish Technic 
and Assan Hanil Group, with 50%, 45% 
and 5% of the shares, respectively. 

Established as a partnership with Assan 
Hanil Group, the leading brand in vehicle 
seats in Turkey, the company delivered 
assembly of the first set of passenger 
seats produced for Turkish Airlines’ 
aircraft in early 2014. The Company 
aims to design and manufacture airline 
seats, and offer spare part manufacture, 
modification and sales services to 
national and international air carriers in 
the future.
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10

1 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ A joint venture based on know-
how, international experience, 
expert technical employees, and a 
strong brand identity.  

TURKBINE GAS TURBINES
Turkbine Gas Turbines was established in 
2011 as a 50/50 joint venture by Turkish 
Technic and Zorlu O&M Enerji Tesisleri 
İşletme ve Bakım Hizmetleri A.Ş. 

The Company aims to undertake 
contracts for maintenance, repair, and 
overhaul services for CF-6 engines that 
are beyond the scope of activity of 
existing subsidiaries, as well as industrial 
gas turbines used at power plants. 

12

1 million
US dollars

Employees

Revenues 

 ↗ Major runway, taxiway and hangar 
investments at Aydın Çıldır Airport 
to accommodate Turkish Airlines’ 
flying training.

AYDIN ÇILDIR AIRPORT SERVICES
Aydın Çıldır Airport Services was 
established in 2012 as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Turkish Airlines to operate 
Aydın Çıldır Airport, provide aviation 
training, organize sports and training 
flights, and conduct all activities for 
passenger transportation with the aircraft 
types appropriate to its runway length. 

The company made major runway, 
taxiway and hangar investments in Aydın 
Çıldır Airport to accommodate Turkish 
Airlines’ flying training. The Company will 
make significant contributions to Turkish 
Airlines and the aviation industry by 
meeting the current pilot shortfall in the 
future.

11Employees

 ↗ Intermediation services for return 
of the VAT paid for the goods 
bought in Turkey by  
non-residents.

VERGİ İADE ARACILIK A.Ş.
Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. was established 
in September 2014 by Turkish Airlines, 
Maslak Otomotiv Sanayi A.Ş., and VK 
Holding A.Ş., with 30%, 25%, and 45% 
stakes, respectively. 

The company offers tax mediation 
services for return of the value added tax 
paid by non-residents for the goods they 
have purchased in Turkey and will take 
abroad with them, before they leave the 
country. 

AFFILIATES AND SUBSIDIARIES
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TOTAL TRAFFIC

Total Traffic Figures 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Revenue Passengers (000) 61,248 54,675 48,268 39,045 32,649

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 153,209 135,330 116,433 96,124 81,193

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 119,372 106,787 91,997 74,410 58,933

Load Factor (%) 77.9 78.9 79.0 77.4 72.6

Destination 287 264 245 219 196

Landings 462,767 422,521 377,400 308,384 270,618

Distance Flown - km (000) 864,586 792,438 690,572 542,339 419,113

Cargo + Mail (ton) 720,440 667,743 565,391 470,863 387,838

Excess Baggage (ton) 7,601 7,925 6,231 3,683 4,170

INTERNATIONAL

International Traffic Figures 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Revenue Passengers (000) 34,944 31,967 28,215 23,139 18,160

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 133,594 117,773 101,000 84,112 70,029

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 103,001 92,539 79,696 64,945 50,349

Load Factor (%) 77.1 78.6 78.9 77.2 71.9

Destination 236 219 202 182 152

Landings 271,267 250,214 220,037 179,843 149,941

Distance Flown - km (000) 746,796 684,442 592,911 464,772 348,356

Cargo + Mail (ton) 668,189 616,124 517,848 437,163 350,398

Excess Baggage (ton) 4,772 4,986 4,040 2,162 2,291

DOMESTIC

Domestic Traffic Figures 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Revenue Passengers (000) 26,304 22,708 20,053 15,906 14,488

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 19,615 17,557 15,433 12,012 11,164

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 16,370 14,248 12,301 9,465 8,584

Load Factor (%) 83.5 81.2 79.7 78.8 76.9

Destination 51 45 43 37 44

Landings 191,500 172,307 157,363 128,541 120,677

Distance Flown - km (000) 117,791 107,996 97,660 77,567 70,757

Cargo + Mail (ton) 52,251 51,619 47,543 40,100 37,440

Excess Baggage (ton) 2,828 2,939 2,191 1,521 1,879

Domestic Revenue 
Passengers 
(000) 26,304

Total Passengers 
(000) 61,248

Domestic 
Passenger 
Load Factor 83.5%

International 
Passenger 
Load Factor 77.1%

International Revenue 
Passengers 
(000) 34,944

TRAFFIC FIGURES

Turkish Airlines’ total 
number of passengers 
for the period 
between January-
December 2015 
increased by 12.0% 
year over year to 61.2 
million, compared to 
54.7 million in 2014.

2015

Load Factor 77.9%
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Total number of our passengers for the period 
between January-December 2015 increased by 
12.0% year over year to 61.2 million, compared 
to 54.7 million in 2014. The rate of increase 
was 15.8% for domestic routes, and 9.3% 
for international routes. Number of Business 
passengers rose by 9.2% while a 18.1% increase 
was achieved in the number of International-to-
International Transfer Passengers. Passenger 
load factor declined by 1 percentage point. For 
the period between January-December 2015, 
Total Available Seat Kilometers (AKK) increased 
by 13.2% year over year to 153.2 billion from 
135.3 billion in 2014. ASK increase was 11.7% for 
domestic lines, and 13.4% for international lines. 
Total Revenue Kilometers (RPK) increased by 
11.8% year over year to 119.4 billion for the period 
between January-December 2015, compared 
to 106.8 billion in 2014. RPK increase was 14.9% 
and 11.3% for domestic and international flights, 
respectively. Number of landings between 
January - December 2015 rose by 9.5% year 
over year to 462.767 from 422.521 in 2014; whilst 
the number of destinations rose to 287 from 
264. Cargo-Mail volume for the period between 
January - December 2015 grew by 7.9% year 
over year to 720.440 tons, compared to 667.743 
tons in 2014.

REVENUE PASSENGERS
(THOUSAND)
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Total Available Seat Kilometers (ASK) 
increased by 13.2% to 153.2 billion in 2015.
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FLEET AGE 7
Turkish Airlines continues to reinforce its 
strengths every day, and expands and 
modernizes its fleet, moving forward towards 
having the youngest and most modern fleet 
in Europe. As of year-end 2015, the Company 
reduced average fleet age to 7.0.

As a consequence of long-term fleet projections, 
20 B777-300ER and 20 A330-300 aircraft 
were ordered in 2012; and along with the 
delivery of these aircraft, launch of new routes 
and increased frequency on existing routes 
accelerated the growth on long-haul flights.

15 of A330-300s and 11 of B777-300ERs were 
delivered of end-2015. The rest of the A330-300s 
are expected to be delivered by the end of 2016, 
and B777-300ERs before summer of 2017.

Established in 1933 with a fleet of five aircraft, 
Turkish Airlines extended and renewed its 
fleet through investments and breakthroughs, 
especially in the 2000s. 

Turkish Airlines, the airline that flies to the most 
countries around the world with the fourth 
largest flight network worldwide, now ranks 13th 
among the largest global air carriers by fleet 
size with a fleet of 299 aircraft as of year-end 
2015. The Company’s fleet, consisting of only 65 
aircraft as of early 2004, achieved a remarkable 
growth rate of 360% within a fairly short time. 

Considering costs analyses, the Company 
acquires new fuel-saving, eco-friendly aircraft 
equipped with state-of-the-art technology 
with passenger comfort and safety in mind to 
accommodate growing passenger traffic and 
meet changing customer needs, taking important 
steps towards strengthening Turkish Airlines 
brand.

In addition to wide-body aircraft, 117 narrow-body 
Airbus aircraft were ordered in 2013, among 
which 13 of the 25 A321s were delivered in 
2015. The delivery of the remaining 12 aircraft is 
scheduled to early 2017.

Besides, six B737-800s were leased for use 
of AnadoluJet fleet on domestic routes. Also, 
3 E190s and 3 E195s were wet-leased for 
AnadoluJet fleet to increase efficiency of 
operations on domestic routes with lower 
passenger demand.

As per the Company’s decision to remove three 
A340-300s from the fleet in order to have a 
young and modern fleet structure, two A340-
300s, which were launched in 1993 were retired 
in 2014, while the third one was phased out in 
2015.
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The Company updates fleet projections at 
the end of each year within the framework of 
corporate strategies for exploiting opportunities, 
risk management, sustainability, dynamic 
capacity planning, expansion of flight network 
and increased frequency.

During the year, aircraft numbers are revised 
against aircraft deliveries in order to establish the 
number of aircraft needed to meet demand and 
fleet modernization needs; and interim solutions 
are also implemented in line with market 
conditions, such as use of leased aircraft which 
would not increase average fleet age or damage 
the integrity of the fleet.

15% FUEL SAVING
Accordingly, 15 options for 2018 and 2019 
obtained with the order placed on Airbus in 2013 
for 117 narrow-body aircraft as well as the 15 
options for 2020 obtained with the order placed 
on Boeing for 95 narrow-body aircraft were 
turned into firm orders.

In addition to the wide-body orders placed on 
Boeing and Airbus for long-haul flights, five A330-
200s and one A330-300 wide body aircraft were 
leased, gaining an advantage by increasing the 
available seat numbers on short- and medium-
haul routes with intense passenger demand 
where frequency increase is not possible due to 
slot restrictions.

With the delivery of current narrow-body and 
wide-body aircraft orders, the Company will 
achieve almost 15% saving in fuel consumption 
compared to the existing fleet. The new aircraft 
will also allow the Company reach more long-haul 
destinations, which will lead to improved flight 
network and passenger volume.
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FLIGHT NETWORK

SOUTH 
AMERICA

2

 ↗ NORTH AMERICA

ASK Variation 24.1%

RSK Variation 21.2%

Passenger Volume Variation 19.6%

 ↗ EUROPE

ASK Variation 10.9%

RSK Variation 8.5%

Passenger Volume Variation 9.7%

 ↗ SOUTH AMERICA

ASK Variation 13.1%

RSK Variation 13.3%

Passenger Volume Variation 0.2%
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NORTH 
AMERICA

10



MASTERCHEF 
FLAVORS 
Turkish Airlines continues its 
steady rise especially in catering 
services in the recent years. 
To provide its passengers with 
restaurant experience and taste 
on top of the clouds, offering 
different and rich catering, the 
flying chefs at Turkish Airlines 
are gaining the appreciation of 
the passengers. 



MORE DESTINATONS 
IN AFRICA  

Turkish Airlines flying to 
4 destinations in Africa in the past, 

currently flies to 48 destinations 
in 31 countries. Having inaugurated 

flights to Madagascar and 
Mauritius by late 2015, 

Turkish Airlines sells 10 thousand 
tickets per day in Africa.



 ↗ AFRICA

ASK Variation 13.7%

RSK Variation 7.1%

Passenger Volume Variation 3.6%

 ↗ FAR EAST

ASK Variation 14.5%

RSK Variation 13.5%

Passenger Volume Variation 10.2%

 ↗ MIDDLE EAST

ASK Variation 12.3%

RSK Variation 11.5%

Passenger Volume Variation 13.7%

AFRICA 
48

EUROPE
108

TURKEY 
51

MIDDLE 
EAST 
34

FAR 
EAST 
34
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FLIGHT NETWORK

Turkish Airlines, the airline company that flies to 
most countries around the world, continued to 
widen passengers’ world also in 2015 with the 
addition of 23 new flight destinations and five 
countries to its existing flight network.

Turkish Airlines customers started to explore 
Bari, Baden-Baden, Graz, Porto and Zaporozhe in 
Europe; San Francisco and Miami in the United 
States; Ahvaz in the Middle East; Abuja, Bamako, 
Maputo, Durban, Mauritius and Antananarivo in 
Africa; Khujand in Asia; and Manila and Taipei 
in the Far East, while enjoying the comfort of 
Turkish Airlines.

With these recently introduced destinations, 
Turkish Airlines now flies to 287 flight 
destinations, in a total of 113 countries. The 
Company connects cities that were previously 
not served by any international flights, to many 
domestic and international destinations, enabling 
passengers to easily reach almost anywhere 
around the world.

In 2015, Turkish Airlines inaugurated flights to 
five new domestic destinations, namely Tokat, 
Ordu-Giresun, Uşak, Hakkari, Kocaeli and Siirt.

Improving service quality while extending the 
flight network is a primary goal for Turkish 
Airlines. Our recognition by Skytrax with the “Best 
Airline in Europe” award for five years in a row is 
a solid indicator of the Company’s commitment in 
this respect.

New Destination 
Launches 23

Number of 
International Routes 236

Total Countries 
Served 113

Number of 
Domestic Routes 51

Total Flight 
Destinations 287

Turkish Airlines 
added 23 new 
flight destinations 
and 5 countries 
to its existing 
flight network, 
continuing to widen 
passengers’ world 
in 2015.

REGIONAL REVENUE DISTRIBUTION (%)

30.7% Europe

20.6% Middle East

14.2% Domestic Routes

14.3% Middle East

12.2% Americas

8.0% Africa

REGIONAL BREAKDOWN OF 
PASSENGER VOLUME (%)

58.4% Europe

14.8% Middle East

13.0% Far East

7.5% Africa

5.5% N. America

0.8% S. America
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 ↗ Turkish Airlines was 
recognized with 4 
different awards in World 
Airline Awards 2015 
The Company received 
awards in “Best Airline in 
Europe”, “Best Airline in 
Southern Europe”, “Best 
Business Class Lounge 
Dining” and “Best 
Business Class Airline 
Catering” categories.

 ↗ Turkish Airlines increased 
its fleet size to 299 with 
the addition of 38 aircraft 
in 2015. The Company’s 
fleet is expected to reach 
338 aircraft by the end 
of 2016. Also in 2015, 
the Company realized a 
13.2% capacity increase, 
predominately in North 
America and the Far East.

Best Airlines in Europe 
for the last 5 years Capacity Increase

4
Continents

113
Countries

61.2
Million Passengers

TURKISH AIRLINES IN 2015

 ↗ Turkish Airlines ranks 
first by passenger 
volume, third by revenue 
passenger kilometers 
(RPK) and third by 
available seat kilometers 
(ASK) with a market 
share of 19.6%, 17% and 
17.6, respectively, among 
the members of the 
Association of European 
Airlines (AEA).

Success in Europe 
Continues
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BEST CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
IN EUROPE 2015

BEST INVESTOR RELATIONS 
IN TURKEY 2015

40% of global international air traffic

196 out of 236 international destinations

60+ capitals

Entire Europe, Middle East, Central 
Asia, North and East Africa

 ↗ Turkish Airlines will continue to grow at its main 
hub at Istanbul Ataturk Airport until new the airport 
is put into operation, by scheduling flights in a way 
that will enable most effective utilization of existing 
airport capacity and adding new routes to its flight 
network. Besides, Turkish Airline will act responsibly 
to ensure the most effective utilization of Atatürk 
Airport’s existing capacity, and promote Sabiha 
Gökçen- and Esenboğa-based operations to support 
its growth. With the new airport, Turkish Airlines 
aims to utilize Istanbul’s geographical advantage 
as a natural hub with a high level of connectivity 
worldwide even more effectively.

Location: Geographical Advantage

Narrow-Body Range from Istanbul
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CARGO

Turkish Cargo, a subsidiary of Turkish Airlines, 
continues to demonstrate a rising growth 
trend since 2000s in parallel with Turkish 
Airlines’ growth and flies to 47 destinations to 
offer worldwide freight service to its business 
partners.

While other airlines and carriers lowered their 
capacity and cut their traffic during the crisis 
period, Turkish Airlines gained capability to 
operate long-haul direct cargo flights with the 
addition of new aircraft to its fleet and began 
providing high-quality freight service to new 
destinations as well as increasing available cargo 
capacity offered to existing freighter destinations.

Turkish Cargo incorporated 7 next-generation 
long-range wide-body Airbus A330- 200F 
freighters and 3 A310 freighters into its fleet.

18.1% INCREASE IN CAPACITY
Turkish Cargo is strengthening its fleet with 
next generation, long range wide-body Boeing 
777 and Airbus A330 passenger aircraft, and 
increased its capacity by 18.1% over the previous 
year. By using the belly cargo capacity of these 
wide-body aircraft, Turkish Cargo gained an 
opportunity to strengthen relationships with 
business partners in many new business 
centers, Asia and USA in particular, and to offer 
increased freight capacity to more destinations 
in the market.

With the inauguration of new destinations in 
Amsterdam, Chicago, Doha, Kinshasa, London 
and Atlanta in 2015, the number of cargo 
destinations increased to 47. Turkish Cargo 

increased its cargo and mail transportation 
volume to 720,000 tons in 2015 from 667,000 
tons in 2014. Sales-based volume in 2015 
reached 466,000 tons with a 6.7% increase over 
the previous year. Turkish Cargo aims to achieve 
14% growth in cargo and mail volume in 2016.

NEW CARGO TERMINAL PUT INTO SERVICE
Turkish Cargo continues its investments at full 
speed. Accordingly, a new cargo terminal, located 
on an operational area of 71,000 sqm and indoor 
facilities of 43.000 sqm with 1.2 million-ton cargo 
processing capacity annually, was put into 
service in 2015 with all functions. With the new 
terminal, the existing capacity of facilities has 
been increased more than twofold.

Turkish Cargo introduced a new software 
replacing the TACTIC system, which had been 
in use since 1990 for cargo operation process 
management. COMIS software, which completely 
went live as of October 2015, is an integrated 
new-generation solution suite designed to handle 
cargo management needs of passenger and 
cargo air carriers, ground handling agents and 
airport operators on a single platform featuring 
cargo sales and reservation, terminal operations, 
mail management and accounting, cargo revenue 
accounting and ULD management modules.

Turkish Cargo aims to turn Istanbul into a 
logistics center with its new cargo facility, 
located on an indoor area of 150,000 thousand 
sqm at the third airport of Istanbul, which is 
currently under construction, and is committed to 
improve its service quality every day to meet the 
need for high quality cargo services.

With the addition 
of new aircraft, 
Turkish Cargo 
gained capability to 
operate long-haul 
direct cargo flights 
and increased 
available cargo 
capacity offered to 
current freighter 
destinations.

201420122011 20152013
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MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

Turkish Technic has seven hangars Istanbul and 
Ankara with a total combined enclosed space of 
576,000 m2, where it provides maintenance and 
repair services for airlines and VIP jet operators.

Approved by EASA, FAA and DGCA for 
maintenance services, Turkish Technic serves 
more than 100 airlines in Europe, the Middle East, 
North Africa and Asia in addition to its primary 
customer, Turkish Airlines.

Turkish Technic provides line and base 
maintenance services for Boeing 737 classic and 
next generation series, Boeing 777, Airbus A320 
series, Airbus A300, Airbus A310, Airbus A330, 
Airbus A340, Gulfstream G-IV, Gulfstream 550, 
Cessna 172, and Diamond DA42.

The Company offers repair and maintenance 
service for landing gears, avionics components, 
hydraulic and pneumatic components, breaking 
systems, tire and rim as well as mechanical 
components used on these aircraft types, 
performing all necessary repair and maintenance 
activities at its own facilities. The Company also 
offers component pool services to over 500 
aircraft. 

With a strong commitment to environmental 
protection and occupational health and safety 
issues, Turkish Technic obtained certification 
for ISO 14001 Environmental Management and 
OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System to document its OHS&E 
practices.

TURKISH TECHNIC AND HABOM 
JOINED FORCES
Boards of Directors of Turkish HABOM and 
Turkish Technic resolved to merge Turkish 
Technic and Turkish HABOM, by transferring all 
shares, assets and liabilities of Turkish HABOM to 
Turkish Technic.

Merger of HABOM with Turkish Technic resulted 
in increased capacity and capabilities while 
transfer of component shops to Turkish 
Technic’s facilities at Sabiha Gökçen from Airport 
of enabled closer cooperation under one roof. 

Turkish Technic has assumed an important 
role in the regional economy and aviation 
industry with a combined workforce reached 
nearly 5,700 employees following the merger 
of Turkish Habom and Turkish Technic, two 
organizations with a large HR base of 2,520 
and 3,831 employees, respectively, as well as 
its increasingly growing capacity and business 
volume.

PART 147 INITIAL TRAINING 
CATEGORY A1 APPROVAL 
In 2015, Turkish Technic obtained Initial Training 
Category A1 approval by EASA and DGCA, adding 
a new one to its existing authorizations under Part 
147 Maintenance Training and Test Organization. 
Currently, Turkish Technic is the only facility in 
Turkey approved by EASA in this field. 

Turkish Technic was also certified by national 
authorities of Ukraine, Nigeria, Cayman Islands, 
Singapore as well as Saudi Arabia (GACA) and 
Morocco (DCA) in 2015.

WIRELESS IN-FLIGHT ENTERTAINMENT 
SYSTEM (SKYFE)
Installation and integration process of the first 
prototype of the Wireless In-flight Entertainment 
System (Wireless IFE-SKYFE), designed and 
developed by Havelsan and Turkish Technic 
jointly during the last two years under a Strategic 
Cooperation Agreement, was completed, and 
in-cabin tests have been finalized. The first 
local In-flight Entertainment System SKYFE, 
will be accessible by passengers’ personal 
electronic devices (including tablets, laptops, and 
smart phones) through iOS, Android, and web 
applications via wireless network connections 
(Wi-Fi).

Turkish Technic’s EASA- and DGCA-approved 
Design Organization created a project for 

Merger of HABOM 
with Turkish 
Technic resulted in 
increased capacity 
and capabilities 
while transfer of 
component shops 
to Sabiha Gökçen 
facilities enabled 
closer cooperation 
under one roof.
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application of SKYFE, jointly developed by 
Turkish Technic’s R&D Center and Havelsan, on 
B737-800 aircraft. The project was implemented 
successfully on Turkish Airlines’ flight to Edirne 
operated by a Boeing 737-8000 with the 
registration market TC-JFO, and was approved by 
EASA with a Supplemental Type Certificate (STC) 
on November 15.

SKYFE is the first in-flight entertainment system 
produced domestically and thanks to EASA 
certification, Turkish Technic has expanded the 
existing modification authorization and gained the 
capability to “develop and integrate cabin interior 
electrical-electronical equipment” with SKYFE, 
enabling service provision to many national and 
international airlines, and the Design Organization 
authorizations issued by EASA have been 
renewed accordingly.

Turkish Technic continues to increase the quality 
of service offered to customers, and aims to 
grow in different lines of business with its five 
subsidiaries, including joint ventures with local 
and international companies since 2009.

TURKISH CABIN INTERIOR
Turkish Cabin Interior (TCI), operating in the 
HABOM facilities, raised its galley production 
volume by 160% to 130 in 2015 from 50 in 2014. 
TCI’s turnover reached US$ 8.2 million in 2015 
with a 150% increase, compared to US$ 3.2 
million in 2014.

TCI was officially declared as “Global Offerable” 
for the new generation Boeing 737 aircraft 
– one of the two most widely-used aircraft 
type worldwide – was listed as one of four 
manufacturers listed in the catalog. TCI produced 
galleys that are 15% lighter than those of its 
competitors, and has become the manufacturer 
of the lightest galley for Boeing 737 aircraft 
globally.

As part of the Company’s promotional and 
advertising initiatives, TCI communicated with 
86 airlines and lessors to promote international 
brand awareness.

AIRCRAFT SEAT MANUFACTURE
In 2015, TSI Aviation Seats, also a Turkish Technic 
subsidiary, developed SKYSOFA (long-haul 
economy class seat with IFE equipment) and 
COMFYSKY (short-range economy class seat with 
IFE equipment) in addition to the existing ELESA 
ECO and ELESA CVS seats.

The company completed the manufacture of 8 
ship-sets of aircraft seats for B737-800 and 5 
ship-sets for A330-300 (2,630 pax), and also 
has been awarded the contract and initiated 
project activities for manufacture of 5 ship-sets 
of economy class seat for A330-200, 2 ship-sets 
for B777-300, 12 ship-sets for B737-800 and 11 
ship sets for A320 FAM for Turkish Airlines. The 
first delivery is planned for March 2016 and all 
deliveries are expected to be completed by the 
end of the year.

Continuing rapid development with innovative 
breakthroughs, the Company started studies 
for Lightweight seats in 2015, and TSISEATS 
Inc., incorporated in Utah, USA received TSO 
certification and production authorization by FAA 
as well as Design Delegation Approval granted 
by Airbus.

TURKISH ENGINE CENTER
Turkish Engine Center (TEC), established as 
a joint venture between Turkish Airlines and 
Pratt & Whitney, completed its most efficient 
year operation-wise in 2015 and maintained 100 
engines, the highest number delivered so far. 
Reaching a total delivery figure of 400 engines, 
Turkish Engine Center managed to deliver 100% 
of maintenance activities on time during the 
year. From a financial aspect, TEC attained the 
highest turnover and EBIT figures thanks to this 
exemplary operational efficiency.

In recognition of its increased productivity in 
operations, TEC climbed two steps higher in ACE 
(Achieving Competitive Excellence), a Continuous 
Improvement and Total Quality System, reaching 
Silver level. ACE Silver is the highest level ever 
achieved by P&W’s other engine maintenance 
centers globally.

Another highlight in engine maintenance is the 
increase in repair capability. In 2015, total number 
of the Company’s internal capabilities increased 
by 1,700 and TEC’s capability level reached 80% 
of total repairs for CFM56-7 engines.

Turkish Cabin Interior (TCI) increased 
its galley production volume by 160% 

to 130 in 2015 from 50 in 2014.
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CATERING

Turkish Airlines, adding a new approach and 
flavor to airline catering concept, was selected 
the “Best Airlines in Europe” in 2015 for the fifth 
time in row by “Skytrax Passengers Choice 
Awards”, the most prestigious awards ceremony 
in the industry which is organized annually to 
reward airlines. 

Turkish Airlines was also awarded for “Turkish 
Airlines Lounge Istanbul”, a world-renowned 
lounge and a hallmark of privileged guest comfort 
in every aspect from catering and activity 
concept to ambiance, in category of “Best 
Business Class Airline Lounge”; and also won the 
“Best Business Class Lounge Dining” award two 
times in row, for the excellent catering service at 
our lounges. 

We owe this success to the exclusive catering 
concept which is designed by Turkish Do&Co, 
a joint venture between Turkish Airlines and 
Do&Co, and served both on our flights and at our 
lounges.

WORLD CUISINES WITH TRADITIONAL 
ANATOLIAN HOSPITALITY
Turkish Do & Co, setting best quality and high 
level of passenger satisfaction as its primary 
goal, has based its tailored concept for Turkish 
Airlines on traditional Anatolian hospitality. Menus 
include dishes from traditional Turkish cuisine 
as well as world cuisines. Trained cabin crew 
provide service for all Turkish Airlines flights by 
following strict service principles.

Turkish Airlines, a leading actor and best catering 
service provider in the industry does not rest on 
its laurels but develops innovative practices in 
order to create new trends and surprise guests 
all the time.

Our catering concept was designed to offer 
Turkish Airlines guests a unique experience 
above the clouds to make them wish that their 
travel would never end and fly Turkish Airlines 
again, and within this framework, our Flying Chef 
and Flying Service Chef practices were further 
enhanced in 2015.

TWO FLYING CHEFS FOR LONG-HAUL FLIGHTS
Accordingly, 2 Flying Chefs serve on our long-
haul flights now, and Flying Service Chef practice 
has been expanded to new routes since 2015. 
As of November, Flying Service Chef practice, 
formerly available only on flights originating from 
Istanbul, is now available on flights originating 
from Sabiha Gökçen, as well. The number of 
Flying Chefs serving on our flights increased to 
350, while the number of Flying Service Chefs 
reached 569 by December 2015.

In 2015, we decided to make some changes in 
menu contents to enhance service quality. To 
that end, R&D studies including food tasting 
events and workshops were conducted together 
with Turkish Do&Co chefs in 14 provinces and 
districts across 7 regions, and as a result, 112 
different menu combinations were created with 
Turkish and international food varieties.

2 Flying Chefs serve 
on our long-haul 
flights now, and 
Flying Service Chef 
practice has been 
expanded to new 
routes since 2015.

Turkish Do & Co bases its catering service 
concept on traditional Anatolian hospitality.
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Changes in menu contents started with the 
Business Class breakfast menu in June 2015, 
which was followed gradually by Business Class 
and Economy Class dining and breakfast menus.

In addition to renewed catering offers on flights 
originating from Turkey, local flavors were also 
included in our catering concept on international 
flights; starting with loading of local food varieties 
on flights departing from Japan, China and Taipei.

Turkish Do&Co started to bake Turkish ravioli 
and bread served in Economy Class at its 
own facilities instead of outsourcing. Turkish 
bagel, previously served to Business guests at 
breakfast, is now also offered in bread basket 
during meal service.

NEW BEVERAGE VARIETIES
New beverage varieties have been added to the 
existing beverage menu offered on our flights. 
We started to load sahlep to offer our Business 
guests on trans-oceanic flights while linden tea 
and green tea are offered on international flights. 
In addition, our Masala tea service, which was 
initially offered on Indian routes have now been 
expanded to destinations in Nepal, Bangladesh, 
Maldives, Sri Lanka, Afghanistan and Pakistan.

Turkish Airlines also makes special days 
unforgettable with unique offers and services. 
Special treats were loaded on our flights to 
serve our guest on special occasions, including 
cake service for on New Year’s Eve; Valentine’s 
Day chocolate with special message cards, as 
well as cupcakes on flights from Turkey and the 
USA on Valentine’s Day; and specially designed 
chocolate for the Chinese New Year, religious 
holidays and Children’s Day on April 23.

These efforts were not limited to our guests; 
changes to boost cabin crew satisfaction were 
also introduced, and contents of the breakfast 
and meal sandwiches loaded for cabin crew 

were renewed. In determining these menu 
contents, products that are easy to consume 
and will make a difference for crew members 
were selected. In addition, food menu for the 
cabin crew members were renewed initially on 
short distance flights and then on domestic 
flights, and new, practical and nutritious menu 
choices were created.

DELIGHTFUL FLIGHTS
As part of a brand partnership between Turkish 
Airlines and Turk Telekom, in-flight Wi-Fi service is 
offered to passengers on B777-300ER and A330-
343 aircraft. This enabled 134,497 passengers to 
gain internet access through the Türk Telekom 
portal using their own Wi-Fi compatible electronic 
devices.

With Live TV application, guests hosted on our 
new generation wide-body aircraft could watch 
more than 500 international sports activities 
live. Sport 24, Euronews, Sky News Arabic, 
BBC World channels were broadcast live on our 
flights.

With the new agreements made in 2015, latest 
and classic movies, international movies, TV 
shows, and documentaries were included in 
our in-flight media, resulting in an observable 
increase in the number and diversity of 
programs.

In 2015, 3,697 different programs were added 
to available in-flight media in total and offered to 
passengers, including 727 new movies, 1,718 TV 
shows/series/documentaries, and 1,481 music 
albums.

Our guests enjoyed their flights while watching 
select movies from our extensive movie archive 
for 15,627,986 hours. In addition, they listened 
to music for 2,688,861 hours and entertained 
themselves with games for 998,529 hours.

In 2015, newly designed toy sets were delivered 
to children aged between 2 and 12 years 
traveling on all our international flights under an 
initiative for “Improvement of Minor Passengers’ 
Satisfaction” in order to make Turkish Airlines’ 
minor passengers happy. Within this framework, 
different types of toys and 170,000 child kits 
were presented to approximately 1.5 million 
children on each leg of our international flights. 
Our primary goal with this initiative was to make 
minors’ flights more enjoyable, and therefore 
contribute to their travel experience and make 
sure that they leave the aircraft with some 
pleasant memories.

Turkish Airlines continued to add new ideas 
to its current range of services in 2015, with a 
focus on optimizing passenger satisfaction. As 
of May 2015, we introduced our new amenity 
kits designed together with the most famous 
design brands from cosmetic and design world. 
The colors and contents of the new amenity kits 
have also been changed in line with the general 
concept of the year, and four different types, and 
world-renowned brands such as Jaguar, Cerutti, 
Chopard and Furla, are offered to business and 
economy class passengers on all long-haul 
flights to/from Turkey.

In 2015, a total of 1,100,000 Business Class 
Amenity kits, 8,500,000 Economy Class 
Relax sets, 130,000 Business Headsets and 
31,000,000 economy headsets were distributed.
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GROUND HANDLING

Turkish Ground Services (TGS), a 50/50 joint 
venture between Turkey’s national flag carrier 
Turkish Airlines and HAVAŞ is one of the world’s 
largest ground services companies with its 
dynamic organization. 

Built on know-how and business experience of 
two major companies, TGS started operations 
in 2010 and has accomplished significant 
achievements in a very short time, becoming 
a preferred, dynamic, and world-class ground 
handling agent in global aviation industry.

Turkish Ground Services’ primary goals are:
 ↗ to provide products and services that 

exceed the quality standards in the industry
 ↗ to accomplish the target of having “friendly, 

solution-oriented employees with a positive 
attitude” for excellent service and satisfied 
customers

 ↗ to minimize customer complaints
 ↗ to increase employee satisfaction and 

productivity

Turkish Ground Services currently offers ground 
handling services meeting international quality 
standards to contracted airlines at Istanbul 
Ataturk, Ankara Esenboğa, Izmir Adnan Menderes, 
Antalya, Adana, Milas-Bodrum, Dalaman and 
Istanbul Sabiha Gökçen Airports.

TGS SERVES 143 AIRLINES
Turkish Ground Services (TGS), providing ground 
handling services to an increasing number of 
aircraft every day, currently serves 143 airlines 
following the inclusion of many leading domestic 
and international air carriers in its customer 
portfolio.

TGS, the youngest ground handling agent in 
Turkey, maintains and reinforces its leading 
position in Turkey with an increasing number of 
flights served, personnel and equipment.

As of year-end 2015, the Company served a total 
of 88 million passengers on 636,000 flights 
operated by 318,000 aircraft, with a workforce of 
9,219 employees.

EUROPE’S YOUNGEST EQUIPMENT FLEET
TGS enjoys the youngest equipment fleet in 
Europe with 5,800 pieces of equipment. The 
Company continued its investments with a focus 
on long-term growth and higher service quality 
in 2015, increasing its total investments to TRY 
321 millions over the past six years since its 
establishment.

Besides these successful figures achieved 
through right strategies, the Company stands 
out with its distinguished, high-quality service 
approach. The most important capital behind 
TGS’s success is its qualified human resources 
and employees who serve 24/7.

TGS aims to move forward with the vision of 
becoming a leading, preferred ground handling 
agent in the industry with its service quality, 
reliability, and competitive strengths, while 
contributing to the national economy as much in 
2016.

Turkish Ground 
Services (TGS), 
providing ground 
handling services 
to an increasing 
number of aircraft 
every day, currently 
serves 143 airlines 
following the 
inclusion of many 
leading domestic 
and international 
air carriers in its 
customer portfolio.

FLIGHT SHARE IN THE INDUSTRY
(BY FLIGHT NUMBER)

48.5% TGS

32% Çelebi

19.5% Havaş
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TRAINING

Turkish Aviation Academy was established 
in 1982 to meet the training needs of Turkish 
Airlines, the first airline in Turkish civil aviation 
industry and a leading airline in Europe; and 
today, the Company is one of the most prominent 
aviation training organizations in the region 
covering Europe, Africa, and the Middle East.

The Academy has been accredited and 
certified by many national and international 
authorities, and offers training and consultancy 
services to airline and cargo operators, travel 
agencies, universities, airport operators and 
other companies and individuals in civil aviation 
industry with a wide range of training programs 
from passenger services to ground operations, 
management and personal development and 
occupational language training.

The Academy is located on an area of 5,800 
sqm comprising 22 classrooms and a 120-seat 
conference room that serve both for capacity 
increase and comfort and availability.

STAFF OF 173 INSTRUCTORS
In 2015, Turkish Aviation Academy reinforced its 
staff of 112 employees with 11 new instructors 
and continued its activities with a total of 36 
instructors. Along with other internal instructors 
appointed in other units, the number of 
instructors reached 173.

The Academy organized 2,401 classroom 
courses for approximately 35,000 trainees; and 
also reached 400,000 trainings through distance 
learning courses in 2015.

Turkish Aviation Academy, which has been 
accredited as a Regional Training Partner of IATA, 
Approved Training Center, and Approved Training 
Academy since 2011, increased the number of 
planned training programs in 2015, continuing 
to provide IATA-approved training courses for 
students across the world. Students from 44 
companies participated in 20 training courses 
organized within this scope in 2015. In addition, 
50 training courses are planned for 2016 within 
this framework.

COLLABORATION WITH UNIVERSITIES
Air Transport Management Master’s Degree 
Program, which was initiated by the Academy in 
collaboration with Istanbul Technical University 
(ITU) and Boeing in October 2013 in order to 
contribute to the development of the civil aviation 
industry, produced its first graduates in 2015. 
The Program continued with its third group of 
students in 2015.

As part of the internationally-recognized Master’s 
Degree Program, courses are delivered by 
distinguished instructors from Boeing, the 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), 
Istanbul Technical University, Cranfield University, 
and University of British Columbia.

As part of collaboration with universities, 
the Academy undersigned a new project in 
2015 and initiated a post-graduate program in 
“Industrial R&D and Technology Management” 
in collaboration with Yıldız Technical University 
and Warwick University in the UK. Currently, 20 
Turkish Airlines employees attend this program.

CORPORATE UNIVERSITY COMPLIANCE 
CERTIFICATE
The Academy has been a full member of 
ICAO TRAINAIR PLUS Program since 2013 and 
assumed the title of “ICAO Regional Training 
Center of Excellence”, expanding its partnership 
with ICAO and adding ICAO training programs to 
its portfolio in 2015. Training design process for 
extension of the ICAO-approved training catalog 
is ongoing.

The Academy became the first and only 
Turkish company to obtain Corporate University 
Compliance Certificate in 2015. The CU 
Certification is an accreditation granted by 
Global Council of Corporate Universities following 
an in-depth, staged evaluation by accredited 
specialists who affirmed that the Academy fulfills 
the specifications of an established, reputable 
international presence and performs at the 
appropriate level as a Corporate University.

In 2015, Turkish 
Aviation Academy 
reinforced its 
staff with 11 new 
instructors and 
continued its 
activities with a 
total of 36 
instructors. 
Along with other 
internal instructors 
appointed in other 
units, the number 
of instructors 
reached 173.
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The Academy’s Career Development Program, 
developed to support employees’ career 
development, was completed in 2015. As part 
of the Program, a total of 150 trainees attended 
training courses in economy, marketing and other 
subjects offered by distinguished experts in their 
fields.

A “Leadership Development Program” was 
created for development of basic, managerial and 
functional competencies specifically defined for 
executives at the managerial level. The program, 
attended by 80 leaders in 2015, continues in 
2016 as well.

Similarly, in an effort to train more qualified 
human resources for the aviation industry, 
collaborations are established with universities. 
To that end, the Academy offered aviation English 
and language proficiency evaluation training for 
flight crew members to language instructors 
from various universities in 2015.

Five training courses were organized as 
part of the Distance Learning Project for 
Airline Transport Management which covers 
fundamental and advance level of knowledge on 
air transport management. The Distance Learning 
Program consists of several modules related to 
various fields of expertise and aims to develop 
the company’s executives in the short term and 
provide a model for global airline companies in 
the long term. In 2016, the aim is to increase the 
number of these courses to 20.

In 2015, the Academy initiated a partnership with 
Lynda.com, a portal offering online training for the 
business world. The Academy’s training catalog 
has been expanded with the platform which 
includes more than 9,000 training programs. The 
platform is currently used by approximately 1,000 
employees.

Turkish Aviation Academy is one of the leading 
aviation training organizations in the region.
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TRAINING

EVERYBODY DESERVES A CHANCE TO FLY
Believing that “everybody deserves to fly”, 
Turkish Aviation Academy continues to organize 
“Program for Overcoming Fear of Flying” to help 
people get rid of their concerns and overcome 
their fear of flying. Launched in 2007 with a 
diverse content delivered by psychologists, 
pilots and experienced cabin instructors in a 
well-equipped training environment such as cabin 
simulators, the program achieved a success 
rate of over 90%, helping people from every 
age group to overcome their fear of flying. The 
program was organized 8 times in 2015, with 81 
participants.

Turkish Airlines undertaken to draw up 
professional standards for the professions in 
aviation industry as per a protocol executed 
between the Professional Competency Board 
and Turkish Airlines on August 16, 2010 in 
order to develop professional standards for the 
professionals in the aviation industry. To that 
end, 6 professional standards were drawn up 
and came into force after being published in the 
Official Gazette.

TECHNOLOGICAL TRAINING SOLUTIONS
In recent years, Turkish Aviation Academy 
achieved many of its targets on the way of 
becoming a global hub in aviation training, 
acquiring an international identity, getting 
recognition from local and global authorities, 
being preferred and recommended, providing 
diversity in products and services, extending 
target audience in quantity and quality, and 
implementing technological and innovative 
approaches in education.

With the execution of important projects, 
the Academy is continuing to strengthen its 
leadership position in Turkey and to meet the 
industry’s needs and raise the quality of training.

In parallel with our Company’s vision for 
2023, preparations were commenced to offer 
training solutions with the latest technological 
opportunities in order to transform Turkish 
Airlines Academy into a world-class corporate 
training center. Thus, the aim is to offer corporate 
training available in the Turkish Aviation 
Academy’s talent pool to a wider audience, 
without time and place limitations.

In 2015, the development of the “Training 
Resources Management Project (Activity 
System)” were completed and all data and 
reports regarding the training programs 
conducted by the Academy are now managed 
through the Activity System in order to manage 
all training processes via a common software 
platform.

The Academy started to utilize technological 
innovations more effectively and completed 
the setup of two online training development 
studios, initiating digital transformation activities 
for training courses in 2015. As part of this digital 
transformation, preparation of digital training 
materials for each training listed on the training 
catalog is targeted.

Turkish Aviation 
Academy offers 
training and 
consultancy services 
to the industry with a 
wide range of training 
programs from 
passenger services 
to ground operations, 
management 
and personal 
development and 
occupational 
language training.

“Leadership Development Program” was created for development 
of basic, managerial and functional competencies.
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 ↗ 10 Full Flight Simulators (FFS),
 ↗ 2 Cabin Emergency Evacuation Trainers 

(CEET),
 ↗ 3 Flight and Navigation Procedures Trainers 

(FNPT II),
 ↗ 6 Flight Training Devices (FTD)
 ↗ 3 Door Trainers (A320 DT, B777 DT,  

B737 DT),
 ↗ 1 Rescue and Fire Fighting Trainers (RFFT),
 ↗ 2 Cabin Service Trainers (CST),
 ↗ 4 Computer Base Trainer (CBT) classes,
 ↗ 45 classes, Ditching Pool, DLR Test Center 

and conference room
and serves not only Company personnel but also 
many local and international customers. 

Flight Training Center has obtained the following 
authorizations and approvals from local and 
internal authorities:

 ↗ Approved Training Organization (ATO)
 ↗ Type Rating Training Organization (TRTO)
 ↗ Flight Training Organization (FTO)
 ↗ Cabin Crew Initial Training Rating
 ↗ Defibrillation Training certified by European 

Resuscitation Council
 ↗ Initial and Recurrent First Aid Training 

certified by Turkish Ministry of Health 

Training programs offered by Flight Training 
Center for flight crew members;

 ↗ Type Rating Training,
 ↗ Recurrent, Refresher Training,
 ↗ TRI/ TRE, SFI and SFE Training,
 ↗ Multi Crew Cooperation (MCC) and MCC 

Instructor (MCCI) Training,
 ↗ Modular and Integrated Piloting Training,
 ↗ FI (A), CRI(A), IRI (A) Training,
 ↗ Single/Multi-Engine Type Rating Training,
 ↗ License Conversion Training,
 ↗ C510 Type Rating Training,
 ↗ Dispatcher Training,
 ↗ Load Master Training,
 ↗ Dangerous Goods Regulations Training,
 ↗ Crew Resource Management (CRM) and 

CRM Instructor (CRMI) Training
 ↗ Train-the-Trainer Course certified by Ministry 

of Education 

Training programs offered by Cabin Crew 
Training Management at Flight Training Center:

 ↗ Initial Training,
 ↗ Aviation Terminology,
 ↗ Aviation Security Training,
 ↗ Company Orientation Training,
 ↗ Flight Safety and Emergency Procedures 

Training,
 ↗ Crew Resource Management (CRM) 

Training,
 ↗ Dangerous Goods Regulations (DGR) 

Training,
 ↗ Ordinary Safety Procedures Training
 ↗ Type Rating Training (B737, A320, B777, 

A330),
 ↗ Recurrent, Refresher, Recertification Training
 ↗ Senior Cabin Crew Member Training (Narrow 

Body),
 ↗ Senior Cabin Crew Member Training (Wide 

Body),
 ↗ Initial and Recurrent First Aid Training 

certified by Provincial Directorate of Health
 ↗ Aero-Medical Aspects and First Aid Training,
 ↗ Initial and Recurrent Defibrillation Training 

certified by European Resuscitation Council,
 ↗ Applied Training Courses at CEET, CST,
 ↗ Emergency Safety Equipment Training 

(ESET),

With these projects, the number of e-learning 
training courses increased by approximately 
400%. The Academy also started to employ 
innovative method, and established an animation 
and simulation center to support the training 
content.

ON THE WAY TO BECOME A BRAND
In 2015, Turkish Aviation Academy run advertising 
and publicity campaigns at an accelerated pace, 
increasing its brand awareness and reinforced 
brand value, especially in the eyes of global 
customers. In this context, its official website 
was redesigned and the Academy started to 
use social media platforms in a more active 
and planned manner. As of year-end 2015, the 
Academy has 14,000 followers on Facebook, 
3,000 followers on LinkedIn and 600 followers 
on Twitter. Videos made by the Academy and 
shared on our YouTube channel are viewed by a 
large mass of audiences.

FLIGHT TRAINING CENTER 
Flight Training Center is responsible for all flight 
training activities of the Company, principally 
including training of flight and cabin crew 
members. Certified by a number of local and 
international authorities, the organization has 
been providing training services in accordance 
with national and international standards  
since 1994.

With its 21 years of experience in the field, Flight 
Training Center delivers training courses to more 
than 35,000 trainees annually. 
 
Having started its training activities at its current 
campus with only one flight simulator in 1995, 
Flight Training Center has now turned into a 
recognized professional organization with

 ↗ 10 single-engine Cessna C-172 Trainers,
 ↗ 6 single-engine Diamond DA-40 Trainers,
 ↗ 8 double-engine Diamond DA-42 Trainers,
 ↗ 2 single engine Cessna Citation C-510 

Trainers,
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 ↗ Smoke & Fire Fighter Training,
 ↗ Evacuation Procedures and Crowd Control 

Training
 ↗ Ditching Training,
 ↗ VIP Aircraft Training,
 ↗ Supervisor Training,
 ↗ Cabin Crew Examiner Training
 ↗ SAFA/SANA/SACA Training,
 ↗ Integrated Management System Training,
 ↗ SMS and SRS Training
 ↗ Flying Chef/Flying Service Chef Initial 

Training,
 ↗ Flying Chef/Flying Service Chef Recurrent 

Training

In addition to the above-listed training courses, 
Cabin Crew Training Management also organizes 
the following training programs to increase 
customer satisfaction:

 ↗ Diction and Effective Cabin Announcements 
Training

 ↗ Life in Uniform
 ↗ Handling Difficult Situations
 ↗ Quiet Cabin
 ↗ Brand Awareness, Marketing and Passenger 

Focus,

 ↗ Sky Stars
 ↗ Basic Service Concept
 ↗ Professional Awareness in Aviation
 ↗ ER B/C Service Concept Training
 ↗ ER B/C Service Concept Refresher Training
 ↗ Service Quality Support Training

In 2015, Cabin Crew Management Training also 
delivered the following training courses for 
external customers.

 ↗ Turkish Ground Service (TGS) – Professional 
Awareness Training

 ↗ Turkish State Railways (TCCD) – Service 
Quality and Professional Awareness 
Training

 ↗ Type Rating Training, Initial Training and 
Senior Cabin Crew Member Training 
for several airlines including Afriqiyah, 
Ghadames, Somon, Iraq, Zagros Iraq, Libyan 
Airlines

 ↗ Applied training courses for other airlines
 ↗ Applied training courses for Cabin Crew 

Services departments of several universities

Turkish Airlines 
maintains high 
standards in flight 
and cabin crew 
training programs 
by acquiring new 
flight simulators, 
trainers and 
training devices 
and increasing 
training hours to 
meets operational 
requirements in line 
with our growing 
fleet.

Flight Training Courses trains more than 
35,000 trainees annually.
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In 2015, ground training was delivered to 9,449 
flight crew members in total. Also, a total of 
1000 pilots, including 676 external pilots, either 
inexperienced or experienced with other types 
not available at the Company, and 334 internal 
pilots received Conversion training in 2015.

261 CANDIDATE PILOTS TRAINED
261 candidate pilots (80 domestic + 181 
international) were trained in 2015 by Flight 
Training Organization under the Flight Training 
Center, using domestic and international 
resources, while training of 334 candidate pilots 
(257 domestic + 77 international), who joined our 
training programs in 2015, still continues.

In 2015, 28,975 trainees were trained at Cabin 
Crew Training Management across 27 different 
categories including Initial, Recurrent, Refresher, 
Recertification, Senior Cabin Crew Member, First 
Aid, Defibrillation, Service Quality and Personal 
Development Training Programs. Also, 1,302 new 
cabin crew members graduated in 2015, and 375 
cabin crew members from other international 
airlines received 874 hours of training in total. 

1,250 TGS Personnel attended Professional 
Awareness Training in order to increase 
passenger satisfaction. We aim to reach 1,800 
trainees under this training program, as it 
continues in 2016.

 ↗ A total of 414,887 hours of training were 
delivered at Flight Training Center including

 ↗ 259,165 hours of training, consisting of 
42,954 hours of classroom training and 
216,211 hours of distance learning courses, 
were delivered for cabin crew members in 
total;

 ↗ 129,612 hours of training, consisting of 
21,660 hours of classroom training, 45,492 
hours of distance learning courses, and 
62,460 hours on flight simulator, were 
delivered for flight crew members in total; 
and

 ↗ 26,200 hours of training, consisting of 
8,200 hours of ground training and 18,000 
hours of ground training were delivered by 
the flight training organization in total.

Besides internal training programs, training 
courses were delivered to 35 external companies 
(7 flight and 28 cabin crew) operating across 
a broad region including Asia, Caucasia, Middle 
East, North Africa, and Europe.

CABIN WORKSHOPS
Turkish Airlines’ accelerated growth trend, 
creates opportunities for Flight Training Center 
to act cooperatively with business partners. 
Accordingly, Flight Training Center is engaged in 
academic cooperations and developed business 
collaboration models with international simulation 
centers and other training organizations in the 
industry, pursuing a steady integration policy 
with the aviation industry.

In 2015, two Cabin Workshop were organized 
with the Cabin Crew Services Departments of 
15 universities and institutions, including Anadolu 
University, Turkish Aeronautical Association, 
Kapadokya Vocational School of Higher 
Education, Beykoz Vocational School of Higher 
Logistics Education, Gelişim University, Kırklareli 
University, Maltepe University, Fatih Sultan 
Mehmet Foundation University and İstanbul 
University. These workshops created a platform 
to share the industry’s needs with the schools 
and support them with necessary information on 
how to raise qualified personnel.

As a part of a new Flight Training Center project 
launched in 2015, four full flight simulators (FFS) 
and cabin training devices were purchased and 
will be put into service in 2016 to sustain the 
Company’s international competitiveness and 
become one of the most important flight training 
centers in the region. We will continue to make 
constant progress and provide training programs 
utilizing high technology and new training 
devices.

GROUND TRAINING TO 9,449 FLIGHT 
CREW MEMBERS 
Turkish Airlines maintains high standards in flight 
and cabin crew training programs by acquiring 
new flight simulators, trainers and training 
devices and increasing training hours to meets 
operational requirements in line with our growing 
fleet.

Flight Training Center has been certified as 
“Approved Training Organization (ATO)” by EASA, 
and as “Type Rating Training Organization 
(TRTO)” and “Flight Training Organization (FTO)” 
by Directorate General of Civil Aviation (DGCA). 
Also, all flight simulators and flight training 
devices used for training are certified by EASA. 
In addition, all the training devices used by Cabin 
Crew Training Directorate, which holds Initial 
Training Authorization Certification approved by 
DGCA, for applied training programs are certified 
by DGCA.
 
Each flight crew member attended multiple 
training courses among 29 different training 
programs are available for flight crew members, 
including “Conversion”, “Type Rating” and 
“Recurrent” training programs in particular. 
In addition, nearly 800 external flight crew 
members who serve for the Company are trained 
at Flight Training Center. 
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ANADOLUJET 
AnadoluJet, the brand of Turkish Airlines which 
meets the transportation needs on domestic 
lines at affordable prices with the motto “Nobody 
On Land”, provides opportunity to fly in an 
extensive flight network with its Sabiha Gökçen-
based domestic line schedule in harmony with 
international lines of its master brand and flight 
policy covering connection flights from Ankara.

Turning out to be a real success story since 
its incorporation in 2008, AnadoluJet has 
grown day by day with the campaigns proper 
for its low-fare airline profile as well as its 
communication activities, and carried the brand 
of AnadoluJet forward.

The company continued not only to expand its 
fleet and flight network as well as increase the 
number of passengers in 2015. Cooperations 
such as transfer service, car park and rent a car 
are being developed and extended to reach new 
passengers and facilitate flight experience on 
domestic lines.

69 ROUTES, 44 DESTINATIONS
Through 2014 to 2015, the number of routes was 
increased from 49 to 69, comprising of 36 routes 
originated from Ankara, 26 flights originated from 
Sabiha Gökçen and 7 cross flights, and flights 
were performed to 44 destinations.

The operation, Ankara-based domestic flight 
network of which was expanded with new 
destinations in line with the Company’s strategy, 
was maintained in 2015, and the number of 
Esenboğa-based routes was increased from 32 
to 36 upon inclusion of 4 new destinations.

It is planned to launch 11 new routes with 2 from 
Sabiha Gökçen, 4 from Antalya and 5 from Izmir, 
in 2016.

AnadoluJet 
increases the 
number of its 
routes from 
49 to 69 through 
2014 to 2015.
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10.8 MILLION PASSENGERS
Total number of AnadoluJet passengers in 2015 
increased to 10.8 million with 20% increase, 
compared to 9 million in 2014. This figure is 
aimed to reach 12.8 million passengers with 20% 
increase in 2016.

OPERATIONS BY 34 AIRCRAFT
The fleet of AnadoluJet comprises of aircraft 
leased on wet-lease basis from SunExpress 
and BoraJet. Leaving behind 2014 with a fleet 
of 27 aircraft, AnadoluJet continued to perform 
operations with a fleet of 34 aircraft in 2015. 

AnadoluJet will conduct operations with a fleet 
of 40 aircraft in 2016 once 737-800 type aircraft, 
operated in the Company’s flights, will start to be 
used. Operating charter flights from Antalya with 
2 aircraft, AnadoluJet plans to operate charter 
flights with 4 aircraft in 2016.
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ANADOLUJET TRAFFIC FIGURES

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Revenue Passengers (000) 10,824 9,019 7,701 5,317 5,914

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 8,615 7,811 5,960 3,895 5,212

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 7,196 6,519 4,837 3,191 3,991

Load Factor (%) 83.5 83.5 81.2 81.9 76.6

Landings 76,031 63,718 56,549 39,454 47,377

* includes all operation groups for AJET flights as of 2015

AnadoluJet’s passenger volume grew by 20% to 
reach 10.8 million passengers as of year-end 2015.
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EXPANDING FLIGHT NETWORK
The Company operates domestic and 
international flights to 287 destinations by 
the end of 2015. As a result of 41 Code-share 
agreements, some of which have been executed 
with world’s leading airlines in the Star Alliance 
to which Turkish Airlines is also a member, 
ticket sales to an additional 177 international 
destinations, including Scandinavian countries 
to which the Company flights have not been 
launched yet, Russia, America, Africa and the Far 
East became possible and those destinations 
were added to the flight network of the 
Company.

By help of Interline agreements, interline volume 
of US$ 385 million was achieved in 2015, which 
corresponds to approximately 3% of the 2015 
turnover of the Company. This volume is aimed 
to increase by 5% in 2016.

Thanks to these commercial agreements, our 
passengers can access 177 cities such as Las 
Vegas, Seattle, Ottawa, Sydney, Melbourne, 
Kaliningrad, and Malmo, to which flights are not 
operated yet by Turkish Airlines from Istanbul, 
under the Company’s flight number with one 
ticket via code sharing upon performance of 
check-in processes to the final destination, and 
have an easier, faster, more economic and more 
comfortable travel with no additional baggage 
procedures. The number of offline destinations, 
now being 177 with an increase by 32% upon 
execution of 41 code-share agreements, are 
planned to increase in parallel with the growth 
strategies of the Company for 2016. It is 
planned to include such important and strategic 
destinations as Latin America, Australia, China 
and India to the flight network in the upcoming 
period by means of commercial agreements 
and partnerships to be entered into with leading 
airlines in the region. 

Initiatives to promote commercial cooperations 
with leading airlines were carried out by the 
Company at the markets, deemed strategic, 
throughout 2015. Accordingly, the cooperation 
with Avianca Airlines facilitated access to the 
Latin American market, and it was aimed to 
support the recently-launched destinations in 
America by means of the agreements entered 
into with Jetblue, Hawaiian Airlines and Virgin 
America in addition to United Airlines in North 
American market.

On the other side, we expanded the existing 
code-share agreement with Singapore Airlines in 
the Asian market, which provided our customers 
with access to uninterrupted travel to the 
Australian market. Execution of code-share 
agreements with Eva Air and Philippines Airlines 
not only initiated a new cooperation with another 
Star Alliance member airline but also provided 
the passengers with offline beyond-Manila 
destinations in the Far East and Asia alternatively. 
Moreover, thanks to the code-share agreement 
executed with Royal Brunei Airlines in 2015, 
access to a previously-offline destination is now 
available. Strategic negotiations with Air India and 
Air China are now ongoing in India and China, 
respectively. It was aimed, with 24 regional airline 
partnerships in Africa, to support the existing 48 
destinations in Africa, create potential market for 
the destinations planned to be launched in the 
following years and carry out lobbying activities 
for existing civil aviation permissions.

Following civil aviation negotiations in 2015, Air 
Transport Agreements were executed with seven 
more countries in Africa, Latin America and the 
Far East, and the Company was granted with 
frequency rights for new destinations in parallel 
with the expansion strategy for Africa and Latin 
America. The existing agreements with 20 
countries were revised, and additional frequency 
rights were granted to Turkish carriers. Thus, the 
number of countries, with which Turkey executed 
an aviation agreement, increased to 164. 
Furthermore, international air services negotiation 
event, which takes place in a different country 
every year, was held in Turkey in 2015.

Operating flights to 
287 destinations, 
Turkish Airlines 
has took the 
opportunity to 
perform sales to 177 
destinations in total 
in Russia, America, 
Africa and Far 
East, in particular 
Scandinavian 
countries, with Code 
Share agreements.
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STAR ALLIANCE
Established in 1997 with the aim of providing 
excellent service to passengers with its 
extensive flight network, Star Alliance, of which 
we are a member since April 2008, is the first 
global aviation alliance providing opportunity 
of recognition. The Alliance provides access 
to 1,336 airports and more than 1,000 lounges 
in 192 countries with its 18,392 daily flight 
operations, 28 members and international flight 
network. Star Alliance maintained its first ranking 
position with its rate of 24% in terms of both 
its total available seat kilometers figure and its 
total revenue kilometers figure in 2015 among 
Skyteam (20%), Oneworld (19%), low-cost carriers 
(19%) and other airlines which are not a member 
of any alliance (17%).

Turkish Airlines became 100% compliant with 
the Alliance requirements and fulfilled all its 
obligations perfectly in 2015. The strategic 
role Turkish Airlines plays in the Alliance was 
reinforced after representatives were selected 
to the two strategy committees, which are 
influential in decision-making and management 
processes within the organization of Star 
Alliance.

Upon execution of code-share agreements 
with 21 airlines, which are member to the 
Alliance, access and uninterrupted travel to the 
previously-offline destinations are now available. 
The Interline volume, achieved as a result of the 
agreements executed with Star Alliance member 
airlines, corresponds to the 52% of the total 
Interline volume.

Becoming the 28th member of Star Alliance as 
of July 22, 2015 upon fulfillment of any and all 
requirements to become a member, Avianca 
Brasil (O6) reinforced the presence of the 
Alliance in Latin America.

Strategic initiatives for inclusion of new members 
from South Africa market to the Alliance following 
the committee meetings held in 2015 were 
maintained, and it was resolved to initiate several 
technological investments to increase customer 

Turkish Airlines became 100% compliant with 
Star Alliance requirements in 2015.



54 TURKISH AIRLINES ANNUAL REPORT 2015

OTHER SERVICES

satisfaction such as Baggage Hub project, which 
aims to facilitate the baggage monitoring process 
by collecting all baggage messages in a single hub, 
for the purpose of providing top-quality service to 
the passengers.

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS
We attended various events and meetings held 
at such international aviation organizations as 
AEA, IATA, ALTA, ICAO, ECAC and D-8 (Developing 
Eight Countries) and closely kept up with the 
developments in the field of aviation. 

Currently maintaining his position as the member 
of the Board of Governors of the International 
Air Transport Association (IATA), Temel Kotil is 
also a member of two (“Strategy and Policy” and 
“Chair” Committees) of the three committees 
which are effective on the management process. 
Moreover, assuming the role of consultant to 
the Board of Governors of IATA, the Company 
is also represented in Financial and Industry 
Affairs committees which are among the six 
committees following the developments in civil air 
transportation.

Meetings of these committees as well as any 
and all developments on many projects with 
strategic importance in aviation industry such 
as New Distribution Capability (NDC), Unruly 
Passengers, European Emissions Trading Scheme 
(ETS), International Settlement systems (ISS), etc. 
carried out at IATA are reported to the concerned 
departments of the Company.

Being a Partner Airline in the Arab Air Carriers 
Organization (AACO) which is strategically important 
for the Company, Turkish Airlines was represented 
by Temel Kotil, CEO and President of Turkish Airlines, 
in 2015 Annual General Assembly Meeting, and 
meetings were held with various airlines.

As part of the growth plans in Latin America, our 
management offices in the region attended ALTA 
(Latin American and Caribbean Air Transport 
Association) Airline Leaders Forum 2015 and 
other meetings as Associate Member, and found 
opportunity to discuss over the cooperation 
alternatives with the leading air transporters in Latin 
America.

We participated in the 9th D-8 Meeting of Directors-
General and Expert Working Group on Civil Aviation, 
which was held in Kuala Lumpur in 2015, and 
brought up the frequency problems, the Company is 
having with the D-8 member countries, and the civil 
aviation restrictions on to the agenda. This meeting 
will be held in Turkey in 2016.

PASSENGER HANDLING SYSTEMS
The ratio of tickets, sold through Turkish Airlines 
direct distribution systems (excluding internet), 
was realized as 47.1% in 2015. Direct distribution 
systems attained a reliable and uniform structure 
with recently-added functions and updated 
screen designs. Thus, increase in channel share 
and decrease in GDS costs were achieved. 80% 
of the systems-related requests, received from 
the stakeholders, were replied in 48 hours. The 
processes for reviewing, updating or changing 
the passenger handling services in line with the 
industrial developments and the Company’s needs 
were carried out.

TICKETING SYSTEMS
Automatic reissue rate was increased to 60% by the 
end of 2015 in call centers and offices thanks to the 
automatic reissue module put into use in QuickRes 
and Troya in 2014. Moreover, automatic reissue 
use was offered for use of major GDSs, and use of 
automatic refund function was initiated in Troya and 
QuickRes in 2015.

The ratio of tickets, 
sold through Turkish 
Airlines direct 
distribution systems, 
was realized as 
47.1% in 2015.
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CORPORATE SALES AND MARKETING
The share of corporate customers, covering 9.000 
Turkish Corporate Club member companies, in the 
scheduled flights revenue of Turkish Airlines is 
10% and is valued at US$ 850 million by the end of 
2015. The Company gained 3,330 new corporate 
members throughout the year. 22% of the business 
cabin revenues was generated by the member 
companies in 2015. It was targeted to gain a total 
of US$ 1.15 billion which corresponds to 12% of the 
total scheduled flights revenue of Turkish Airlines, 
from the corporate customers.

The TCC online portal and TCC online sales 
channel project, where members with low travel 
spending can manage their travel planning by 
utilizing online purchasing channel in addition to 
agency purchasing channel, went live. 

Provided only to the customers in Turkey 
previously, this program was put into use by 
candidate members living abroad. Besides, UATP 
card issue project, which will provide regular cash 
flow to the Company, minimize the credit risks, 
enable monitoring of members’ travel behaviors, 
furnish the customers with travel reports, 
ensure transparency in ticket fares and offer the 
opportunity to utilize the third party agreements, 
will go live. It is estimated to achieve a substantial 
increase in the number of members and the 
corporate revenue following introduction of this 
new product. On the other hand, the currently-
utilized MS Dynamics 2011 CRM system (CAMS) will 
be replaced by MS Dynamics 2015 CRM version 
thanks to the improvement actions to be initiated in 
the first quarter of 2016. Thus, agreement follow-
up process will be facilitated, a memory to follow 
company-based corporate activities will be created, 
performance management of the sales team will be 
followed up, more effective utilization of the system 
will be ensured by means of mobile applications 
and the opportunity to launch promotions and 
make cross-sales will be taken. The Market share 
is kept increasing by inclusion of new customers in 
the corporate passenger segment with corporate 
travel management cooperations (TMC) providing 
service to the corporate passenger segment.

ONLINE SALES AND MARKETING
A sales rate of 16.3% was achieved in 2015 by 
means of direct online channels of the Company 
(website, mobile site and mobile applications).

GENERAL DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS
The number of segments generated by the 
agencies, using the systems of GDS companies as 
of 2015, was realized as US$ 29.9 million with 9% 
increase, the net ticket revenue was realized as 
US$ 3.6 billion in return, and the segment cost was 
realized as US$ 200 million with 2% decrease.

Approximately Euro 50 million was yielded in GDS 
segment costs thanks to the agreements executed 
to decrease segment charges. 

Furthermore, a decrease of Euro 3 million was 
achieved in the Company’s expenses upon 
determination of incorrect reservations or 
reservations with misuse made by agencies using 
GDS, which can cause substantial losses and/or 
unnecessary segment costs in the ticket revenues.

Some of the updates, deemed required in 
processes between the Company’s system 
and GDSs, were accomplished or initiatives to 
accomplish were launched to that end with the 
works carried out besides these activities.

CALL CENTER
Approximately 14 million calls were received by the 
call center of the Company in 2015, which marks a 
7% increase when compared to the previous year. 
The call return ratio of 86%, achieved in 2014, was 
increased to 96% in 2015. Besides, provision of 
service in Arabic and Spanish was initiated in our 
call center. It is aimed to provide service in Chinese, 
Japanese, Korean and Portuguese in the first half 
of 2016 in line with the new market segmentation 
and web 3.0 requirements. Complaint rate of 1.5 per 
1,000 calls, forwarded to the call center companies 
on passenger complaints in 2015, was realized as 
1.84, which marks an improvement in the recent 
six-week period. The aim was set to decrease this 
figure to 1 complaint per 1,000 calls in 2016.

REVENUE MANAGEMENT
Pricing and revenue management strategies are 
becoming more and more complex and dynamic due 
to the ever-growing competition in aviation industry. 
It requires deep knowledge and analysis capability 
to immediately take any and all required actions by 
closely following these strategies, which may vary 
depending on the markets, and performing necessary 
analyses, to determine the markets which seem 
to provide opportunity, and to establish strategies 
independently from the competitors in these markets if 
and when required.

Many adverse incidents such as terror and wars, 
fought in neighboring countries, which affect the 
passengers’ demands directly, occurred in our 
geography in 2015. Despite all these difficulties and 
threats in the industry, Turkish Airlines managed 
to get over such threats and difficulties with its 
sustainable growth maintained thanks to the analysis 
opportunities provided by the O&D system, which has 
been in place for more than two years, as well as its 
knowledge, rightful and timely strategies, its ability 
to make rapid and right decisions by combining the 
information, obtained from various sales channels, 
by means of enhanced reports and the process of 
consultation with different departments.

The complexity, increasing exponentially on the side 
of revenue management as a result of the growth 
in the Company’s flight network, could be managed 
successfully thanks to the ability to perform analyses 
in the point of origin/arrival details of the Revenue 
Management System. Thus, changes in demands 
were turned into opportunities, the passengers lost 
in shrinking markets were successfully compensated 
with the passengers gained in different markets, and 
the revenue obtained from the activities performed in 
the whole flight network was maximized. Thanks to 
O&D Revenue Management System, Turkish Airlines is 
now capable of analyzing tens of thousands of points 
of origin/arrival, where the Company is active, on micro 
and macro basis, and diversifying its decisions on 
these details as appropriate to the commercial benefit.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

In line with recent developments in the local 
and global aviation industry, Turkish Airlines 
experiences an accelerated growth in the 
number of its destinations, its fleet size, and as a 
result, the number of employees.

3,056 new employees including 1,228 cabin 
crew members, 621 flight crew members, 778 
domestic ground personnel, as well as 10 
international assignments and 419 international 
ground personnel were recruited in 2015 in line 
with the Company’s need for human resources.

22,030 people are employed by Turkish Airlines 
as of year-end 2015. The average employee age 
is 34,2; and 46% of staff are women, and 54% 
are men. Relying on its young human resources, 
Turkish Airlines, already recognized as the best 
airline in Europe, looks to the future confidently 
on its path to become the world’s best airline.

Company staff consists of flight and cabin crew 
members as well as ground personnel. Flight and 
cabin crew members account for 20% and 39% 
of our current human resources, whereas ground 
personnel represent the remaining 41%.

In 2015, the average length of employee service 
at the Company was 6.4 years, while personnel 
number per aircraft was 74.

Turkish Airlines, the leading airline in the country 
and one of the major airlines worldwide, makes 
continued efforts to render “human factor,” the 
most important asset of the Company, more 
effective and valuable in every aspect.

EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT HUMAN 
RESOURCES POLICY
Turkish Airlines human resources policy aims to 
ensure employment of qualified personnel who 
perform their duties in an effective and efficient 
way, adhering to professional and ethical rules, 
as well as sustainability of their qualifications, 
in line with the Company’s strategic plans and 
targets.

To that end, the implementation areas of 
our human resources policy include human 
resources planning, draw-up of job descriptions, 
creation of “corporate culture and awareness”, 
recruitment of new personnel, performance 
management; training and development; 
personnel affairs, social and economic rights; 
employee satisfaction, work order, discipline and 
recognition. Besides this policy, staff members 
are responsible for complying with the applicable 
laws, regulations and legislation as part of 
their job descriptions within the organizational 
structure.

TEAM SPIRIT
Turkish Airlines aims to provide all of its 
employees around the world with a transparent 
working environment that supports creativity and 
team spirit and allows for personal development 
so that our corporate targets are internalized at 
every level and ideas can be exchanged freely. 

The Company provides significant social 
benefits to increase employee satisfaction and 
engagement, including a wide service network; 
private health insurance for staff members and 

3,056 new 
employees including 
1,228 cabin crew 
members, 621 flight 
crew members, 778 
domestic ground 
personnel, as well 
as 10 international 
assignments and 
419 international 
ground personnel 
were recruited in 
2015 in line with the 
Company’s need for 
human resources.

22,030 people are employed by 
Turkish Airlines as of year-end 2015.
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We ensure engagement of all levels of our 
organization and all stakeholders for improvement 
of occupational health and safety performance. 
We also establish an open dialog with our 
employees, suppliers and the local community 
on occupational health and safety issues for 
current and future activities; and take necessary 
corrective actions in line with the concerns 
raised by our customers, employees, suppliers 
and public.

Our Company identifies all occupational health 
and safety risks associated with our activities, 
and develops action plans to minimize such risks 
in order to prevent occupational accidents and 
diseases. We also ensure continuous monitoring 
and availability of preventive medicine services 
at working environment, and establish the 
necessary infrastructure for creating a healthy 
and a safe work environment for our employees, 
sub-contractors and visitors. We always make 
sure that personnel working in critical functions 
are physically and medically ready to perform 
respective operations and that we are prepared 
against emergencies and in close contact with 
National Emergency Response Units.

private health insurance discounts for their 
families; allowances for birth, nursing, death and 
marriage; kindergarten service or kindergarten 
allowance for female employees with dependent 
children; free or discounted domestic/
international flight opportunities; visa facilities; 
and contract accommodation opportunities all 
around the world.

TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES
Turkish Airlines made effective investments in 
employee development and entered into graduate 
program agreements with several universities 
including Istanbul Technical University and 
Yıldız Technical University. These academic 
agreements are intended to enable employees to 
attend evening courses or day courses by taking 
administrative leave in order to complete their 
academic programs and develop their careers.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Turkish Airlines developed its Occupational 
Health and Safety Policy to bring its employees, 
customers, sub-contractors, investors, and all 
business partners and shareholders together 
to pursue a common goal aligned with the 
Company’s missions and common values, by 
considering national and international regulations 
and good practices as well as business ethics.

In line with this policy, the Company acts in 
compliance with all national, statutory and other 
rules as well as the international regulations 
in aviation industry regarding occupational 
health and safety. The Company always prefers 
equipment and organizations with the minimum 
risk level to protect the health and safety 
of employees in planning of new business 
investments, expansion of fleet size, and 
improvement of the technological infrastructure. 
Precautions are taken to minimize the noise 
level produced by the aircraft at the fleet, 
and continuous efforts are made to raise the 
awareness and consciousness of our employees 
and all stakeholders about occupational health 
and safety.

CONTINIOUS IMPROVEMENT
Our occupational health and safety performance 
is monitored and measured constantly, and 
efforts are made to improve our performance 
by considering the best practices around the 
world. As required by applicable management 
procedures, our corporate policies are regularly 
reviewed and implemented in line with 
occupational health and safety targets and 
continuous improvement programs.

In line with our target to become the best 
airline in Europe and a 5-star airline, we develop 
innovative solutions and projects for more 
effective use of human resources, which play 
the biggest part in accomplishment of this target.

Accordingly, we have taken several steps to 
develop our existing Performance Management 
System. In 2015, we took some actions to utilize 
our Performance Management System more 
effectively and efficiently. SAP - Performance 
Management Module was put into use in order to 
integrate the Performance Management System 
with SAP - Human Resources Module.
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QUALITY AND CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY

Turkish Airlines continues to provide services 
beyond customer expectations without 
compromising on customer satisfaction, while 
taking necessary steps to eliminate possible 
negative effects of increasing passenger volume, 
and prefers technologies and methods with 
minimum negative impact on the environment 
in planning of new business investments, 
expansion of fleet size and improvement of 
technological infrastructure of the Company.

QUALITY POLICY
Turkish Airlines effective quality system plays 
an important role in the Company’s consistent 
commercial, financial and operational rise and 
continued success. 

Turkish Airlines Quality System aims to:
 ↗ ensure conduct of aviation operations 

directly involving our customers in 
accordance with the strictest safety and 
security regulations set by national and 
international civil aviation authorities,

 ↗ ensure that services offered to customers 
meet at least the minimum standards 
promised by the Company.

 ↗ assure sustainability of management 
maturity at a level to provide the best 
service to customers with the most 
reasonable delivery times,

 ↗ achieve and maintain a service quality 
that aims to go beyond meeting customer 
expectations and exceed them.

 
Turkish Airlines constantly monitors the 
underlying business processes that lead 
to service quality perceived by customers. 
Hundreds of audits were conducted to serve the 
purposes of Turkish Airlines Quality System.

With respect to services offered to customers, 
Turkish Airlines takes all products and services 
provided by its suppliers and subcontractors no 
different than its own services. Any third-party 
products and services to be offered to Turkish 
Airlines customers should meet the quality 
standards promised by the Company.

Turkish Airlines controls the minimum 
requirements for any outsourced products and 
services offered to Turkish Airlines customers 
directly or indirectly. In 2015, all outsourced 
products and services in every field of operation 
was inspected to make sure that they meet 
Turkish Airlines service standards.
 
EXCELLENT QUALITY
Turkish Airlines underwent many audits for 
safe and secure operation conditions and the 
management systems in place by several 
institutions, including national and international 
civil aviation authorities in particular. Turkish 
Airlines successfully completed all audits, 
obtaining enhanced operational authorizations 
and management system certifications, which 
guarantee the Company’s sustainable success.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Turkish Airlines holds ISO 9001 Quality 
Management System Certificate since 
2006, which proves the maturity of our 
business processes and the solid base of our 
management system. Our Quality Management 
System, which was revalidated with 
recertification inspections conducted in 2015, 
serves a one of the most powerful management 
tools with systematic continuous improvements 
that add value to both our business processes 
and our customers.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
In 2015, Turkish Airlines added TS EN ISO 10002 
Quality Management-Customer Satisfaction 
System to other management systems in place, 
which represent a milestone in the Company’s 
customer feedback management with the 
Customer Satisfaction Management System, 
Turkish Airlines is able to process customer 
complaints about passenger transport services 
more systematically, effectively and efficiently. 
Moreover, thanks to a deeper insight obtained 
from customer feedback, fact-based inputs will 
be provided for any actions taken to improve 
products and services.

Turkish Airlines 
effective quality 
system plays an 
important role in 
the Company’s 
consistent 
commercial, 
financial and 
operational rise and 
continued success.

MEASURABLE FUEL SAVINGS IN 2015 (TON)

Piloting Practices 37,783

Flight Planning/Dispatch -14,260

Technical/Maintenance Operations 1,607

Ground Operations/Weight Reduction 2,058

Total Fuel Saving 27,187

CO2 Emission Reduction 85,639
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and security as well as the investments made; 
also contributed to reduction of Turkey’s average 
finding rating, a success which is recognized 
with Certificate of Appreciation presented by the 
Directorate General of Civil Aviation.

FUEL MANAGEMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
Although advancements in technology make 
many aspects of our everyday lives increasingly 
convenient, they also pose more and more risks 
on the nature and environment every day. The 
greenhouse gas emissions produced by many 
advanced industries not only cause pollution, but 
also play a significant role in climate change.

Turkish Airlines takes necessary steps to do its 
part in order to eliminate the adverse effects 
of increasing passenger numbers on the 
environment. With an environmental policy that 
focuses on flight safety and security, Turkish 
Airlines aims and strives to achieve the most 
efficient fuel consumption on its flights and use 
natural resources in the most effective manner 
in order to leave a cleaner and more livable 
environment for future generations.

SAFETY POLICY
At Turkish Airlines, safety is the number one 
priority at all levels of the organization. Safety 
is an indispensable and integral part of our 
corporate values that may never compromised. 
Employees across all levels of the organization 
are committed to safety and do their best 
to meet and improve the best practices and 
standards in the industry.

Turkish Airlines announces safety principles that 
have been internalized as an indispensable part 
of the service offered through its safety policy, 
and provides every possible resource to promote 
a culture of safety.
 
SAFA RATING 0.252
Turkish Airlines obtained IATA Operational Safety 
Audit (IOSA) in 2005 for the first time and the 
certificate, which is renewed every two years, 
means that Turkish Airlines is internationally 
certified by IATA as a safe air carrier. Beyond 
holding an IOSA Certificate, Turkish Airlines 
success is based primarily on our safe 
and reliable operations, which meet IOSA 
requirements.

Turkish Airlines closed the year 2015 with a SAFA 
rating of 0.252, which is determined as a result 
of the audits carried out among the members of 
Safety Assessment of Foreign Aircraft (SAFA) 
program run by European Aviation Safety Agency 
(EASA). Thus, our Company achieved the lowest 
SAFA rating for the last five years with a 12% 
improvement compared to the previous year. This 
rating represents a fairly successful result in 
comparison to the European average of 0.55.

Management of national and international 
relations more effectively as well as 
implementation of Safety Assessment of 
Company Aircraft (SACA) program on the 
Company’s aircraft by following the same method 
with the SAFA program significantly contributed 
to this success. This rating, which is the result 
of our strong commitment to operational safety 

ENVIRONMENTAL & OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 
AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
Turkish Airlines obtained ISO 14001 Environment 
Management System and OHSAS 18001 
Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System certifications in 2013, and implements 
these two management systems with a sense 
of social responsibility, adopting a systematic 
approach in all business activities which is 
sensitive on environmental issues, ensures 
health and safety of all stakeholders, identifies 
and manages risks and predicts emergencies 
and takes necessary measures. 

Safety is the number one priority across all 
levels of Turkish Airlines organization.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

BRAND AWARENESS AND BRAND VALUE
In parallel with the growth in fleet size, number 
of destinations and revenue, Turkish Airlines’ 
brand awareness and brand value increase as 
well. According to a global brand awareness 
and perception survey conducted in 2015, 
the Company has a strong position with 64% 
share among the world’s best known and most 
powerful brands (Nielsen, Brand Health Survey, 
December 2015). According to a Brand Finance 
survey, our brand value reached US$ 2.2 billion 
by the end of 2015.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Turkey’s national flag carrier Turkish Airlines 
is also a leading company in corporate social 
responsibility. Turkish Airlines strives to embrace 
all segments of society, with the highest priority 
given to children, and supports projects in the 
fields of culture and art, environment, sports and 
health. The Company, as an integral part and a 
contributing member of the society we live in 
and our country, is always sensitive to society’s 
needs.

TOSIDO
Touristanbul, Simulators and Turkish Do & Co 
(TOSIDO), a traditional Turkish Airlines event, 
hosted more than 200 disadvantaged children at 
its facilities in 2015 with special food packages 
prepared by Turkish Do&Co. The children also 
took a tour in Turkish Airline’s flight center and 
rode on the simulator. The children observed the 
drop of oxygen masks in case of emergencies 
while some of them had the opportunity to 
enter the cockpit and act as a pilot for a short 
time. After having lunch in a special venue, 
the children visited historical and cultural sites 
in Istanbul, and returned filled with the joy of 
participating in a delightful event memorialized 
with a souvenir photo.

Istanbul Heroes 
Followed admiringly by our little guests of 7-10 
age group each month and teaching while 
entertaining them during their travels, 100,000 
Miles & Smiles Heroes magazines were handed 
out to various schools in coordination with 
Provincial Directorate of National Education.

Turkish Airlines Sustainability Report
Turkish Airlines, Turkey’s national flag carrier and 
the “Best Airline in Europe” for five consecutive 
years, published its first “Sustainability Report” 
prepared in line with Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI4) standards. The report covers Turkish 
Airlines’ sustainability agenda in 2014, its 
successes in this field and the Company’s 
future goals and objectives; and assesses 
Turkish Airlines’ performance with regard to 
the environment, economy and social issues 
in accordance with international criteria and 
indicators accepted industry-wide.

Turkish Red Crescent
In collaboration with Kızılay, 150,000 units of 
blood, 2,500 units of “Koleman”, and 25,000 units 
of “Test Tube Transfer Box” were transported 
during a year. In addition, cargo support is 
provided during emergencies and disasters. 
Turkish Airlines employees regularly participate in 
blood donation campaigns every year.

Sustainable Energy Panel for 
10 Medical Centers in Africa
Turkish Airlines, supporting and realizing 
sustainable projects, donated 10 solar panels 
to meet the needs of medical centers in rural 
Nigeria and Uganda. Additionally, the Company 
supported the restoration of medical centers, as 
well as vaccine storage cabinets in the centers 
for better preservation of supplies and equipment 
with all the necessary clinical materials.

One Million Young Trees in Anatolia
One million young trees have been planted 
in various cities in Anatolia during 2014 and 
2015 in order to address climate change and 
slow down the carbon emissions that threaten 
future generations. Some of these events, 
organized with the full support of Turkish Airlines 
employees, are carried out with children from 
the villages and schools. During these events, 
gifts are presented and entertaining activities are 
organized for children.
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SPONSORSHIPS

Football 
Turkish Airlines provides sponsorship to Class a 
National Football Team and Beşiktaş, Fenerbahçe, 
Galatasaray, Bursaspor and Trabzonspor clubs; 
all of which have many championships. The 
Company also has sponsorship agreements 
with Europe’s successful German club, Borussia 
Dortmund, and France’s long-established club 
Olympique Marseille.

Golf
Turkish Airlines Open Golf Tournament took place 
in Antalya between October 29 and November 
1, 2015. Organized with the participation of 
the most successful and renowned players 
worldwide, Turkish Airlines Open – which is one 
of the four most important tournaments in the 
European Tour Calendar – enabled us to reach 
more than 425 million people in 45 countries on 
six continents. The Turkish Airlines World Global 
Cup, an amateur tournament organized especially 
for corporate customers, brought together 
approximately 5,000 customers from  
70 destinations in 2015.

Turkish Airlines Received a Corporate 
Partnership Award from CSR Turkey
Turkish Airlines attended Enterprise 2023 
Summit, organized by the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Association of Turkey, the local 
partner of CSR Europe. The summit brought 
private sector, public institutions and non-
governmental organizations together to discuss 
present-day issues such as unemployment, 
climate change, depletion of resources, financial 
crises and risk of demographic changes by 
experts in their fields. Social responsibility 
activities of Turkey’s leading companies were 
presented at the fair where Turkish Airlines 
received the “Corporate Partnership” award.

Free Cargo Transport During Disaster 
Emergency Situations
In 2015, more than 100 tons of cargo were carried 
free of charge within the framework of disaster 
emergency situations and social responsibility 
activities. In addition, our employees voluntarily 
helped hundreds of people during disasters such 
as the earthquake in Nepal.

Aircraft Decoration for Breast Cancer
An exhibition titled “The Traces of Life in the Sky”, 
covering poems and sky photographs of Turkish 
Airlines pilots, was organized in commemoration 
of women who lost their lives due to breast 
cancer. As a further step of awareness 
campaign, a pink ribbon was fitted on one of 
our aircraft as a symbol of breast cancer, and 
an action was initiated to raise awareness with 
leaflets reaching to our passengers.

WE’R from Turkey
“WE’R from Turkey”, positioned as an evangelist 
brand, is a project targeting fundamentally 
to promote Anatolian customs and culture 
internationally. The most important step of the 
project is to create product groups consisting 
of traditional Anatolian products and promoting 
those globally under the umbrella of one brand. 
The project is planned to include 24 food 
varieties in the first phase, which is followed by 
addition of non-food items in product family.

Basketball
Approximately 250 matches were played on the 
Turkish Airlines Euro league with the participation 
of 24 European teams in 2015, reaching 1.6 billion 
audiences in 190 countries worldwide. In addition, 
Turkish Airlines Final Four was held in Madrid 
from May 8 to May 10, 2015. Turkish Airlines also 
sponsored Class a National Basketball Team and 
the Japanese Basketball League BJ League.

Rugby
Turkish Airlines signed prime sponsorship 
agreements under European Rugby Champions 
Cup and European Rugby Challenge Cup 
organized by European Professional Rugby Club 
(EPC).

Riding
We sponsored one of the most important world 
equestrian festivals in the world, the FEI Chio 
Aachen, which took place this year in July.
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Cycling
The Presidential Cycling Tour in 2015 was 
organized under the sponsorship of Turkish 
Airlines.

Tennis
In 2015, the Porsche Tennis Grand Prix, 
considered the world’s most important women’s 
tennis event, was sponsored by Turkish Airlines, 
reaching numerous tennis lovers.

Turkish Airlines Publishing, Management 
Series
In 2015, 10 books under the Management Series, 
including Mindware, The Business of Influence, 
Disciplined Entrepreneurship, The Second 
Machine Age, Leading Digital, The Culture Map, 
How to Win Global Markets, Big Data @ Work, 
Contagious and The Manager, were published 
and placed in bookstores.

Art and Culture
Turkish Airlines sponsored many cultural and 
artistic activities, including Ertuğrul Movie, 
Antalya Golden Orange Film Festival, Boğaziçi Film 
Festival, Antalya Piano Festival, Montreal Jazz 
Festival, Partnership with Mozart Foundation, 
Partnership with Europalia, Frankfurt Book Fair, 
Expo Milan Turkish Pavilion and Oslo World Music 
Festival in 2015.

OUR ADVERTISING CAMPAIGNS

”Epic Food”
In December 2014, world-famous football stars 
Lionel Messi and Didier Drogba were brought 
together for an advertising campaign. The TV 
commercial was aired until the end of January 
2015 in all countries. 

“Fly Africa”
The “Fly Africa” commercial, which communicates 
the strength of our extensive flight network 
through the flying passion of children in Africa, 
was aired on 169 TV channels in 14 different 
countries.

“Never Give Up”
The “Never Give Up” Campaign, produced within 
the scope of a general image campaign in Turkey, 
was aired on all TV channels in June.

“What Makes a Didier”
“What Makes a Didier” campaign was produced 
with Didier Drogba; the commercial was 
broadcast on 62 TV channels, in 10 countries on 
three continents, with further potential for Africa.

SOCIAL MEDIA MANAGEMENT
Turkish Airlines attends to all customer 
complaints and requests and provides service 
24/7 via Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, YouTube, 
LinkedIn and Google+ accounts in Turkish and 
English. In 2016, the service will be extended 
with the French, German and Arabic languages 
as well. Turkish Airlines has 7,571,776 Facebook 
followers, 1,035,471 Twitter followers and 106,993 
YouTube followers as of December 31, 2015.

Turkish Airlines was 
granted “Corporate 
Partnership” award 
in Enterprise 2013 
Summit, organized 
by Corporate Social 
Responsibility 
Association, the 
branch of CSR 
Europe in Turkey.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 
The following risk factors are defined under 
the financial risk management policies of the 
Company by taking a healthy cash flow and 
liquidity in the future as basic principle:

 ↗ Detention of business objective determined 
due to the variations in short, medium and 
long term cash position and investment 
portfolio: cash flow risk,

 ↗ Financial effect of the variations in the 
prices of certificates of the jet fuel and 
carbon emission: commodity price risk,

 ↗ Financial effect of the variations in the 
market value of the aircraft financing, debts 
in foreign currency and cash, upon the 
change of interest rates: interest rate risk,

 ↗ Obtainment of foreign currency values at 
different rates with respect to income and 
expense calculations: foreign exchange risk,

 ↗ Any losses, which may occur in the future 
due to the fact that counter parties go 
into default with respect to the deposits 
and derivative transactions performed 
with domestic and international financial 
institutions: counter-party risk. 

Primarily, natural hedge methods are applied 
in order for management of such risks. In any 
cases where such approach cannot be applied, 
the hedging transactions in the derivative 
markets are performed through the strategies 
developed with respect to possible fluctuations 
in the commodity prices, exchange rates 
and interest rates for the hedging purposes. 
Any applicable strategies are followed by the 
Treasury and Risk Management Committee 
in order to hedge the Company, and any 
improvements and developments required for 
such strategies are carried out continuously 
by taking into account variations in market 
conditions.

CASH FLOW RISK MANAGEMENT
Considering the medium and long term cash 
inflows and outflows, any possible risks, which 
may prevent the Company from achieving its 
business objectives, and which may arise from 
any changes in the investment portfolio and 
cash position, are called as cash flow risk. Since 
the financial transactions performed in the airline 
industry have a much longer course than many 
industries, a healthy cash management policy 
is one of items, to which the Company pays 
attention sensitively.

Forward-looking Cash Flow Forecast, updated 
each month on the basis of Euro, US$ Dollar and 
Turkish Lira, is carried out for the purpose of 
efficient management of financial risks through 
the medium and long-term liquidity within the 
organization of the Company. It is ensured that 
the forecast of the Company for the exchange 
rates and fuel prices are updated under such 
cash flow forecast, and that any data forming 
a basis for the Cash Flow Forecast are kept 
up-to-date and healthy; and the Cash Flow 
Forecasts prepared is submitted to the Treasury 
and Risk Management Committee, and it is 
intended to form a basis for any investment and 
financing resolutions to be adopted. In addition, 
any estimated data available in such Cash Flow 
Forecast are compared with the actual data 
every month, and any required analyses are 
carried out accordingly.

Cash Flow Forecast, 
updated each month 
on the basis of 
Euro, US$ Dollar 
and Turkish Lira, is 
carried out for the 
purpose of efficient 
management of 
financial risks 
through the medium 
and long-term 
liquidity within the 
organization of the 
Company.
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COMMODITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Fuel Price Risk Management
The Company uses Swap and option based 
derivative instruments are used in order to 
mitigate effect of the fluctuations, occurring in 
the fuel prices, on the jet fuel cost, and to ensure 
the control of costs within a certain collar or 
determination thereof by fixing at a single price. 
The Company pays attention to, and monitors the 
development of the crude oil and jet fuel prices 
in the past and the crude oil and jet fuel prices 
expected in the future, and correlations thereof 
and prices fluctuations in order for decrease the 
fluctuations to be caused by the fluctuations, 
occurring in the fuel markets, on the profitability 
and cash flow. The Company performs hedging 
transactions on gradual basis by means of the 
Swap, 2-Barrier, 3-Barrier (top-limit) and 4-Barrier 
Costless Collar derivative instruments, in a 
manner to use certain instrument in the certain 
price ranges, through the contract amounts 
targeting approximately 50% of the amount of jet 
fuel consumption of the next month during the 
process covering the 24 months. The Company 
ceases the relevant actions in the event that 
market prices exceeds certain levels, and that 
such price levels are expected not to be hedged 
on long-term basis.

Any structural changes occurring in the fuel 
prices and market dynamics in parallel with the 
recent developments with respect to the global 
economy are monitored closely. Developments in 
the fuel market and any other strategies, applied 
in the aviation industry in order not to become 
different from the market, are also assessed, 
and a hedging methodology for fuel price risk is 
determined, and any activities for any updates to 
be performed in the future period are maintained 
accordingly.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Carbon Emission Risk Management
Aviation industry has been included in European 
Union Carbon Emission Trading System (EU-ETS) 
as of January 1, 2012. Thus, the Company has 
become obliged to comply with the EU-ETS 
regulations like any other airline companies 
operating flights to Europe.

In the event that airlines exceed the upper limit 
of carbon emission provided to them by the 
emission authorities, to which they report, then 
such airlines are required to purchase carbon 
credit from the market based on such system. 
Accordingly, the Company has developed any 
relevant strategies in order to perform hedging 
transactions with respect to obtaining carbon 
credit, and has carried out any required planning 
for use of derivative instrument, if and when 
required.

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
As part of management of interest rate risks, 
the Company regularly monitors and analyzes 
interest rate markets, determines the structure 
of corporate indebtedness, conducts interest 
rate sensitivity and weighted average maturity 
analyses and keeps track of potential cost 
variations due to interest rates. In order 
to manage the interest rate risk; hedging 
transactions are performed by keeping the 
interest rates for loans either at a fixed level or 
between certain limits (collars) for a portion of 
the debt portfolio until the due date of the loan.

On the other hand, the Company prioritizes 
the cash flow planning, and manages the 
interest rate risk, occurring as a consequence 
of assessment of cash on hand on yield-driven 
basis, by trying to keep the maturity and return 
relationship at the optimum level.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT 
Variation risk, which may occur in the cash 
flows and incomes of the Company due to any 
possible fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, 
is called as foreign exchange risk. In respect of 
the Company, which earns a significant portion 
of its incomes on the basis of EUR, and which 
performs a major portion of its expenses on the 
basis of US$ and TRY, foreign exchange rates, 
which had fluctuations in the past, and which 
are expected to maintain such fluctuating course 
in the next period, pose a risk due to the said 
reasons. 

It is intended to ensure that the composition of 
the currencies in the incomes and expenses 
occur at close rates for the purpose of 
management of the foreign exchange risk; 
accordingly, it is intended to mitigate the effect 
of the fluctuations, which may occur in the 
exchange rates. In accordance with any and 
all contracts executed by and between the 
Company, the distribution of foreign exchange 
rates for incomes and expenses are intended 
to be balanced while determining the foreign 
exchange rate constituting a basis for the 
contract; thus, natural hedging methods are 
primarily applied under the methodology for 
foreign exchange risk management. Accordingly, 
the tickets of the international flights, departing 
from Turkey, were stopped to be charged on the 
basis of EUR in May 2015, and were started to 
be charged on the basis of US$. Thus, the rate 
of US$ in the income was increased while the 
rate of EUR was decreased, and the income and 
expense distribution was balanced accordingly.

Structural changes 
in the fuel prices 
and market 
dynamics in parallel 
with the recent 
developments 
concerning global 
economy are 
monitored closely.
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COUNTER PARTY RISK MANAGEMENT
Any various measures for the credit risk, 
which may occur with respect to the financial 
institutions in the future, are taken for the 
purpose of ensuring that the effect of the global 
crisis, which continues to affect the national 
economies, on the domestic an international 
financial institutions and on the Company, 
performing transactions under many titles, 
remains limited. In respect of the deposit and 
derivative transactions thereof, an approach, 
which may mitigate the long-term counter risk, 
and which includes equal and objective criteria 
for each institution, is adopted. In particular, any 
relevant contracts are executed with the financial 
institutions against the credit risk, which may 
arise from any derivative transactions.

While performing the deposit and derivative 
transactions, the credit risk rating, which is 
determined by the international credit rating 
agencies with respect to financial institutions, 
is taken into account, and it is preferred not to 
perform any transactions with the institutions 
being below the threshold credit risk rating. It is 
collaborated with the financial institution, being 
above the threshold value, within the limits 
designated based on the risk levels determined 
in accordance with the methodology for 
assessment of the credit risk. Also, in the event 
that credit ratings of the financial institutions and 
such limits are updated periodically, or that credit 
rating of any financial institution decreases, or 
that the relevant insurance premiums (CDS) 
increases, then the strategy for monitoring any 

On the other hand, it is observed that the 
Company is in the long position in EUR while 
it is in the short position in US$ and TRY even 
after the natural hedging practices. Such 
financial risks, which may arise from potential 
negative fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, 
are intended to minimize by using derivative 
transactions. To that end, EUR, US$ and TRY 
currency positions anticipated for each month 
are established based on the Company’s 
monthly-updated forward-looking cash flow 
forecast, and it is intended to be hedged against 
foreign exchange risk by using derivative 
products. In respect of closing US$ open 
positions by selling EUR, any one of the Swap, 
2-Barrier Collar, 3-Barrier Collar and 4-Barrier 
Collar instruments, which is appropriate for the 
market conditions, is used in a manner to cover 
the next 24-month period. In respect of TRY 
open position, Swap instrument is used, and 
EUR is sold at a fixed rate and TRY is bought 
in a manner to cover the next 24-month period. 
In respect of the transactions, it is intended to 
achieve the hedging rate for the portion, varying 
at the range of 25%-35%, of US$ short position 
and for the portion of 30% of TRY short position 
within the next month following the current 
month; and the hedging rates, decreasing 
gradually, are intended to be achieved for the 
subsequent months.

transactions in relation to such on very close 
basis is taken as basis. In the event that credit 
rating decreases below the limits determined, 
then it is also in question to take into account the 
option for cease of the transactions with such 
financial institution by the Company on unilateral 
basis.

In respect of management of the credit risk, 
which may arise from using derivative product, 
of the Company, “Framework Agreement for 
Derivatives” are executed with the domestic 
financial institutions while “International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association” (ISA) and any other 
required agreements are executed with the 
international financial institutions. In particular, 
any matters for credit risk management are 
regulated under any separate agreement called 
as “Credit Support Annex” (CSA). Credit risk 
is mitigated by performing guarantee netting 
transactions within the certain periods based on 
such agreement.

Any structural changes in the fuel prices and 
market dynamics are monitored closely.

Any various measures for the credit risk, 
which may occur with respect to the financial 
institutions in the future, are taken for the 
purpose of ensuring that the effect of the global 
crisis, which continues to affect the national 
economies, on the domestic an international 
financial institutions and on Turkish Airlines, 
performing transactions under many titles, 
remains limited.
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ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

SVP, Quality Assurance SVP, Corporate Safety

Chief Human Resources Officer Chief Commercial OfficerChief Financial Officer

SVP, Personnel Management SVP, CargoSVP, Finance

SVP, Human Resources SVP, Ground OperationsSVP, Accounting and Financial 
Control

SVP, General PurchasingSVP, Training SVP, Regional Flights

SVP, Catering and In-Flight 
Products

SVP, Social & Administrative 
Affairs

Senior Vice President, 
Crew Planning

SVP, Technical SVP, Flight Training

SVP, Subsidiaries, 
JVs & Associates
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SVP, Security SVP, Media Relations

Chief Marketing and Sales Officer Chief Corporate Development 
and IT OfficerChief Flight Operations Officer Chief Investment and Technology 

Officer

SVP, Corporate Marketing and 
Distribution Channels SVP, Customer SolutionsSVP, Flight Operations 

(Chief Pilot) SVP, Investment Management

CVP, Corporate Communication SVP, Strategic ProjectsSVP, Cabin Crew Managing SVP, International Relations and 
Alliances

SVP, Production Planning SVP, Corporate Innovation and 
Projects

SVP, Integrated Operations 
Control

SVP, Corporate and Operational 
Solutions

SVP, Revenue Management SVP, IT Strategy and Governance

SVP, Sales (1st Region)

SVP, Marketing SVP, Infrastructure and 
Operations

SVP, Sales (Domestic)

SVP, Inspection Board

Chief of Staff

Manager Private Office

SVP, Legal

CEO

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

SVP, Sales (2nd Region)
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also fulfilling the obligations for disclosure in 
compliance with any and all kinds of regulations, 
within the organization of Turkish Airlines.

In 2015, Investor Relations Management 
participated in 17 investor conferences and 
roadshows in order to share any financial, 
operational and strategical developments 
in relation to the Company with investors 
and analysts, and performed more than 20 
teleconferences and also held one Investor Day 
Webcast meeting. Also, many roadshows have 
been organized for the purpose of introducing 
the Company to the investors, investing in fixed 
income securities, before issuance of debt 
instrument for aircraft financing performed by 
the Company in March 2015, and participation 
in bond/loan investor conferences was ensured 
for such purpose. During such conferences and 
teleconferences, it was convened with the 435 
investors/analysts from 270 corporates and 
funds, at the head office of the Company and at 
the offices of the investors. Approximately 2.000 
applications were received by the Company by 
e-mail within the accounting period 2015 for the 
purpose of obtaining information. Besides the 
applications received by e-mail, many investors 
and shareholders were also informed by means 
of the telephone. The Management submitted 
the report for the activities it conducted in 2015 
to the Board of Directors of the Company on 
26.02.2016 for information purposes.

Contact info of the Investor Relations 
Management staff is provided below:

Duygu İnceöz
Investor Relations Manager
Licenses:

 ↗ Capital Market Activities  
Advanced Level License

 ↗ Corporate Governance Rating  
Specialists License

Telephone: +90 212 463 6363 Ext: 13630
E-mail: duyguinceoz@thy.com

Özge Şahin
Investor Relations Supervisor
Telephone: +90 212 463 6363 Ext: 11841
E-mail: ozges@thy.com

1. Statement of Compliance with Corporate 
Governance Principles
The Company, which aims at introducing and 
representing Turkey and Turkish aviation 
industry on international basis and in the best 
possible manner, and which has adopted 
the transparency, fairness, responsibility and 
accountability as a principle, complies with any 
and all mandatory principles, prescribed under 
the Corporate Governance Principles attached to 
the Capital Markets Board (SPK) Communiqué n.II-
17.1 on Corporate Governance, and pays utmost 
attention to comply with the non-mandatory 
principles thereof. Sections 4.2.5, 4.2.8, 4.3.9, 
4.5.1 and 4.5.5 are non-mandatory Corporate 
Governance Principles, which are not applied 
by the Company, and the reasons thereof are 
specified in the relevant parts of the report.

The Company keeps carrying out any activities 
for continuous development of Corporate 
Governance approach and for enhancement 
of the level of compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Principles. In 2015, Sustainability 
Reporting was carried out for the first time 
within the organization of the Company, and 
any improvable matters with respect to all 
stakeholders were identified during such 
process. Accordingly, any and all Company 
policies, systems, procedures and documents 
such as “Code of Conduct Manual”, which 
are included in the subjects of Corporate 
Governance, have been reviewed, and any 
actions for revision thereof have been started to 
be taken for such purpose.

PART I – SHAREHOLDERS

2. Investor Relations Department 
There is an Investor Relations Management 
directly reporting to Coşkun Kılıç, Chief Financial 
Officer, which has been established in order 
to operate with respect to informing any 
domestic and foreign investors in a correctly 
and consistent manner and on time, and 
ensuring the communication and information 
exchange between the Board of Directors and 
the regulators and participants of the capital 
markets, and observing the compliance with 
the regulations and Articles of Association with 
respect to exercise of shareholding rights, and 

Can Aslankan
Investor Relations Specialist
Telephone: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 12195
E-mail: caslankan@thy.com

Mehmet Fatih Korkmaz
Investor Relations Specialist
Telephone: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 12187
E-mail: korkmazmehmet@thy.com

3. Exercise of the Right to Information 
by the Shareholders
Investor Relations Department of the Company 
replies any requests for information and any 
questions, delivered thereto by the shareholders 
and any other stakeholders by means of different 
communication channels, by using the most 
efficient means of communication as soon as 
possible. On the other hand, there is Investor 
Relations web page (investor.turkishairlines.
com), which is accessible through the corporate 
web site of the Company in order for ensuring 
the efficient exercise of rights of shareholders 
to obtain information; and any investors and 
any other stakeholders may access any 
public financial and operational data, material 
disclosures and any and all announcements 
for exercise of the shareholding rights through 
such web site. Also, any persons/organizations, 
signing up the distribution list through the web 
site, may be informed about any up-to-date 
operational and financial disclosures by e-mail.

No regulation on request for assignment of 
specific auditor is available under the Articles 
of Association; however, no specific audit was 
requested in 2015.

4. Shareholders’ General Assembly Meetings 
Any regulations on Shareholders’ General 
Assembly Meetings of the Company, are 
specified under the Articles of Association 
publicly available on the website of Investor 
Relations of the Company.

Shareholders’ Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting, during which accounting and activities 
of 2014 were discussed, was held on 06.04.2015 
at VIP Meeting Room at the General Management 
Building situated at Atatürk Havalimanı 
Yeşilköy-Bakırköy/İstanbul, the principal office 
address of the Company. The shareholders, 
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exhaustive questions thereof in writing was 
available during the Shareholders’ General 
Assembly Meeting; however, no question 
required to be replied in writing was asked in 
such meeting. Any questions, asked by the 
shareholders in relation to the recognition 
transactions, short and long term receivables, 
financial risk management, the time of reflection 
of the positive effect of the drop in the oil prices 
to the Company, budget revision, the reason of 
non-performance of bonus share distribution and 
aircraft leased on short-term basis, were replied 
verbally. No agenda suggestion was submitted 
by the shareholders during the Shareholders’ 
General Assembly Meeting.

The minutes of the Shareholders’ General 
Assembly Meeting and the list of attendants 
are disclosed on such day through the Public 
Disclosure Platform, and submitted to the 
shareholders on the website of the Investor 
Relations of the Company and on the Electronic 
Shareholders’ General Assembly System for 
information purposes. The minutes of the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly Meeting of the 
previous years and any other documents are 
available on the website of the Investor Relations 
of the Company. The minutes, dated 06.04.2015, 
of the Shareholders’ General Assembly Meeting 
was promulgated in Trade Registry Gazette of 
Turkey (TRGT) dated 17.04.2015 and numbered 
8803.

Since there was no process, where favorable 
vote of the majority of the Members of the 
Board of Directors was sought for adoption 
of a resolution in the Meeting of the Board of 
Directors, and where the Shareholders’ General 
Assembly is consulted to adopt a resolution 
due to the dissenting votes of the Members, 
such an agenda item was not available in the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly Meeting. 

Information about the charitable donations 
incurred within the period in accordance with the 
Donation Policy adopted by the Shareholders’ 
General Assembly is provided through a separate 
agenda item during the Shareholders’ General 
Assembly Meeting. Total amount of donation 
performed for Turkish Airlines Sports Club of 
the Company in 2014 was TRY 145,776, and no 
other donation than such amount was available. 

representing TRY 1,068,909,942,545 (77.5%) of 
TRY 1,380,000,000 of the issued capital of the 
Company, attended the Shareholders’ Ordinary 
General Assembly Meeting, and any other 
stakeholders and press were not present at the 
meeting. The General Assembly Meeting was 
held physically and electronically in accordance 
with Turkish Commercial Code Nr. 6102 and the 
regulations of the CMB (Capital Markets Board).

The announcement and invitation for the 
Shareholders’ Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting was published on the Electronic 
General Assembly System and Public 
Disclosure Platform, which are available within 
the organization of the Merkezi Kayıt Kuruluşu 
(Central Registration Agency) as well as on 
the website of the investor relations 45 days 
before the date of meeting along with the 
notifications and disclosures required to be 
performed by the Company in accordance with 
the relevant regulations. Financial statements, 
consolidated financial statements, annual report 
of the board of directors, audit reports and profit 
distribution proposals by the board of directors 
were uploaded on the website of the Company 
before the date of General Assembly Meeting 
in compliance with the periods specified under 
the regulations in accordance with the Section 
397 of the TCC, and were submitted to the 
examination of the shareholders at the principal 
office and branches of the Company.

It was ensured that Members of the Board of 
Directors, any other concerned persons, any 
authorized persons responsible for preparation 
of the financial statements and auditors were 
present at the Shareholders’ General Assembly 
Meeting in order to provide required information 
and reply the questions in relation to the any 
specific matters in the agenda.

Any items on the agenda were submitted 
objectively and in detail through a clear and 
understandable method during the Shareholders’ 
General Assembly Meeting of the Company, and 
shareholders were provided with opportunity to 
convey their opinions and to ask any questions 
under equal circumstances.

The practice for replying the questions of the 
shareholders verbally and for replying the 

Donation Policy of the Company is submitted to 
the shareholders on the website of the Investor 
Relations of the Company for information 
purposes.

5. Voting Rights and Minority Rights 
Voting Rights are regulated under the Section 31 
of the Articles of Association as follows:

“Provided that the provisions of subparagraph 
6/d of these Articles of Association are reserved, 
each shareholders or their proxies present at the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly Meetings, either 
ordinary or extraordinary, shall be entitled to one 
vote for each share.”

In accordance with subparagraph 5 of section 14 
of the Articles of Association;

Any resolutions to be adopted by the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly with respect to 
the following matters shall be valid as long as 
the member, representing the group C shares, 
of the Board of Directors attend the meeting and 
cast favorable vote.

 ↗ Adoption of resolutions affecting the 
mission of the Company, specified under 
Section 3.1. of the Articles of Association, on 
negative basis;

 ↗ Submission of a suggestion to the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly for 
amendment to the Articles of Association;

 ↗ Increase of the capital;
 ↗ Approval of the transfer of the registered 

shares, and entry of such transfer process 
on the share ledger;

 ↗ Performance of any and all kinds of 
transactions, which exceed 5% of the total 
assets available in the last annual balance 
sheet, submitted to the Capital Markets 
Board by the Company on the basis of 
each agreement, and which concern the 
Company either directly or indirectly; and 
adoption of any and all kinds of resolutions, 
which will make the Company committed 
(i.e. if the share of the public share available 
in the capital of the Company decreases 
below 20%, this subparagraph shall become 
automatically void);

 ↗ Merger of the Company with any other 
companies, and dissolution or liquidation 
thereof;
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the provisions prescribed under the Articles 
of Associations, and such policy is available 
in the website of the Investor Relations of the 
Company and in the annual report of the Board 
of Directors. Profit distribution policy includes 
any minimum details in such an explicit manner 
that will enable the shareholders to estimate 
the procedures and principles for distribution of 
the profit to be obtained by the Company in the 
future periods, and is based on the adoption of 
a balanced policy between the interests of the 
shareholders and the Company.

TRY 1,819,259,536.- has been obtained as 
the net profit for the year/profit based on 
the consolidated financial statements for the 
accounting year of 2014, which are prepared in 
accordance with the Turkish Financial Reporting 
Standards (“TFRS”), and the net profit for the 
year/profit has been TRY 818,203,579.- in the 
legal records (the records kept in accordance 
with the Tax Procedure Law). Accordingly; it 
has been resolved, in the Shareholders’ General 
Assembly meeting held on 06.04.2015, that, 
since the losses, amounting to TRY 205,450,351.- 
remaining as a consequence of deduction of net 
profit of TRY 818,203,579 for the year/period, 
which is available in the legal records, from 
the losses of the previous years, amounting 
to TRY 1,023,653,930.-, cannot be subject of 
the profit distribution in the legal records, the 
net profit of TRY 1,819,259.,536.- for the year/
period, which has been obtained based on the 
financial statements prepared in compliance 
with the TFRS, shall be transferred to the profit 
of the previous years, which has been obtained 
based on the financial statements prepared in 
compliance with the TFRS, and that no profit 
distribution to the shareholders of the Company 
shall be performed for the year of 2014.

7. Transfer of Shares 
Any shares, held by the foreign shareholders, 
shall not be excess the 40% of the total issued 
capital of the Company in accordance with 
Section 6 “Nature of Shareholding” of the Articles 
of Association of the Company. In respect of the 
calculation of the shares, held by the foreign 
shareholders, the rate of foreignness within 
the shareholder, holding the non-public group A 
shares, shall also be taken into account.

 ↗ Adoption of resolutions for removal of any 
flight line or prominent decrease of the 
number of flights, within the exclusive 
market conditions or excluding the lines 
failing to meet even operation expenses by 
means of any other sources.

The privileges for the group C shares may 
be restricted only by the Supreme Board of 
Privatization or any other public institution, which 
will take over the duties of such Board.

The Company pays utmost attention to ensure 
the exercise of minority rights. In accordance 
with Section 10 of the Articles of Association, any 
shareholders holding the public group A shares 
may only be nominated to the Board of Directors 
provided that they are represented at the rate 
of minimum 2% of the total issued capital in the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly meeting during 
which the Members of Board of Directors are 
elected. 

The shareholders delivered no request for 
representation of minority in the management 
during the Shareholders’ Ordinary General 
Assembly meeting held in 2015, where the 
accounting and activities for 2014 were 
discussed. Also, there is no company, with which 
no relationship based on mutual interests is 
available, and cumulative voting method is not 
specified under the Articles of Association.

6. Right of Dividend 
The principles for determination and distribution 
of the distributable profit within the organization 
of the Company is regulated in Section 36 of the 
Articles of Association. There is no preferential 
status granted in respect of participation to the 
profit.

The time and method of payment of the profit 
shall be determined by the Shareholders’ 
General Assembly by taking into account the 
communiqués of the Capital Markets Board. 
Accordingly, profit distribution policy of the 
Company has been determined by taking into 
account the strategical targets, growth trend and 
financial need of the Company as well as the 
expectations of the shareholders in accordance 
with the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital 
Market Law, the relevant legal regulations and 

In accordance with Section 7 of the Articles 
of Association with respect to the transfer of 
shares; the process of the transfer of shares 
shall be subject to the provisions prescribed 
under the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital 
Markets Regulations and the Civil Aviation 
Regulations, and no provision, which would 
inconvenience and complicate the free transfer 
of shares by the shareholders, under the Articles 
of Association.

The nature of shareholding and any matters for 
transfer of shares are specified in the relevant 
sections of the Articles of Association, along 
with the implementation principles and reasons 
thereof, and they are accessible through 
the website of the Investor Relations of the 
Company.

PART II - PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND 
TRANSPARENCY

8. Disclosure Policy
Disclosure Policy has been established by 
the Board of Directors of the Company for 
the purpose of determination of the general 
principles and procedures for any information 
to be shared with the shareholders, investors, 
other participants of the capital markets and 
any other relevant stakeholders, and for the 
method, frequency and means to be used while 
sharing such information, as well as for any 
disclosures to the public, in accordance with 
the Material Events Communiqué by the Capital 
Markets Board (CMB), the Corporate Governance 
Communiqué, the relevant provisions prescribed 
under the Turkish Commercial Code (TCC) and 
the regulations of Borsa Istanbul (BIST).

In respect of implementation of the disclosure 
policy, it is essential to inform any and all 
stakeholders, consisting of the shareholders, 
investors, employees and customers, about any 
information, events and developments, which 
may affect the investment decisions of the 
investors, on equal grounds in a timely, accurate, 
complete, understandable and readily manner so 
as to be accessible at the lowest costs.

Accordingly, 64 Material Disclosures were 
performed by the Company in 2015, and no 
request for additional disclosures for such 
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Any information available on the website of the 
Investor Relations are also prepared in English 
language in a manner to be completely identical 
to the information in Turkish language for the 
purpose of enabling any international investors 
to benefit from such information. Investors 
may deliver any and all kinds of opinions 
and suggestions to the Investor Relations 
Management by means of the relevant form 
available under the heading of Opinions and 
Suggestions on the website of the Investor 
Relations of Turkish Airlines. Such investors are 
redirected to the e-mail address “ir@thy.com” in 
order to deliver any and all kinds of questions 
under the heading of Investors Contact. In 
addition, any persons/organizations, signing up 
the distribution list through the website, may be 
informed about any up-to-date operational and 
financial disclosures by e-mail.

The content, which is required to be available on 
the website in a dedicated manner pursuant to 
the “Regulation on Websites to Be Established 
by the Equity Companies”, dated 31.05.2013, of 
the Ministry of Customs and Trade, is accessible 
through the link “Information Society Services” 
available on the homepage of the website of the 
Company.

10. Annual Report
The annual report of the Company is prepared 
in a manner to enable the public access to 
complete and accurate information about the 
activities of the Company, and contains any and 
all information specified listed under the relevant 
regulations and Corporate Governance Principles.

PART III- STAKEHOLDERS

11. Disclosure to Stakeholders 
In addition to those prescribed under the 
statutory regulations and to the material 
disclosures, any other information and 
disclosures in relation to the Company, which are 
considered to concern any other stakeholders, 
are also disclosed in a timely and explanatory 
manner through the most appropriate means of 
communication. Shareholders and participants 
of capital markets as well as suppliers, financial 
institutions and all of the other stakeholders 
are informed continuously through the press 
releases, annual reports, sustainability reports, 

Material Disclosures have been submitted by 
CMB and BIST. The Company has paid attention 
to deliver any material disclosures to the 
investors, savers, institutions and organizations 
in a simultaneous, timely, understandable, 
accurate, interpretable, full manner.

The power and the responsibility for monitoring, 
supervision and improvement of the disclosure 
policy of the Company shall be enjoyed and 
assumed by the Board of Directors. Any and 
all changes in the disclosure policy shall come 
into effect upon the approval of the Board of 
Directors, and shall be published on the website 
of the Company.

9. Corporate Website and Its Contents 
The website of the Company is www.
turkishairlines.com, and the website of the 
Investor Relations, which is also accessible 
through the corporate website, is investor.
turkishairlines.com; and English versions of both 
websites are available. Any information available 
on the corporate website of the Company 
and on the website of the investor relations 
thereof is identical to and/or consistent with 
the disclosures performed in accordance with 
the provisions specified under the relevant 
regulations, and contains no contradictory or 
incomplete information.

The website of the Investor Relations contains 
current Company/Shareholding structure, last 
version of the Articles of Association of the 
Company along with the Trade Registry Gazette 
of Turkey (TRGT), on which any changes are 
promulgated, agenda for the Shareholders’ 
General Assembly Meetings, the form for 
voting by proxy, lists of attendants, additional/
supplementary information and meeting minutes, 
annual reports, financial statements, business 
data, Company presentations, Corporate 
Governance Principles Compliance Reports, 
information about the Board of Directors and 
committees, Material Disclosures, Code of Ethics, 
Policies (Profit Distribution Policy, Disclosure 
Policy, Remuneration Policy, Donation Policy), 
details for the associated parties, share details, 
analyst details, Trade Registry details, contact 
details and frequently asked questions, in a 
manner to include any matters specified under 
Corporate Governance Principles.

website and any applications available under 
the Disclosure Policy of the Company. Any 
announcements are performed through the 
internal regulations in order for informing the 
employees about the general practices and 
activities of the Company, and the intranet site of 
the Company is used on active basis, and also 
“Empathy”, the internal periodical, is published 
on monthly basis. Means of communication 
of the Company have been established in a 
manner to be accessible by any and all kinds of 
stakeholders, and the contact details have also 
been published on the website of the Company. 

Stakeholder may contact with the Corporate 
Governance Committee or Audit Committee 
through the agency of the Investor Relations 
Management or by means of e-mail, mail, etc. 
directly at any time. In case of conflicts of 
interest between the stakeholders, or in case of 
inclusion of one stakeholder in more than one 
interest group, a balanced policy is adopted with 
respect to protection of the rights possessed, as 
much as possible, and it is aimed at protecting 
each right independently.

12. Stakeholders’ Participation to Management
Management meetings, in which domestic and 
international managers and senior executives 
of the Company participate, are held within the 
organization of the Company on regular basis 
every year in addition to the meetings, in which 
suppliers, domestic and international sales 
agencies, sales organization of the Company and 
personnel, holding various positions, participate 
regularly, and an exchange of opinions in relation 
to the workshops and panels is achieved during 
such meetings.

Also, suggestion system is applied within the 
organization of the Company, and the employees 
submit their suggestions for improvement and 
development with respect to any and all matters 
in relation to the Company through such system, 
and any suggestions deemed appropriate are 
applied. Moreover, the Company pays attention to 
opinions and suggestions of all stakeholders as 
well as the surveys for customer satisfaction. 

Further details in relation to stakeholder groups, 
interaction subjects, interaction channels and 
interaction frequency of the Company are given 
below.
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Stakeholder Groups Key Interaction Topics Main Interaction Channels Frequency

INTERNAL

Shareholders Financial 
Partners Investors

Minority Rights Operational and 
Financial Performance Strategy 
Corporate Governance

E-mail distribution list, “ir@thy.com” Continuous

Dedicated "Investor Relations (ir)" website Continuous

Shareholders' General Assembly Meeting Annual

Investors Meetings Annual

Presentations, Reports, Publications Quarterly

Labor Unions

Business Ethics Cultural Values 
Employee Satisfaction Organization 
and Freedom of association and 
Right of Collective Bargaining Flight 
Safety and Security Occupational 
Health and Safety and Well-Being 
Anti-Discrimination and Diversity 
Performance and Career Development 
Sustainable Use of Resources

Ethical Way Annual

E-mails: flightsafety@thy.com; 
security@thy.com Continuous

"Emphaty" Corporate TV Continuous

“Empathy” Personnel Bulletin Monthly 

“Empathy” Website "I Have An Idea" Page Continuous

Meetings & Events & Forums & Summits Annual

Surveys Annual

EXTERNAL

Governmental 
Regulatory Authorities 
Local Authorities

Social and Economic Development 
Customer Rights Compliance Financial 
Performance Flight Safety and Security 
Forestation Occupational Health and 
Safety Noise Waste Management

Audits Regularly

Audits Regularly

Meetings Ad-hoc 
meetings

Certification Organizations
Environmental Management Flight Safety 
and Security Occupational Health and 
Safety Noise Quality Management

Audits Regularly

Customers

Accessibility Customer Satisfaction 
and Service Quality Customer 
Rights and Flight Safety and Security 
Innovative Products and Services 
Sustainable Catering

Customer Relations Call Center Continuous

Web-Based / In-flight Feedback Form Continuous

Customer Satisfaction Measurement 
Tools at Airports Continuous

Online Customer Satisfaction Surveys Annual

In-Flight Safety Brochures and Videos Continuous

In-Flight "Skylife" Magazine Monthly 

Social Media (Facebook, Twitter, blog) Continuous

Corporate Website Continuous

Society
Social and Economic Development 
Social Responsibility Projects

Meetings with Associations and Charity 
Organizations School and Hospital Visits Ad-hoc meetings

Non-Governmental 
Organizations

Corporate Social Responsibility Projects 
Accessibility

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Fair 
and Events Ad-hoc meetings

Academic Institutions 
Universities

Training Employment and Career 
Opportunities

Meetings Regularly

Career Days Annual

Social Media (LinkedIn) Continuous
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the matters such as problems between the 
employees, problems between the employees 
and executives, and criticism for general 
practices of the corporate. There Apart from the 
foregoing, there is no application delivered with 
respect to the discrimination, conflict of interest, 
etc. Job descriptions of the personnel of the 
Company are published on the intranet page of 
Turkish Airlines on up-to-date basis. Any and all 
employees may access to the job descriptions 
through the intranet page of Turkish Airlines.

On the other hand, most of the personnel of 
the Company is the member of the labor union. 
Relations between the employees and employer, 
at each level, with respect to the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement and any and all matters 
concerning the personnel, are conducted through 
the agency of the representatives, assigned 
by the labor union, and of the executives of the 
labor union, in the most efficient manner and in 
a manner to obtain a result. It is acted fairly with 
respect to any and all benefits provided to the 
employees, and training programs are performed 
in order to increase the level of knowledge, skills 
and good manners of the employees.

Safe working environment and conditions are 
established for the employees both at home and 
abroad.

14. Code of Ethics and Social Responsibility
The Company, maintaining its activities in 
compliance with its identity as the flag carrier, 
complies with paying utmost attention and 
care to act sensitively against its social 
responsibilities while carrying out its activities, 
and guides and supports its subsidiaries 
accordingly. Code of Conduct Manual of the 
Company has been drawn up by the Board 
of Directors in accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Principles, and published on the 
website of the Company.

Codes of conduct of the Company covers 
fundamental principles and values as well as 
such various matters as compliance with the 
regulations, anti-bribery and anti-corruption, 
anti-competitive act, etc. The employees learn 
the Codes of Conduct while starting to serve 
within the organization of the Company, and are 
informed about the Corporate Codes of Conduct 

13. Human Resources Policy
The Company has Human Resources Procedure, 
which have been drawn up by the Board of 
Directors, and any and all kinds of actions for 
the sub-departments, reorganized based on the 
processes, and for any and all personnel are 
carried out in accordance with the regulations.

The principle for equal opportunities for the 
persons with equal conditions is adopted 
during the employment and career planning 
processes. The procedures and principles 
for the personnel employment processes of 
the Company are defined under the General 
Employment Procedure of the Company and in 
the employment process charts. The processes 
vary basing on the working groups as cockpit 
personnel, cabin personnel, internal personnel 
and external personnel. The procedure includes 
information about the departments having 
responsibilities at each stage, announcement 
criteria, process flows and management 
of personnel records. The procedures and 
principles of the Performance Assessment 
System, applicable within the organization of the 
Company, and performance assessment criteria 
are defined under the Performance Management 
System Manual of the Company, and are 
accessible to any and all of the employees 
through the intranet page of the Company. Any 
initiatives to develop and extend Performance 
Management system are now ongoing.

Relations with the employees are performed 
through the agency of the Personnel Relations 
Supervisor’s Office. Personnel Relations 
Supervisor’s Office is responsible for maintaining 
the relations with the employees, and ensuring 
the resolution of the questions and issues, and 
performing the announcements concerning 
any and all employees. Any questions and 
complaints, delivered to the Supervisor’s Office 
by means of various methods, are resolved in 
coordination with the relevant departments. Any 
measures are taken in order not to discriminate 
based on race, religion, nationality and gender, 
and in order to protect the employees against 
the any physically, mentally and emotionally 
abusive treatments. In 2015, 12 notifications 
were received from the employees of the 
Company through the Ethical Way, which is the 
application authority. Such notifications include 

Manual of the Company and Corporate Ethical 
Procedures thereof. Thus, it is ensured that the 
employees act respectfully against the laws, 
ethical values, social norms and environment 
in terms of their words and behaviors in line 
with the generally-recognized principles in the 
business life.

In addition, the Ethical Way, which is an 
Ethical Notification Line established within the 
organization of the Company, is a notification 
system established for the purpose of ensuring 
that any and all kinds of behaviors, which is 
contrary to the corporate principles with respect 
to the discrimination, bribery, conflict of interest 
and anti-competitive practices, are reported by 
the employees of Turkish Airlines on anonymous 
basis. The Ethical Way, management process of 
which is assumed by any fully independent third 
party company, is a line specific to the questions 
and/or reporting of the employees of Turkish 
Airlines with respect to ethical matters. Ethics 
Committee, consisting of four members and one 
chairman, which is in charge of assessment of 
such applications within the organization of the 
Company, pays attention to each personnel in 
relation to the application delivered to the Ethical 
Way, and receives the opinions of the relevant 
department, and submits its determinations and 
suggestions to the CEO and President in line with 
the results obtained.

The Company maintains its domestic and 
international activities by taking into account 
its both climatic and environmental and social 
responsibilities. There is no legal action filed 
against the Company due to any damages to the 
environment. Sustainability Report, containing 
any and all activities performed by the Company 
with respect to its relevant responsibilities, is 
accessible through the website of the Investor 
Relations.

The Company, as the main sponsor of the 
championship “Euroleague Basketball”, which is 
the biggest basketball organization of Europe, 
was supported by the basketball teams through 
the project “One Team”, and continued to initiate 
many social projects for the physically and 
mentally disabled persons during 2015. Different 
workshops were organized in Africa, Europe 
and Asia under the project “One Team”, and any 
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the Class C director, must be Turkish citizens. 
The term of office for Board Members is 2 (two) 
years, according to Article 10 of our Articles 
of Association. The General Assembly may 
discharge any member of the Board before 
expiry of their term of office. Members whose 
term of office has expired are immediately eligible 
for re-election.

Three members of the Board of Directors are 
appointed to serve as Executive Committee 
members, while the other six are non-executive 
members. Three of these non-executive members 
hold office as Independent Members of the Board 
as defined under CMB regulations on Corporate 
Governance. Due to the dynamic nature of the 
aviation industry, it would be more favorable for 
uniformity if the roles of the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Committee 
are held by the same person. Therefore, at our 
Company offices of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the Executive Committee are 
held the same person, and the CEO is not the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors. Since all 
strategic and managerial decisions are taken by 
the Executive Committee based on majority rule, 
no individual member has unlimited decision-
making power at the Company.

While our Company did not have a specific target 
regarding the ratio of female members of the 
Board, a female member has been appointed to 
our Board of Directors as of 2015.

Significant changes made in the structure of our 
Board of Directors in 2015 are listed below.

 ↗ Mr. Naci Ağbal resigned his office as a 
Member of the Board of Directors of the 
Company as of 10.02.2015.

 ↗ Application filed with the Capital Markets 
Board regarding nomination of Ms. Arzu 
Akalın and Mr. İlker Aycı as Independent 
Members of the Board upon the Resolution 
of the Board of Directors dated 20.02.2015 
was approved by CMB with an official letter 
dated 02.03.2015.

 ↗ Application filed with the Capital Markets 
Board regarding nomination of Mr. İsmail 
Cenk Dilberoğlu as an Independent Member 
of the Board upon the Resolution of the 
Board of Directors dated 16.03.2015 was 

communities, being in need of special support, 
were accessed, and the participation of such 
communities in the social events through the 
basketball organizations. The assistance was 
provided to the needy-indigent persons, available 
at home and abroad, through the Committee 
for Sick and Disabled Persons, Committee 
for Orphans, Committee for Emergencies and 
Committee for Poor Persons, all of which were 
established within the organization of the 
Company, under the program for voluntariness 
of employees “Widen Your Heart”. Any other 
activities of the Company in relation to the social 
responsibility are accessible by means of Turkish 
Airlines Sustainability Reports through the 
website of Investor Relations.

Any and all kinds of actions are taken in order to 
ensure the customer satisfaction with respect 
to marketing and selling the services of the 
Company, and any requests of the customers 
for the service they have purchased are 
satisfied rapidly. The Company complies with the 
quality standards with respect to the services 
it provides, and pays attention to maintain the 
standard. Attention is paid for the confidentiality 
of any details in relation to the customers and 
suppliers based on the trade secrets.

PART IV - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

15. Structure and Composition of the 
Board of Directors
With the strategic decisions it will take, our Board 
of Directors administers and represents the 
Company by optimizing risk, growth and yield 
balance, and oversees the long term interests of 
the Company with a rational and proactive risk 
management approach. Our Board of Directors 
sets the strategic targets of the Company, 
determines the required work force and financial 
resources, and oversees the performance of the 
management team.

The Board of Directors is comprised of nine 
members elected by the Shareholders’ General 
Assembly. As a mandatory rule, at least eight 
out of nine members of the Board are nominated 
among Class A shareholders and one among 
Class C shareholders and nominees receiving 
the most vote are elected for each share class. 
Minimum six members of the Board, including 

approved by CMB with an official letter 
dated 20.03.2015.

 ↗ Application filed with the Capital Markets 
Board regarding nomination of Mr. Ogün 
Şanlıer as an Independent Member of the 
Board upon the Resolution of the Board of 
Directors dated 20.03.2015 was approved 
by CMB with an official letter dated 
03.04.2015.

 ↗ As a result of the election held at Turkish 
Airlines Shareholders’ Ordinary General 
Assembly meeting dated 06.04.2015, it 
was resolved by majority of votes that Mr. 
Mehmet İlker Aycı be elected the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors representing 
group C shares; Associate Professor Mr. 
Temel Kotil as the Deputy Chairman of 
the Board of Directors, Mr. Mecit Eş, Mr. 
Mehmet Büyükekşi, Mr. İsmail Gerçek and 
Mr. Ogün Şanlıer as Members of the Board 
of Directors; and Ms. Arzu Akalın, Mr. İsmail 
Cenk Dilberoğlu and Mr. Muzaffer Akpınar 
as Independent Members of the Board of 
Directors.

 ↗ Based on the resolution adopted by the 
Board of Directors on 07.04.2015, i) Mr. 
Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar, Independent 
Member of the Board of Directors, 
was appointed as the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee; and Mr. İsmail Cenk 
Dilberoğlu, Independent Member of the 
Board of Directors, was appointed as a 
Member of the Committee; ii) Ms. Arzu 
Akalın, Independent Member of the Board 
of Directors, was appointed as the 
Chairperson of the Corporate Governance 
Committee, and Mr. Mehmet Büyükekşi and 
Mr. İsmail Gerçek, both members of the 
Board of Directors, and –as per the Capital 
Markets Board Communique no. II-17.1 on 
Corporate Governance– Ms. Duygu İnceöz, 
Investor Relations Manager, were appointed 
as a Member of the Committee; and iii) Mr. 
İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu, Independent Member 
of the Board of Directors, was appointed 
as the Chairman of the Early Identification 
of Risks Committee, and Mr. Mehmet 
Muzaffer Akpınar, Member of the Board of 
Directors was appointed as a Member of 
the Committee.

 ↗ It was resolved on 08.12.2015 that Mr. İsmail 
Cenk Dilberoğlu, member of the Board of 
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Member of Board of Directors until it was 
submitted for approval by shareholders 
at the next General Assembly meeting; 
and also that he be appointed as the 
Chairman of the Early Identification of Risks 
Committee and as a Member of the Audit 
Committee.

Report. No circumstances that would impair the 
independence of such members occurred during 
the accounting period.

16. Principles of Operation of the Board of 
Directors
Operations of the Board of Directors of the 
Company are regulated under Section 14 of the 
Articles of Association;

Directors, be appointed to succeed Mr. 
İsmail Gerçek as a Member of the Executive 
Committee of the Company. Also, it was 
resolved that since İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu 
was appointed as a Member of the 
Executive Committee, Mr. Ogün Şanlıer be 
appointed to hold office as an Independent 

Résumés of the Members of the Board of 
Directors and other roles they assume outside 
the Company are available under the section 
“Board of Directors” of the Annual Report and 
under the section “Corporate Governance” on 
our Investor Relations website. Statements of 
Independence by the Independent Members 
of the Board were submitted to the Public 
Disclosure Platform as an Appendix to the Annual 

Information regarding the Members of the Board 
of Directors as of 31.12.2015 is given below. 
Majority of the Members of the Board of Directors 
are non-executive members as per the Corporate 
Governance Principles of the CMB. 

The Board of Directors of the Company 
convenes whenever the activities of the 
Company may require, and at least once a month 
in any case. Venue of the meeting is the principal 
office of the Company. The Board of Directors 
may resolve to convene at any other location. 
Any activities, to be discussed during the 
meeting, is required to have been determined as 
an agenda item, and the members of the board 
are required to be informed about the agenda 

Name Position Start of Office Status Other Committee Roles

M. İlker Aycı
Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 04.04.2014 Non-Independent Executive Committee /Chairman

Assoc. Prof. Temel Kotil

CEO, Vice Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and the 

Executive Committee 26.04.2005 Non-Independent Executive Committee / Deputy Chairman

İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu Member of the Board 06.04.2015 Non-Independent Executive Committee / Member

İsmail Gerçek Member of the Board 08.04.2011 Non-Independent Corporate Governance Committee / Member

Prof. Dr. Mecit Eş
Deputy Chairman of the 

Board of Directors 29.03.2013 Non-Independent

Mehmet Büyükekşi Member of the Board 03.03.2004 Non-Independent Corporate Governance Committee / Member

Ogün Şanlıer Member of the Board 06.04.2015 Independent
Audit Committee / Member, Early 

Identification of Risks Committee / Chairman

M. Muzaffer Akpınar Member of the Board 24.04.2007 Independent
Audit Committee / Chairman, Early 

Identification of Risks Committee / Member

Arzu Akalın Member of the Board 04.04.2014 Independent Corporate Governance Committee / Chairperson

Information regarding the executives who held office as a Member of the Board of Directors in 2015 and are no longer in office as of 31.12.2015. 

Name Position Start of Office End of Office Term of Office Status
Most Recent Position 

at the Company

Hamdi Topçu Chairman of the 
Board of Directors 01.01.2010 06.04.2015 5 years 4 months Non-Independent Executive Committee

/Chairman

Naci Ağbal Member of the Board 10.10.2012 10.02.2015 2 years 4 months Non-Independent
Early Identification 

of Risks Committee 
/ Member
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Members of the Board of Directors allocate 
sufficient time for activities of the Company. 
In the event that any Member of the Board of 
Directors serve as an executive or a Member of 
the Board of Directors at any other company, 
or that s/he provides any other company with 
consultancy service, then such situation does 
not lead to conflict of interest, and does not 
hinder his/her duty within the organization of 
the Company. Therefore, the fact that Members 
of the Board of Directors carry out any duty or 
duties other than the Company is not subjected 
or limited to certain requirements.

In 2015, 51 Meetings of the Board of Directors 
were held and 251 resolutions were adopted. In 
respect of such meetings, there are no related 
party transactions or material transactions 
required to be submitted for the approval of the 
Shareholders’ General Assembly due to the fact 
that they are not approved by the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors.

Board of Directors plays a leading role with 
respect to establishment of the effective 
communication between the Company and 
shareholders, and settlement and resolution of 
any possible disputes, and collaborates closely 
with the Corporate Governance Committee 
and Investors Relations Department for such 
purpose.

Executive Liability Insurance, covering any 
damages/losses requested from any executives 
due to any failure in fulfillment of their 
responsibilities by paying utmost attention and 
care as expected from them, and due to any 
error, neglect or failure during performance 
of their duties, has been maintained by the 
Company, and the amount of insurance coverage 
is 25 Million US Dollar.

17. Number, Organization and Independent 
Status of Committees of the Board of 
Directors
The following committees have been established 
within the organization of the Board of Directors 
in accordance with the TTC and CMB regulations 
in order to ensure that Board of Directors fulfills 
its duties and responsibilities healthily. 

prior to the date of meeting. The Chairman of 
the Board of the Directors negotiates with the 
other Members of the Board of Directors and the 
CEO and President, and determines the agenda 
of the Meetings of the Board of Directors. The 
Members pay utmost attention to attend each 
meeting and to submit opinions during the 
meetings. Call for the meetings of the Board of 
Directors, and any information and documents 
in relation to the agenda items are submitted to 
the members at least three days before the date 
of meeting for the purpose of ensuring the equal 
flow and distribution of information. Opinions of 
any members, who fail to attend the meetings, 
however, submit their opinion to the Board of 
Directors in writing, are submitted for the other 
members’ information.

The Board of Directors convenes upon the 
attendance of at least six members. The Board 
of Directors adopts any resolutions upon the 
favorable vote of at least five members. Any 
member, who fails to attend four consecutive 
meetings or total six meetings within a period of 
one year without being deemed to be on leave 
by the Board of Directors or without basing on 
a valid and justified ground, is deemed to have 
resigned, accordingly.

Each member of the Board of Directors is entitled 
to one vote. Any matters to be valid provided that 
any Members, representing the group C shares, 
of the Board of Directors attend the meeting and 
cast favorable vote, are provided in “5. Voting 
Rights and Minority Rights” hereunder.

Agenda items are discussed explicitly and in 
every aspect during the meetings of the Board 
of Directors. Chairman of the Board of Directors 
makes his/her best efforts with respect to 
ensuring the efficient attendance of the non-
executive members to the meetings of the Board 
of Directors. Any opposing Members of the Board 
of Directors ensures that the reason of their 
dissenting vote is inserted reasonably and in 
detail under the resolution. 

Also, Nomination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee were not established in 2015, and 
Corporate Governance Committee is adopted to 
carry out such duties, as well. Early Identification 
of Risks Committee was established in April 
2014, and its duties and working principles 
were determined. The members of the Audit 
Committee, Corporate Governance Committee 
and Early Identification of Risks Committee 
were determined and disclosed by the Board of 
Directors. Fields of duty and working principles 
of such committees were also determined by the 
Board of Directors. Any and all kinds of sources 
and supports, required for performance of the 
duties by the committees, are provided by the 
Board of Directors.

CEO and President does not assume any duties 
at the committees within the organization of the 
Company. The attention is paid not to assign any 
Member of the Board of Directors at more than 
one committee; however, Mr. Ogün Şanlıer, one of 
the members of the Board of Directors, serves 
as both the Chairman of the Early Identification 
of Risks Committee and the Member of the Audit 
Committee, and Mr. Mehmet Muzaffer Akpinar, one 
of the members of the Board of Directors, serves 
as both the Member of the Early Identification 
of Risks Committee and the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee since the chairmen of the three 
committees, established within the organization 
of the Board of Directors, and the Members of 
the Audit Committee are required to be elected 
among the Independent Members of the Board of 
Directors.

Turkish Airlines 
Corporate Governance Committee
Chairperson: Arzu Akalın
Members: Mehmet Büyükekşi, İsmail Gerçek,
Duygu İnceöz (Investor Relations Manager)

Corporate Governance Committee directly reports 
to the Board of Directors, and supports and 
assists the Board by carrying out activities for 
compliance of Company with the internationally-
recognized Corporate Governance Principles, 
and for determination of the Members of the 
Board of Directors and senior executives, and 
for assessment of remuneration, reward and 
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Early Identification of Risks Committee;

a) carries out activities in relation to early 
detection of the risks threatening the existence, 
development and continuity of the Company as 
well as implementation of the relevant measures 
against any risks detected and management of 
such risks.

b) reviews risk management systems at least 
once a year.

The Committee documents and keeps record 
of all its activities, and submits an assessment 
report on current developments along with its 
opinions and recommendations to the Board 
of Directors every two months. In 2015, the 
Committee convened five times, and presented a 
risk assessment report to the Board of Directors.

18. Risk Management and Internal Control 
Mechanism

Risk Management Mechanism
An effective risk management strategy at our 
Company is critical to take under control the 
potential risks inherent in the airline industry, 
which is prone to fierce competition, and to 
ensure sustainable growth. In order to minimize 
the negative impact of fluctuations fuel and 
carbon emission prices, interest rates, cash flow, 
foreign currency, in particular, and counterparty 
risks and to provide a reasonable assurance for 
the Company against potential crises; a Treasury 
and Risk Management Committee, chaired by 
Chief Financial Officer and composed of Senior 
Vice President (Finance), Senior Vice President 
(Accounting and Financial Control), Financial 
Risk Management Manager, Treasury Manager, 
General Finance Manager, Budget Manager, 
Financial Control Manager, Financial Analysis 
Manager and Fuel Manager – was established 
under the coordination of the Financial Risk 
Management Department. The Committee sets 
the Financial Risk Management strategy of the 
Company and carries out necessary activities in 
relation to management of any Financial Risks to 
which the Company is or might be exposed.

performance, and career planning as well as 
for investor relations and disclosure. Corporate 
Governance Committee reviews and assesses 
the systems and processes to have been or to 
be established by the Company with respect 
to implementation of the managerial practices 
ensuring the increase of the performance of 
the Company, and submits its opinions in this 
respect, and also observes the activities of the 
Investor Relations Department. The Corporate 
Governance Committee convened five times in 
2015, and presented written reports to the Board 
of Directors.

Turkish Airlines 
Audit Committee
Chairman: Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar
Member: Ogün Şanlıer

The Audit Committee directly reports to the 
Board of Directors, and supports and assists 
the Board by ensuring compliance of Company 
practices with national and international laws 
and regulations, improvement of work processes 
through regular audits and coordination of 
actions to be taken for transparency. The Audit 
Committee is responsible for taking all necessary 
action to ensure conduct of any internal and 
independent audits in a proper and transparent 
manner, and for performance of its duties under 
Capital Markets Regulations. Audit Committee 
members were elected among the Independent 
Members of the Board, and both members have 
five-year experience in audit/accounting and 
finance. Committee convenes quarterly, before 
announcement of the financial results for the 
quarter. In 2015, the Audit Committee presented 
four written reports to the Board.

Turkish Airlines 
Early Identification of Risks Committee
Chairman: Ogün Şanlıer
Members: Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar

Early Identification of Risk Committee was formed 
and empowered by the Board of Directors in April 
2014. The Committee consists of two members 
and the Chairman of the Committee is elected 
among the Members of the Board of Directors. 

Accordingly, among other Financial Risks the 
Company is exposed to, we decided to focus 
on hedging fuel price risks as a matter of 
first priority in June 2009 and as we gained 
more experience in the market, the number of 
instruments used also increased and our hedging 
process continues in line with a constantly 
developing, dynamic strategy. Currently, Swap 
and option based costless collars are used 
to hedge fuel price risks although they are 
exposed to changes in prices. In addition, we 
established our liability in relation to carbon 
emissions, laid down the strategy to protect the 
Company against carbon emission risks, and 
take necessary actions as required under Carbon 
Emission Trading System. In order to minimize 
the impact of exchange rate fluctuations, 
regarded as a major risk element in view of 
the Company’s field of activity and to keep the 
risks that may arise from potential differences 
between forecasted and actualized revenues and 
expenses under control, a proactive exchange 
rate policy is implemented based primarily on 
natural risk management for exchange rates, by 
also taking into account the evaluation of the 
available cash portfolio. In addition, a corporate 
strategy was launched in June 2013 in order 
to use derivative transactions to minimize any 
financial risks that may arise from potential 
negative fluctuations in foreign exchange 
rates. To that end, EUR, US$ and TRY currency 
positions anticipated for each month are 
established based on the Company’s monthly-
updated forward-looking cash flow forecast, and 
accordingly, forward contracts are used with 
the aim of selling EUR at a fixed rate and buying 
US$ and TRY within the next 24-month period 
for a portion of these currency positions. With 
the changes in early 2015, we have adopted a 
dynamic strategy involving option-based collars 
and forward contracts to close US$/EUR open 
positions by selling EUR; and forward contracts 
are also used to close TRY open positions. On 
the hand, in order to reduce the need for use of 
derivative products, US$ is used as the pricing 
currency for international flights of domestic 
origin as of May 2015 instead of EUR as a natural 
hedge against currency risk.
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 ↗ and supervises whether the findings and 
recommendations on the report are fulfilled 
or not.

19. Strategic Targets of the Company 
An Operating Budget, covering the operational 
and financial plans regarding the next 1 year 
activity period, and the Business Plan, covering 
the 10 year operational and financial plans that 
give detailed information about the first five 
years, while giving macro information about 
the second five years, are prepared with the 
participation of all units of our Company, and 
discussed in detail, finalized and approved at 
the budget meeting with the attendance of all 
members of the top management and the Board 
of Directors.

Moreover, our Corporation’s Strategic Targets 
including long term targets, apart from the 
budget, such as market share, customer 
satisfaction, brand value, as well as the annual 
Corporate Targets that will serve in achieving 
these targets, are determined in accordance 
with the Target Management Procedure. 
Responsibilities are assigned to relevant units in 
accordance with the Annual Corporate Targets 
Responsibility Ratios General Guidelines, as 
target achievements are periodically monitored 
through the Corporate Performance Monitoring 
System, and reported to the Compliance Revision 
Board that convene monthly. Chaired by the 
General Manager, the Revision Board revises 
the degree of accomplishment of the targets, 
taking previous periods’ performances into 
consideration; and target deviations, if any, are 
identified, and necessary actions are taken.

The Board of Directors approves the strategic 
targets set by the management of the Company, 
and monitors such targets, as well as the 
activities and previous performance of the 
Company continuously and effectively. In 
doing so, the Board always strives to ensure 
compliance with international standards, and 
takes immediate and proactive actions, where 
necessary. In order to monitor the strategic 
targets and previous performance of the 
Company, reports are presented to the Board of 
Directors, including:

Financial risks arising from the changes 
in interest rates may have impacts on the 
Company because of nature of its business and 
the industry. As part of management of interest 
rate risks, the Company regularly monitors and 
analyzes interest rate markets, determines the 
structure of corporate indebtedness, conducts 
interest rate sensitivity and weighted average 
maturity analyses and keeps track of potential 
cost variations due to interest rates. In order 
to manage the interest rate risk; hedging 
transactions are performed by keeping the 
interest rates for loans either at a fixed level or 
between certain limits (collars) for a portion of 
the debt portfolio until the due date of the loan.

Internal Control Mechanism:
Our Company has an Inspection Board to inspect 
the Company’s activities, and effectiveness 
of corporate governance, risk and control 
processes, with a systematic and disciplined 
approach, advise and provide assurance on 
efficiency and effectiveness of such processes, 
and submit opinions and recommendations in 
this respect.

To that end, the Audit Board reports to and 
advises senior management to ensure:

 ↗ conduct of the Company’s activities in 
compliance with statutory and internal 
regulations, agreements, and the defined 
strategies, policies and targets.

 ↗ good governance, effective management of 
internal control and risk processes,

 ↗ effective and efficient use of the Company’s 
resources,

 ↗ provision of reliable, consistent and updated 
data,

 ↗ continuous improvement of the units and 
processes,

 ↗ improvement of the quality of Company 
services so as to optimize customer 
satisfaction,

 ↗ effective communication of the information 
obtained during inspections to the relevant 
functions of the organization,

 ↗ coherence and coordination among units
 ↗ detection of any faults, fraud and 

misconducts that might give rise to loss 
of income and corporate assets, and 
implementation of necessary actions,

i) a summary of the up-to-date financial and 
operational situation of the Company and budget 
deviations, at every Board meeting, and

ii) informative presentations on assessments 
of the performance of the Company for the 
previous period, rate of achievement of its annual 
corporate targets, reasons for deviations, if any, 
and costs analyses, upon announcement of 
quarterly financial results.
 Necessary measures and actions are 
determined based on such assessments, and 
the budget and business plan are revised, if 
necessary.

20. Financial Rights
Any rights, benefits and remuneration provided 
to the members of the Board and senior 
management of the Company as well as the 
criteria used to determine these rights are 
documented in our corporate Remuneration 
Policy, which has been disclosed to public 
and posted on our Investor Relations website. 
Remuneration of the Board members is 
discussed and determined as a separate 
item on the agenda of Shareholders’ General 
Assembly meeting. No dividends, stock options 
or performance-based payment plans are used 
for remuneration of the Independent Members of 
the Board of Directors. The Company never lends 
money or extends credit to any of the Board 
members.

Net remuneration is paid to the members of the 
Executive Board and Board of Directors. Members 
receive bonus payment but no honorarium is 
paid. Executive Committee members receive net 
TRY 10,212 per month, while other members of 
the Board of Directors receive net TRY 7,659 per 
month. In addition, a bonus payment is made 
in each quarter, equivalent to their monthly net 
remuneration. In 2015, the sum of all tangible 
benefits including remuneration and bonus 
paid to the members of the Board of Directors, 
General Manager and Chief Officers was TRY 
10,376,159.
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The Corporate Governance Committee, Audit 
Committee, and Early Identification of Risks 
Committee, structured under the Board of 
Directors of the Company, carry out activities 
within the framework of the relevant regulations 
and the tasks and working principles specified 
by the Board. In 2015, committees continued to 
carry out their tasks, and reported to Board of 
Directors on their activities.

The duties of the Corporate Governance 
Committee are stipulated in the Capital Markets 
Board Communiqué n.II-17.1 on Corporate 
Governance. Accordingly, the Committee is liable 
to i) monitor whether the Corporate Governance 
Principles are implemented at the Company, and 
identify the reasons if not; ii) detect any conflicts 
of interest arising from failure to ensure full 
compliance with these principles; iii) advise the 
Board of Directors on improvement of Corporate 
Governance Practices, and iv) oversee the 
activities of the Investor Relations Department. 
Furthermore; since no separate Nominating 
Committee or Remuneration Committee is formed 
under the Board of Directors of the Company, 
the Corporate Governance Committee carries 
out the functions of these committees. Persons 
nominated by the Corporate Governance 
Committee and appointed to serve as an 
Independent Member of the Board of Directors 
are listed in the Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Report issued in accordance with 
the Capital Markets Board (SPK) Communiqué 
n.II-17.1 on Corporate Governance. The Corporate 
Governance Committee convened five times in 
2015, and presented written reports to the Board 
of Directors.

The Audit Committee convened prior to 
announcement of quarterly financial results, to 
make sure that the publicly announced financial 
results were sufficiently transparent and 
comprehensible and that all necessary measures 
were taken to conduct of independent external 
audits transparently and efficiently. In 2015, the 
Audit Committee presented four written reports 
to the Board of Directors.

In 2015, the Early Identification of Risks 
Committee convened bi-monthly after 
appointment of the new members of the 
Committee in April, to detect the potential risks in 
the Company’s fields of business, and presented 
written reports to the Board of Directors about 
the relevant issues. In 2015, the Committee 
presented its findings and advices to the Board 
of Directors about several issues such as review 
of financial risk management strategies regarding 
fuel price and exchange rate fluctuations, the 
importance of debt management and financing 
strategies in the long-term growth plans of the 
Company, the measures to be taken against 
security risks in various regions where the 
Corporation operates, and the necessity to 
take proactive role in the design stage of the 
terminals and runways of Istanbul’s new airport 
project.

In consequence of the above-mentioned 
activities, the Committees carried out their 
primary duties with utmost attention and 
provided considerable support and assistance 
to the Board of Directors in its activities, helping 
the Board demonstrate an effective management 
performance.
 

ASSESSMENT OF THE BOARD ON 
THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE BOARD 
COMMITTEES
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ASSESSMENT OF THE BOARD 
ON THE 2015 RESULTS

Aviation industry was also exposed to many 
effects in 2015, during which highly significant 
developments occurred globally. Some of such 
main effects are as follows: exchange rate 
fluctuations and losses in value occurring in 
many currencies affecting the purchasing 
power; and continuity of the decrease in the 
oil prices, starting in the last quarter of 2014, in 
2015 upon the increase of volatility; and security 
concerns rising due to the passenger revenues 
of departments, pressurized upon increase of the 
competition in the industry while decrease of the 
department expenses of the airlines because of 
the decreasing oil prices, and due to the terrorist 
incidents occurring globally. Considering the 
wide geography where the Company operates, 
the effects of such incidents on the passenger 
volume and activity revenues have become 
perceivable. Targets of the budget of 2015, which 
were disclosed on 31.12.2014, were revised in 
line with the globally economic and geopolitical 
developments and current expectations, and 
were submitted for the investors’ information 
in September 2015. Financial and operational 
consequences of 2015 corresponded to the 
revised expectations on substantial basis.

In 2015, Turkish Airlines continued its profitable 
growth performance, which it has maintained 
for the last 10 years, despite of such difficulties 
specified, and increased the number of aircraft 
to 299 from 261, and realized approximately 
14% capacity increase. The number of the 
passengers transported in 2015 reached to 61,2 
million by a 12% increase. 

In 2015, total revenues decreased at the rate of 
5%, and realized at the amount of 10,5 Billion US 
Dollar as a consequence of depreciation of may 
currencies, available in the revenues, against US 
dollar and reflection of decrease in the fuel prices 
to the unit revenues. Still; primary operating 
profit at the amount of 895 Million US Dollar was 
earned by the increase of %32 in comparison 
with 2014, and net profit at the amount of 1 Billion 
69 Million US Dollar which was the record high in 
the history, has been earned by the increase of 
26%. As a significant benchmark that reflects the 
Company’s cash generation potential, EBITDAR 
margin also realized at the level of 24,5% by the 
increase of 5,7 points.

The Company has held the title of the “Best 
Airline of Europe” for the last five years as a 
result of the Skytrax passenger assessments, 
and it continues to win the recognition of the 
passengers. The Company, which also holds the 
title of the “Airline Company That Flies to The 
Most Countries Around the World”, performed 
operations to 287 destinations in total in 113 
countries, and 235 of such destinations were 
international flights while 51 thereof were 
domestic flights.
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The following information is also included in our Annual Report in addition to the issues stipulated 
in the other sections of the Corporate Governance Principles listed in the annex of the CMB 
Communiqué On Corporate Governance (II-17.1):

Information on major legal actions/lawsuits filed against the Company and their potential 
consequences 
None.

Information on any amendments in the regulations that might have significant impacts on the 
activities of the Company
None.

Conflicts of interest between the Company and its service providers that provide investment 
consulting and rating services, etc.; and actions taken by the Company to avoid such conflicts 
of interest.
None.

LEGAL DISCLOSURES AND DOCUMENTS
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STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCY

I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of Directors of Turkish 
Airlines Inc. in accordance with the criteria stipulated by applicable regulations, the Articles of 
Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate Governance Principles, and accordingly that;

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any substantive 
duties and responsibilities may be assumed, has been established between the Company and any 
affiliates, who either hold the control of or have any significant influence on the management of the 
Company, or any shareholders who hold the control of the management of the Company, or have a 
significant influence on the Company, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the management 
of such shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up 
to the second degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 5% of the 
capital or the voting rights or the privileged shares of the Company, either collectively or individually, or 
any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting activities for 
the Company (including tax inspection, legal inspections and internal inspections); I have not been a 
shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), or any employee serving at any managerial positions 
whereby any substantial duties and responsibilities may be assumed, or a member of the board of 
directors, of any such company, from which the Company has procured any services or products or 
to which the Company has sold any services or products to a material extent in accordance with the 
agreements executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly and duly 
fulfill my duties as an independent member of the board of directors, and also that;

ç) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected as a 
member, excluding as a faculty member at a university to the extent that it is in compliance with the 
applicable regulations,

d) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 31/12/1960, 

e) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and experience to 
positively contribute to the operations of the Company, maintain my impartiality in any potential case 
of conflict of interest amongst the shareholders of the Company, and to make decisions freely with 
due consideration of the rights and benefits of the stakeholders, and also that;

f) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Company to such an extent that I would be 
able to fully perform and carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, and to follow up the 
functioning of the activities and operations of the Company, and also that;

g) I have not held the office of a member of the board of directors at the board of directors of the 
Company for a period longer than six years within the last decade, and also that;

ğ) I have not held office as an independent member of the board of directors of more than three of the 
companies which hold the control of management of the Company or the shareholders who hold the 
control of management of the same, and at more than five of the listed companies in total; and also 
that;

h) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected as a 
member of the board of directors. 

Respectfully,

ARZU AKALIN
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I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of Directors of Turkish 
Airlines Inc. in accordance with the criteria stipulated in the applicable regulations, the Articles of 
Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate Governance Principles, and accordingly it was 
resolved that the exception specified under Article 6, paragraph 2 of the Communique on Corporate 
Governance be applied to me, as per the letter dated 21/05/2015, numbered 29833736-1181 of the 
Capital Markets Board. Therefore, being exempt from Article 4.3.6, subparagraph (g) of the said 
Communique, I hereby declare that:

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any substantive 
duties and responsibilities may be assumed, has been established between the Company and any 
affiliates, who either hold the control of or have any significant influence on the management of the 
Company, or any shareholders who hold the control of the management of the Company, or have a 
significant influence on the Company, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the management 
of such shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up 
to the second degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 5% of the 
capital or the voting rights or the privileged shares of the Company, either collectively or individually, or 
any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting activities for 
the Company (including tax inspection, legal inspections and internal inspections); I have not been a 
shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), or any employee serving at any managerial positions 
whereby any substantial duties and responsibilities may be assumed, or a member of the board of 
directors, of any such company, from which the Company has procured any services or products or 
to which the Company has sold any services or products to a material extent in accordance with the 
agreements executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly and duly 
fulfill my duties as an independent member of the board of directors, and also that;

ç) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected as a 
member, excluding as a faculty member at a university to the extent that it is in compliance with the 
applicable regulations,

d) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 31/12/1960,

e) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and experience to 
positively contribute to the operations of the Company, maintain my impartiality in any potential case 
of conflict of interest amongst the shareholders of the Company, and to make decisions freely with 
due consideration of the rights and benefits of the stakeholders, and also that;

f) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Company to such an extent that I would be 
able to fully perform and carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, and to follow up the 
functioning of the activities and operations of the Company, and also that;

ğ) I have not held office as an independent member of the board of directors of more than three of the 
companies which hold the control of management of the Company or the shareholders who hold the 
control of management of the same, and at more than five of the listed companies in total; and also 
that;

h) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected as a 
member of the board of directors. 

Respectfully,

MUZAFFER AKPINAR
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STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCY

I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of Directors of Turkish 
Airlines Inc. in accordance with the criteria stipulated by applicable regulations, the Articles of 
Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate Governance Principles, and accordingly that;

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any substantive 
duties and responsibilities may be assumed, has been established between the Company and any 
affiliates, who either hold the control of or have any significant influence on the management of the 
Company, or any shareholders who hold the control of the management of the Company, or have a 
significant influence on the Company, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the management 
of such shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up 
to the second degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 5% of the 
capital or the voting rights or the privileged shares of the Company, either collectively or individually, or 
any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting activities for 
the Company (including tax inspection, legal inspections and internal inspections); I have not been a 
shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), or any employee serving at any managerial positions 
whereby any substantial duties and responsibilities may be assumed, or a member of the board of 
directors, of any such company, from which the Company has procured any services or products or 
to which the Company has sold any services or products to a material extent in accordance with the 
agreements executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly and duly 
fulfill my duties as an independent member of the board of directors, and also that;

ç) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected as a 
member, excluding as a faculty member at a university to the extent that it is in compliance with the 
applicable regulations,

d) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 31/12/1960,

e) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and experience to 
positively contribute to the operations of the Company, maintain my impartiality in any potential case 
of conflict of interest amongst the shareholders of the Company, and to make decisions freely with 
due consideration of the rights and benefits of the stakeholders, and also that;

f) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Company to such an extent that I would be 
able to fully perform and carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, and to follow up the 
functioning of the activities and operations of the Company, and also that;

g) I have not held the office of a member of the board of directors at the board of directors of the 
Company for a period longer than six years within the last decade, and also that;

ğ) I have not held office as an independent member of the board of directors of more than three of the 
companies which hold the control of management of the Company or the shareholders who hold the 
control of management of the same, and at more than five of the listed companies in total; and also 
that;

h) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected as a 
member of the board of directors.

Respectfully,

OGÜN ŞANLIER
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Report on Affiliates for the Accounting Period between 01.01.2014 and 31.12.2014, issued as per 
Section 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code. 

TURKISH OPET Aviation Fuels sells most of its jet fuel to Turkish Airlines Inc.

Turkish Airlines purchased jet fuel worth of TRY 4.958.251.802 from TURKISH OPET Aviation Fuels in 
2014, which includes the amount paid for fuel purchases at two international stations in addition to 
domestic purchases.

As of 01.07.2011, Turkish Airlines purchase jet fuel only from TURKISH OPET Aviation Fuels in Turkey 
The price of jet fuel is competitively determined by TÜPRAŞ by adding the franchise fee of State 
Airports Authority (DHMI) and profit margin of TURKISH OPET Aviation Fuels to the refinery sales price 
announced by TÜPRAŞ for the relevant period. The ratio of the fuel purchased outside the country 
from TURKISH OPET Aviation Fuels is 2.7% of the total purchases made abroad and other relevant 
firms at international airports were selected completely through competitive bidding processes on the 
best bid basis.

REPORT ON AFFILIATES
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STATEMENT OF LIABILITY

STATEMENT OF LIABILITY ISSUED AS PER ARTICLE 9, SECTION II OF THE CAPITAL MARKETS 
BOARD “COMMUNIQUÉ ON THE PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKETS”

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGARDING APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ANNUAL REPORTS; 
DATE OF THE RESOLUTION: 2/29/2016
NUMBER OF RESOLUTION: 61

The board of directors’ annual report and the consolidated financial statements issued on December 
31, 2015 and approved by the Board’s resolution dated 29.02.2016, numbered 61 are provided 
attached. Accordingly, we hereby declare that:

a) the financial statements and annual report in question were reviewed by us,

b) the financial statements and the annual report of the board of directors do not contain any 
misrepresentation on material issues or any material deficiency as of the date on which such 
representation is made, which might cause the report to be misleading, to the best of our knowledge 
with respect to our duties and responsibilities;

c) the consolidated financial statements, drawn up in accordance with the financial reporting 
standards, that are currently in force, reflect the truth with respect to the assets and liabilities of the 
Company as well as its financial standing and profits and losses honestly and that the annual report, 
together with consolidated statements, truthfully reflect the course of progress and performance of 
the business of the Company as well as the financial standing of the Company, including significant 
risks and uncertainties encountered by the Company, to the best of our knowledge with respect to 
our duties and responsibilities;

Respectfully,

TURKISH AIRLINES INC.

 HÜSEYİN BAĞRIYANIK COŞKUN KILIÇ DOÇ DR. TEMEL KOTİL
 SVP, ACCOUNTING AND  CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CEO
 FINANCIAL CONTROL



TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM
ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2015 
with Independent Auditor’s Report





INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı and its subsidiaries (“the 
Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as 
at 31 December 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by IASB.

Akis Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.
A member of KPMG International Cooperative

Hatice Nesrin Tuncer
Partner

29 February 2016
İstanbul, Turkey
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

ASSETS  Notes  2015  2014
     
Current Assets     
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6   900   635 
Financial Investments 7   62   87 
Trade Receivables     

-Trade Receivables From Non-Related Parties 11   361   456 
Other Receivables     

-Other Receivables from Related Parties 10   3   3 
-Other Receivables from Non-Related Parties 13   1.382   1.196 

Derivative Financial Instruments 38   100   152 
Inventories 14   216   195 
Prepaid Expenses 15   74   60 
Current Income Tax Assets 36   12   8 
Other Current Assets 28   36   39 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   3.146   2.831 
     
Non-Current Assets     
Financial Investments 7   1   1 
Other Receivables     
-Other Receivables from Non-Related Parties 13   1.058   1.059 
Investments Accounted by Using Equity Method 4   246   227 
Investment Property 16   1   36 
Property and Equipment 17   11.415   9.201 
Intangible Assets     

- Other Intangible Assets 18   89   71 
- Goodwill 19   12   12 

Prepaid Expenses 15   415   308 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   13.237   10.915 
     
TOTAL ASSETS   16.383   13.746

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

LIABILITIES  Notes  2015  2014
     
Current Liabilities     
Short Term Borrowings 8   250  - 
Short-Term Portion of Long-Term Borrowings 8 and 20   763   613 
Other Financial Liabilities 9   15   19 
Trade Payables     

-Trade Payables to Related Parties 10   132   148 
-Trade Payables to Non-Related Parties 11   539   514 

Payables Related to Employee Benefits 12   121   128 
Other Payables     

-Other Payables to Non-Related Parties 13   84   71 
Derivative Financial Instruments 38   568   427 
Deferred Income 15   13   10 
Passenger Flight Liabilites 27   1.091   1.398 
Current Tax Provision 36   10   1 
Short-Term Provisions     

-Provisions for Employee Benefits 23   52   58 
-Other Provisions 23   15   16 

Other Current Liabilities 28   218   264 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   3.871   3.667 
     
Non- Current Liabilities     
Long-Term Borrowings 8 and 20   6.636   5.318 
Trade Payables     

- Trade Payables to Non-Related Parties  -  1 
Other Payables     

-Other Payables to Non-Related Parties 13   12   14 
Deferred Income 15   16   14 
Long-Term Provisions     

-Provisions for Employee Benefits 25   119   127 
Deferred Tax Liability 36   887   655 
TOTAL NON- CURRENT LIABILITIES   7.670   6.129 
     
Equity     
Share Capital 29   1.597   1.597 
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified to Profit or Loss  

-Actuarial (Losses) on Retirement Pay Obligation 29  ( 8)  ( 10)
Items That Are or May Be Reclassified to Profit or Loss  

-Foreign Currency Translation Differences 29  ( 84)  ( 47)
-Fair Value (Losses) on Hedging Instruments Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges 29  ( 327)  ( 185)

Restricted Profit Reserves 29   36   36 
Previous Years Profit 29   2.559   1.714 
Net Profit for the Year   1.069   845 
TOTAL EQUITY   4.842   3.950 
     
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    16.383   13.746 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended 31 December
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

PROFIT OR LOSS  Notes  2015  2014
Sales Revenue 30   10.522   11.070 
Cost of Sales (-) 31  ( 8.420)  ( 9.030)
GROSS PROFIT    2.102   2.040 
General Administrative Expenses (-) 32  ( 272)  ( 273)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) 32  ( 1.148)  ( 1.126)
Other Operating Income 33   244   80 
Other Operating Expenses (-) 33  ( 31)  ( 45)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    895   676 
Income from Investment Activities 34   102   96 
Expenses from Investment Activities 34  ( 1)  ( 24)
Share of Investments’ Profit / Loss Accounted by Using The Equity Method 4   80   75 
OPERATING PROFIT    1.076   823 
Financial Income 35   532   419 
Financial Expenses (-) 35  ( 201)  ( 196)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX    1.407   1.046 
Tax Expense   ( 338)  ( 201)
Current Tax Expense 36  ( 12)  ( 5)
Deferred Tax Expense 36  ( 326)  ( 196)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR    1.069   845 
      
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      
Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To Profit or Loss   ( 179)  ( 153)
Currency Translation Adjustment   ( 37)  ( 15)
      
Fair Value Gains on Hedging Instruments Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges   ( 179)  ( 175)
      
Fair Value Gains/(Loss) Hedging Instruments of Investment Accounted by Using the Equity 
Method Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges    1   3 
      
Income Tax Relating to Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently to Profit or Loss    36   34 
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently To Profit or Loss    2  ( 4)
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) on Retirement Pay Obligation    3  ( 5)
Income Tax Relating to Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently to Profit or Loss   ( 1)   1 
      
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ( 177)   ( 157)
     
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  892    688 
      
Basic Earning Per Share (Full US Cents) 37   0,77   0,61 
Diluted Earning Per Share (Full US Cents) 37   0,77   0,61 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended 31 December
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

  Notes  2015  2014
Profit for the Year  1.069  845
Adjustments to reconcile cash flows generated from operating activities:     

Adjustments for Depreciation and Amortization 17 and 18 924 743
Adjustments for Provisions for Employee Benefits 25 24 33
Adjustments for Provisions, Net 23 9 35
Adjustments for Interest Income 34 and 35 (27) (36)
(Gain)/Loss on Sales of Fixed Assets 34 (2) 2
Share of Investments’ (Profit) Accounted for Using The Equity Method 4 (80) (75)
Adjustments for Interest Expense 35 163 165
Change in Manufacturers’ Credit 5 (2)
Unrealized Foreign Exchange Translation Differences (397) (622)
Tax Expense 36 338 201
Change in Provision for Doubtful Receivables 39 6 3
Adjustment in Fair Value of Investment Property 34 (4) (3)
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Instruments 35 14 14

Operating profit before working capital changes  2.042  1.303 
Adjustments for Change in Trade Receivables 90 77
Adjustments for Change in Other Short and Long Term Receivables (294) (229)
Adjustments for Change in Inventories (21) (35)
Adjustments for Change in Other Receivables Related to Operations 3 14
Adjustments for Change in Other Current and Non- Current Assets and Prepaid 
Expenses (121) (133)
Adjustments for Change in Short Term and 
Long Term Trade Payables 8 (19)
Adjustments for Change in Short Term and Long Term Payables
Related to Operations and Deferred Income (41) (39)
Adjustments for Change in Short-Term Provisions for Employee Benefits (1) 4
Adjustments for Change in Passenger Flight Liabilities (307) 197
Cash Flows Generated From Operating Activities  1.358  1.140 
Payment of Retirement Pay Liabilities 25 (9) (15)
Taxes (Paid)/Received 36 (4) - 

Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities  1.345  1.125 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds From Sale of Property Equipment and Intangible Assets 11 191
Net Book Value of Incident Aircraft (net of leasing liability) 12 -
Interest Received 26 43
Payments for Property and Equipment and Intangible Assets (*)  17 and 18 (738) (471)
Prepayments for the Purchase of Aircrafts 109 (131)
Change in Financial Investments,Net 25 (74)
Dividends Received 28 19

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities ( 527) ( 423)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Repayment of Financial Lease Liabilities  (678) (544)
Proceeds From Short-Term Borrowings  250 -
Interest Paid (121) (153)
Decrease in Other Financial and Derivative Liabilities  ( 4) 3

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities  ( 553) ( 694)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   265  8 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR   635  627 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR   900  635 

(*) 2,481 USD portion of property and equipment and intangible assets purchases in total of 3,219 USD for the year ended 31 December 2015 was financed through finance leases. (31 December 2014: 
1,641 USD portions of property and equipment and intangible assets purchases in total of 2,112 USD was financed through finance leases.)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. COMPANY ORGANIZATION AND ITS OPERATIONS

Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı (the “Company” or “THY”) was incorporated in Turkey in 1933. As of 31 December 2015 and 2014, the shareholders and 
their respective shareholdings in the Company are as follows:
         
  31 December 2015  31 December 2014
     
Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization 
Administration  % 49.12  % 49.12
Other (publicly held)  % 50.88  % 50.88
Total  % 100.00  % 100.00

The number of employees working for the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as of 31 December 2015 are 27,676 (31 December 2014: 
25,126). The average number of employees working for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are 26,391 and 24,244 respectively. 
The Company is registered in İstanbul, Turkey and its head office address is as follows:

Türk Hava Yolları A.O. Genel Yönetim Binası, Atatürk Havalimanı, 34149 Yeşilköy İSTANBUL.

The Company’s stocks have been traded on Borsa İstanbul (BIST) since 1990.

Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures

The table below sets out the consolidated subsidiaries of the Group as of 31 December 2015 and 2014:

Ownership Rate 

Name of the Company Principal Activity
31 December 

2015
31 December 

2014
Country of 

Registration

THY Teknik A.Ş. (THY Teknik) (*)

Aircraft 
Maintenance 

Services 100% 100% Turkey

THY Habom A.Ş. (THY Habom) (Note:3)

Aircraft 
Maintenance 

Services - 100% Turkey

THY Aydın Çıldır Havalimanı İşletme A.Ş.(THY Aydın Çıldır)
Training & Airport 

Operations 100% 100% Turkey
    

(*) In the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting of THY Teknik A.Ş. dated 22 May 2015, it was decided to merge with THY Habom A.Ş. The merge was 
carried out under legal structure of THY Teknik A.Ş. by transferring all assets, liabilities, rights and obligations. The merge was registered and published 
on at 10 June 2015.
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1. COMPANY ORGANIZATION AND ITS OPERATIONS (cont’d)

Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures (cont’d)

The table below sets out joint ventures of the Company as of 31 December 2015 and 2014:

Company Name

Country of 
Registration and 

Operations
Ownership  

Share Voting Power Principal Activity
     
Güneş Ekspres Havacılık A.Ş. (Sun Express) Turkey 50% 50% Air Transportation

THY DO&CO İkram Hizmetleri A.Ş.(Turkish DO&CO) Turkey 50% 50% Catering Services
    

P&W T.T. Uçak Bakım Merkezi Ltd. Şti. (TEC) Turkey 49% 49%
Maintenance 

Services
    

TGS Yer Hizmetleri A.Ş. (TGS) Turkey 50% 50% Ground Services
    

THY OPET Havacılık Yakıtları A.Ş. (THY Opet)

Turkey 50% 50%
Aviation Fuel 

Services
    

Goodrich Thy Teknik Servis Merkezi Ltd. Şti. (Goodrich) Turkey 40% 40%
Maintenance 

Services
    

Uçak Koltuk Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş (Uçak Koltuk) Turkey 50% 50%
Cabin Interior 

Products
    

TCI Kabin İçi Sistemleri San ve Tic. A.Ş. (TCI) Turkey 50% 50%
Cabin Interior 

Products
    

Türkbine Teknik Gaz Türbinleri Bakım Onarım A.Ş. (Türkbine Teknik) Turkey 50% 50%
Maintenance 

Services
     

Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. Turkey 30% 30%
VAT Return and 

Consultancy

The Group owns 49%, 40% and 30% equity shares of TEC, Goodrich and Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. respectively. However, based on the contractual 
arrangements between the Group and the other respective investors, decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangements require both the 
Group and the other respective investor agreement. Thus, the Group concluded that it has joint control over TEC, Goodrich and Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş..

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2015 on 29 February 2016. General Assembly and the related 
regulatory bodies have the authority to modify the consolidated financial statements. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)

Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated financial statements, except for investment property and derivative financial instruments, have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods or services. Methods used for fair value 
measurement are disclosed in Note: 2.3.8 and Note: 2.3.14.

Adjustment of Financial Statements in Hyperinflationary Periods

As of 1 January 2005, “IAS 29: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” was no longer applied henceforward.

Functional and Reporting Currency 

Functional currency

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in US Dollars, which is the presentation currency of the Company.

Although the currency of the country in which the Company is domiciled is Turkish Lira (TL), the Company’s functional currency is determined as US 
Dollar. US Dollar is used to a significant extent in, and has a significant impact on, the operations of the Company and reflects the economic substance 
of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Company. Therefore, the Company uses the US Dollar in measuring items in its financial 
statements and as the reporting currency. All currencies other than the currency selected for measuring items in the consolidated financial statements 
are treated as foreign currencies. Accordingly, transactions and balances not already measured in US Dollar have been premeasured in US Dollar in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of IAS 21 (the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates).

Except where otherwise indicated, all values are rounded the nearest million (US Dollar 000,000).

Basis of Consolidation

a. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent company, THY, its Subsidiaries and its Joint Ventures on the basis set out 
in sections (b) below. Financial statements of the subsidiaries and affiliates are adjusted where applicable in order to apply the same accounting 
policies. All transactions, balances, profit and loss within the Group are eliminated during consolidation.

b. The Group has ten joint ventures (Note: 1). These joint ventures are economical activities whereby decisions about strategic finance and operating 
policy are jointly made by the consensus of the Group and other investors. The affiliates are controlled by the Group jointly, and are accounted 
for by.using.the.equity.method. Under the equity method, joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted to recognize any distributions 
received impairments in the joint ventures and the Company’s share of the profit or loss after the date of acquisition. Joint ventures’ losses that 
exceed the Group’s share are not recognized, unless the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations on behalf of the joint venture. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. Control occurs when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently 
are exercisable.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

- the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

- the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire; plus

- if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquire; less

- the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognized 
in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business 
combination are expensed as incurred.

2.2 Changes and Errors in Accounting Estimates

The significant estimates and assumptions used in preparation of these consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2015 are same with 
those used in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2014.

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.3.1 Revenue

Rendering of services:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received. Passenger fares and cargo revenues are recorded as operating 
revenue when the transportation service is provided. Tickets sold but not yet used (unflown) are recorded as passenger flight liabilities. 

The Group develops estimates using historical statistics and data for unredeemed tickets. Total estimated unredeemed tickets are recognized as 
operating revenue. Agency commissions relating to the passenger revenue are recognized as expense when the transportation service is provided.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.1 Revenue (cont’d)

Rendering of services (cont’d):

Aircraft maintenance and infrastructure support services are recognized on accrual basis at the fair value of the amount obtained or to be obtained 
based on the assumptions that delivery is realized, the income can be reliably determined and the inflow of the economic benefits related with the 
transaction to the Group is probable.

Dividend and interest income:

Interest income is accrued on a timely basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income generated from equity investments is recognized as shareholders gain the dividend rights.

2.3.2 Inventories

Inventories consist of non-repairable spare parts, consumables and supplies such as flight equipment and purchased merchandises. 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories is the sum of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 

Average cost method is applied in the calculation of cost of inventories. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make a sale.

2.3.3 Property and Equipment

Tangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Assets under construction are carried at cost less any impairment loss, if any. Legal fees are also included in cost. Borrowing costs are capitalized 
for assets that need substantial time to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. As the similar depreciation method used for other fixed assets, 
depreciation of such assets begins when they are available for use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under construction, over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method. Expected useful life, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed each year for the possible effects of 
changes in estimates, and they are recognized prospectively if there are any changes in estimates.

Assets acquired under finance lease are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of 
the relevant lease.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.3 Property and Equipment (cont’d)

The Group has classified the cost of assets that are acquired directly or through finance leases into the following parts, by considering the renewal 
of significant parts of the aircrafts identified during the overhaul maintenance and overhaul of aircraft fuselage and engine; a) fuselage, b) overhaul 
maintenance for the fuselage, c) engine and d) overhaul maintenance for the engines. Overhaul maintenance for the fuselage and overhaul engine 
repair parts are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining period to the next maintenance or the remaining period of the aircraft’s useful life. 

They are capitalized subsequent to overhaul maintenance for the fuselage and engines and are depreciated over the shorter of the next maintenance 
period or the remaining period of the aircraft’s useful life.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

The useful lives and residual values used for property and equipment are as follows: 
      

Useful Life (Years) Residual Value

- Buildings 25 and 50 -
- Aircrafts and Engines 20 10%
- Cargo Aircraft and Engines 20 10%
- Overhaul Maintenance for Aircrafts’ Fuselage 6 -
- Overhaul Maintenance for Engines 3-8 -
- Overhaul Maintenance for Spare Engines 3-13 -
- Components 7 -
- Repairable Spare Parts 3 and 7 -
- Simulators 20 10%
- Machinery and Equipment 3-15 -
- Furniture and Fixtures 3-15 -
- Motor Vehicles 4-7 -
- Other Equipment 4-15 -
- Leasehold Improvements Lease period/5 years -

2.3.4 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases 
are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.4 Leases (cont’d)

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability. The aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.3.5 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include rights, information systems and software. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses. Rights and other intangible assets are depreciated over their useful life of 3 and 5 years, on a straight-line basis. Slot 
rights are assessed as intangible assets with indefinite useful life, as there are no time restrictions on them.

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill at initial recognition, refer to 
Note 2.1. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2.3.6 Impairment on Assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date and (for assets with indefinite useful lives, whenever there is an 
indication of impairment) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the assets’ recoverable amounts 
are estimated. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is the present 
value of estimated future cash flows resulting from continuing use of an asset and from disposal at the end of its useful life. Impairment losses are 
accounted in profit or loss.

An impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset is reversed if the subsequent increase in the asset’s recoverable amount is caused by a 
specific event since the last impairment loss was recognized. Such a reversal amount is recognized as income in the consolidated financial statements 
and cannot exceed the previously recognized impairment loss and shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
amortization or depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

Group considers aircrafts, spare engines and simulators together (“Aircrafts”) as cash generating unit subject to impairment and impairment calculation 
was performed for Aircrafts collectively. In the examination of whether net book values of aircrafts, spare engines and simulators exceed their 
recoverable amounts, the higher value between value in use and sale expenses deducted net selling prices in US Dollars is used for determination of 
recoverable amounts. Net selling price for the aircrafts is determined according to second hand prices in international price guides. The differences 
between net book values of these assets and recoverable amounts are recognized as impairment gains or losses under income and expenses from 
investment activities.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.7 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take 
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.3.8 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when the Group is a legal party to these financial instruments.

(a) Financial assets

Financial investments are recognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of 
the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs except for 
those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such 
derecognized financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Investments are recorded or deleted from records on the date of trading activity based on an agreement providing a requirement for investment 
instrument delivery in compliance with the duration determined by related market.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets as “at fair value through profit or loss”, “available-for-sale” financial 
assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where the Group acquires the financial asset principally for the 
purpose of selling in the near term, the financial asset is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short term profit taking as well as derivatives that are not designated and effective hedging instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognized in profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets (cont’d)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or 
where appropriates a shorter period. 

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Trade, loan and other receivables are initially recorded at fair value less any transaction costs. At subsequent periods, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss are assessed for indicator of impairment at each balance sheet date. 

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables 
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously recognized or written off are credited against the allowance account and are 
recognized in profit or loss.

With the exception of available for sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognized. In respect of available for sale equity securities, any increase in fair value subsequent to an 
impairment loss is recognized directly in equity. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets (cont’d)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments with their maturities equal or less 
than three months from date of acquisition, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

(b) Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified in accordance with the contractual arrangements and recognition principles of a 
financial liability and equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. The significant accounting policies for financial liabilities and equity instruments are described below.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or loans, borrowings and payables.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value, and at each reporting period revalued at fair value as of balance 
sheet date. Changes in fair value are recognized in profit and loss.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis. The effective interest 
method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 

The major source of interest rate risk is finance lease liabilities. The Group’s policy is to convert some financial liabilities with fixed interest rates 
into financial liabilities with floating interest rates, and some financial liabilities denominated in EUR into financial liabilities denominated in USD. The 
derivative financial instruments obtained for this purpose are not subject to hedge accounting and profit/loss arising from the changes in the fair values 
of those instruments is directly accounted in profit or loss. 

The Group converted some of the floating-rate loans into fixed-rate loans through derivative financial instruments.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial liabilities (cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont’d)

The Group applies hedge accounting since 2009 to these transactions, as they are designated to hedge against cash flow risks arising from 
fluctuations in interest rates. The Group also enters into derivative financial instruments to hedge against jet fuel price risks. The Group applies hedge 
accounting to these transactions, as they are designated to hedge against cash flow risks arising from fluctuations in jet fuel prices.

Use of derivative financial instruments is managed according to the Group policy approved by the Board of Directors and compliant with the risk 
management strategy.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 
At that time, for forecast transactions, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in equity is retained in equity until the 
forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity is transferred 
to profit or loss for the period. 

Derivative financial instruments are calculated according to the fair value at contract date and again are calculated in the following reporting period 
at fair value base. The effective portions of changes in the fair value of derivatives which are designated as cash flow hedge are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognized in profit or loss.

2.3.9 Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated the rates prevailing at the date when fair value determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Gains and losses arising on settlement and translation of foreign currency items are included in profit or loss.

The closing and average US Dollar-TL exchange rates as at 31 December 2015, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Closing Rate Average Rate
Year ended 31 December 2015  2.9076  2.7191
Year ended 31 December 2014  2.3189  2.1865
Year ended 31 December 2013  2.1343  1.9033
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.9 Foreign Currency Transactions (cont’d)

The closing and average US Dollar-Euro exchange rates as at 31 December 2015, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Closing Rate Average Rate
Year ended 31 December 2015  1/ 1.0929  1/ 1.1102
Year ended 31 December 2014  1/ 1.2164  1/ 1.3282
Year ended 31 December 2013  1/ 1.3759 1/ 1.3287

2.3.10 Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding in the relevant period. In Turkey, companies 
are allowed to increase their capital by distributing free shares to shareholders from accumulated profits. In calculation of earnings per share, such free 
shares are considered as issued shares. Therefore, weighted average number of shares in the calculation of earnings per share is found by applying 
distribution of free shares retrospectively.

2.3.11 Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Events after the balance sheet date are those events, which occur between the balance sheet date and the date when the consolidated financial 
statements are authorized for issue.

If adjustment is necessary for such events, the Group’s consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect such events.

2.3.12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, Contingent Assets 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to 
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Onerous Contracts 

Present liabilities arising from onerous contracts are calculated and accounted for as provision. It is assumed that an onerous contract exists if Group 
has a contract which unavoidable costs to be incurred to settle obligations of the contract exceed the expected economic benefits of the contract. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.13 Segmental Information

There are two main operating segments of the Group, air transportation and aircraft technical maintenance operations; these include information 
for determination of performance evaluation and allocation of resources by the management. The Company management uses the operating profit 
calculated according to IFRS while evaluating the performance of the segments.

2.3.14 Investment Property

Investment properties, which are properties, held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the profit or loss in the year in which they arise. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

When an investment property is transferred from investment property measured at fair value (whether to own-use properties or to inventories), the 
transfer is accounted for at fair value. The fair value at the date of transfer is then deemed to be the property’s cost for subsequent accounting under 
IAS 2 or IAS 16. Any difference between the carrying amount of the property before transfer and its fair value on the date of transfer is recognized in 
profit or loss in the same way as any other change in the fair value of investment property.

2.3.15 Taxation and Deferred Tax 

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiary to file a consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected 
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, have been calculated on a separate-entity basis. 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expenses. 

Current tax 

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that 
are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases which is used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.15 Taxation and Deferred Tax (cont’d)

Deferred Tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 
Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and affiliates, and interests in joint 
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests 
are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary 
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset 
realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred 
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net 
basis.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or debited directly to 
equity, where the tax is also recognized directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of 
a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair 
value of the acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

2.3.16 Government Grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that 
the grants will be received. Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as 
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.16 Government Grants (cont’d)

Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are 
recognized as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis 
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

2.3.17 Employee Benefits / Retirement Pay Provision

Under Turkish law and union agreements, lump sum payments are made to employees retiring or involuntarily leaving the Group. Such payments are 
considered as being part of defined retirement benefit plan as per International Accounting Standard 19 (revised) “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”). 

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for 
unrecognized actuarial gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses are accounted as other comprehensive income.

2.3.18 Share Capital and Dividends

Common shares are classified as equity. Dividends on common shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are approved and declared.

2.3.19 Manufacturers’ Credits

Manufacturers’ credits are received against acquisition or lease of aircraft and engines. The Group records these credits as a reduction to the cost of 
the owned and amortizes them over the related asset’s remaining economic life. Manufacturers’ credits related to operating leases are recorded as 
deferred revenue and amortized over the lease term.

2.3.20 Maintenance and Repair Cost

Regular maintenance and repair costs for owned and leased assets are charged to operating expense as incurred. Aircraft and engine overhaul 
maintenance checks for owned and finance leased aircrafts are capitalized and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining period to the following 
overhaul maintenance checks or the remaining useful life of the aircraft. For aircraft held under operating leases the Company is contractually 
committed to either return the aircraft in a certain condition or to compensate the lessor upon return of the aircraft. The estimated airframes and engine 
maintenance costs are accrued and charges to profit or loss over the lease term, based on the present value of the estimated future cost of the major 
airframe overhaul, engine maintenance calculated by reference to hours or order operated during the year.

2.3.21 Frequent Flyer Program

The Group provides a frequent flyer program named “Miles and Smiles” in the form of free travel award to its members on accumulated mileage. Miles 
earned by flights are recognized as a separately identifiable component of the sales transaction(s). 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.21 Frequent Flyer Program (cont’d)

The amount deferred as a liability is measured based on the fair value of the awarded miles. The fair value is measured on the basis of the value of the 
awards for which they could be redeemed. The amount deferred is recognized as revenue on redemption of the points including a portion of the points 
that the Group does not expect to be redeemed by the customers (“breakage”).

The Group also sells mileage credits to participating partners in “Miles and Smiles” program. Revenue is recognized when transportation is provided.

2.4 Important Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Key Accounting Judgements

Preparation of the financial statements requires the amounts of assets and liabilities being reported, explanations of contingent liabilities and assets 
and the uses of accounting estimates and assumptions which would affect revenue and expense accounts reported during the accounting period. 
Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future periods. Actual results could differ from those estimations.

Accounting estimates and assumptions which might cause material adjustments on the book values of assets and liabilities in future financial reporting 
period are given below:

The Determination of Impairment on Long Term Assets:

Basic assumptions and calculation methods of the Group relating to impairment on assets are explained in Note 2.3.6.

Calculation of the Liability for Frequent Flyer Program:

As explained in Note 2.3.21, Group has a FFP program called “Miles and Smiles” for its members. In the calculation of the liability historical statistics are 
used for miles earned from flights. 

Useful Lives and Salvage Values of Tangible Assets:

Group has allocated depreciation over tangible assets by taking into consideration the useful lives and salvage values explained in Note 2.3.3.

Deferred Tax: 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded using substantially enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between book and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities. There are deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences, all of which 
could reduce taxable income in the future in the Group. Based on available evidence, it is determined whether it is probable that all or a portion of the 
deferred tax assets will be realized.

Corporate Tax Law 32/A and the effects of Resolution issued on “Government Assistance for Investments” by the Council of Ministers:

An incentive standard that reconstitutes government assistance for investments initiated effective from 28 February 2009 with the clause 32/A of the 
Corporate Tax Law by the 9th article of the 5838 numbered Law in order to support investments through taxes on income. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.4 Important Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Key Accounting Judgments (cont’d)

Corporate Tax Law 32/A and the effects of Resolution issued on “Government Assistance for Investments” by the Council of Ministers (cont’d):

The new investment system becomes effective upon the issuance of the Council of Ministers’ resolution “Government Assistance for Investments” No: 
2009/15199 on 14 July 2009. Apart from the previous “investment incentive” application, which provides the deduction of certain portion of investment 
expenditures against corporate tax base, the new support system aims to provide incentive support to companies by deducting “contribution amount”, 
which is calculated by applying the “contribution rate” prescribed in the Council of Ministers’ resolution over the related investment expenditure, against 
the corporate tax imposed on the related investment to the extent the amount reaches to the corresponding “contribution amount”. 

The Group obtained an Incentive Certificate dated 28 December 2010 and numbered 99256 for the finance lease aircrafts that joined its fleet between 
2010 and 2014 (except December) from the related authority. For the related aircraft investment, 20% contribution rate and 50% corporate tax discount 
rate apply. Additionally, for the aircrafts to be joined the fleet from December 2014, the Group obtained another Incentive Certificate dated 18 December 
2014 and numbered 117132, of which the 15% contribution rate and 50% corporate tax discount rate apply. 

The total contribution amount resulting from these investment certificates as of 31 December 2015 is 1,219 USD (31 December 2014: 1,109 USD). Until the 
contribution amount is fully consumed by reduction from future corporate taxes, the corporate income attributable to related investments will be taxed 
by 10% rate instead of 20% rate, due to 50% corporate tax discount rate applicable. 

There is no clear guidance in regards to the accounting for government tax incentives on investments in IAS 12 “Income Tax” and IAS 20 “Accounting 
for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance”. Since the use of “contribution amount” depends on future earnings from the related 
investment over many years, the Group management considers that the accounting for the related investment contribution will be more appropriate if 
the grant is classified as profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful life of the related assets.

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the consolidated 
financial statements are as follows. The Group will make the necessary changes if not indicated otherwise, which will be affecting the consolidated 
financial statements and disclosures, after the new standards and interpretations become in effect.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial 
assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments 
from IAS 39. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont’d)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Group is in the process of 
assessing the impact of the standard on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers

The standard replaces existing IFRS and US GAAP guidance and introduces a new control-based revenue recognition model for contracts with 
customers. In the new standard, total consideration measured will be the amount to which the Company expects to be entitled, rather than fair value 
and new guidance have been introduced on separating goods and services in a contract and recognizing revenue over time. The standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted under IFRS. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact 
of the standard on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)

The amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” explicitly state that revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used for property, 
plant and equipment. The amendments to IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” introduce a rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based amortization 
methods for intangible assets is inappropriate. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on after 1 January 2016, and are to be 
applied prospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Group does not expect that these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated 
financial position or performance of the Group.

Accounting for acquisition of interests in joint operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)

The amendments clarify whether IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies when an entity acquires an interest in a joint operation that meets that 
standard’s definition of a business. The amendments require business combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of interests in a joint 
operation that constitutes a business. The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Group does not expect that these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the 
Group.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IASB has started a comprehensive project for Rate Regulated Activities in 2012. As part of the project, IASB published an interim standard to ease the 
transition to IFRS for rate regulated entities. The standard permits first time adopters of IFRS to continue using previous GAAP to account for regulatory 
deferral account balances.

The interim standard is effective for financial reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, although early adoption is permitted. The Group 
does not expect that these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont’d)

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

The amendments address the conflict between the existing guidance on consolidation and equity accounting. The amendments require the full gain 
to be recognized when the assets transferred meet the definition of a “business” under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. The amendments apply 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Group does not expect that these amendments 
will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

Equity method in separate financial statements (Amendments to IAS 27)

The amendments allow the use of the equity method in separate financial statements, and apply to the accounting not only for associates and joint 
ventures, but also for subsidiaries. The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Group does not expect that these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the 
Group.

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1)

The narrow-focus amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. In 
most cases the amendments respond to overly prescriptive interpretations of the wording in IAS 1. The amendments relate to the following: Materiality, 
order of the notes, subtotals, accounting policies and disaggregation. 

The amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Group does not expect that these 
amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)

Due to difficulties associated with the fair value measurement of bearer plants that are no longer undergoing biological transformation bearer plants 
are now in the scope of IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” for measurement and disclosure purposes. Therefore, a company can elect to measure 
bearer plants at cost. However, the produce growing on bearer plants will continue to be measured at fair value less costs to sell under IAS 41 
“Agriculture”. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Group does not expect that 
these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont’d)

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

Before the amendment, it was unclear how to account for an investment entity subsidiary that provides investment-related services. As a result 
of the amendment, intermediate investment entities are not permitted to be consolidated. So where an investment entity’s internal structure uses 
intermediates, the financial statements will provide less granular information about investment performance – i.e. less granular fair values of, and cash 
flows from, the investments making up the underlying investment portfolio.

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Group does not expect 
that these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

Improvements to IFRSs

The IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRSs-2012–2014 Cycle. The amendments are effective as of 1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted. 
The Group does not expect that these amendments will have significant impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2012–2014 Cycle

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

The amendments clarify the requirements of IFRS 5 when an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) and no longer 
meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-distribution.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

IFRS 7 is amended to clarify when servicing arrangement are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement in transferred 
financial assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety. IFRS 7 is also amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by 
Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 7).

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

IAS 19 has been amended to clarify that high-quality corporate bonds or government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in 
the same currency in which the benefits are to be paid.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

IAS 34 has been amended to clarify that certain disclosure, if they are not included in the notes to interim financial statements, may be disclosed 
“elsewhere in the interim financial report” – i.e. incorporated by cross-reference from the interim financial statements to another part of the interim 
financial report (e.g. management commentary or risk report).
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.6 Determination of Fair Values

Various accounting policies and explanations of the Group necessitate to determinate the fair value of both financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities. If applicable, additional information about assumptions used for determination of fair value are presented in notes particular to assets and 
liabilities.

Evaluation methods in terms of levels are described as follows:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and obligations.

• Level 2: Variables obtained directly (via prices) or indirectly (by deriving from prices) which are observable for similar assets and liabilities other 
than quoted prices mentioned in Level 1. 

• Level 3: Variables which are not related to observable market variable for assets and liabilities (unobservable variables).

3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of 100% shares of MNG Teknik Uçak Bakım Hizmetleri Anonim Şirketi and merger with Habom Havacılık Bakım Onarım ve Modifikasyon 
A.Ş. (Habom) 

The share purchase agreement for the acquisition of all shares of MNG Teknik Uçak Bakım Hizmetleri Anonim Şirketi (“MNG Teknik”) by Türk Hava Yolları 
Anonim Ortaklığı was signed between parties on 22 May 2013 having obtained the approval of the Competition Authority.

In the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting of MNG Teknik dated 29 August 2013, it was decided to merge with Habom, which is under common 
control. 

This merger was carried out under legal structure of MNG Teknik via transfer of all assets, liabilities, rights and obligations of Habom to MNG Teknik. As a 
result of the merger, the company’s title was registered as THY Habom A.Ş. on 13 September 2013.
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3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)

Acquisition of 100% shares of MNG Teknik Uçak Bakım Hizmetleri Anonim Şirketi and merger with Habom Havacılık Bakım Onarım ve Modifikasyon 
A.Ş. (Habom) (cont’d)

Pre-acquisition 
value  

Fair value 
adjustment Acquisition value

    
Property and equipment  53   2   55 
Intangible assets -   15   15 
Trade and other receivables  2  -   2 
Other current assets  3  -   3 
Cash and cash equivalents -  -  -
Financial debts  (41)  -   (41)
Trade and other payables  (14)  -   (14)
Other liabilities  (7)  -   (7)
Deferred tax liabilities -   (1)   (1)
Identifable assets and liabilities  (4)  16  12 

Goodwill arising from acquisition  12 
Cash consideration paid  24 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired -
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition  24 
       

Under IFRS 3, intangible assets recognised arising from the acquisition of MNG Teknik is stated below:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Company licenses 10 10
Rent contract 5 5
Total intangible assets recognized at the acquistion 15 15
       

The incremental cash flows and change in cash flows methods are used in determining the fair values of company licenses and lease contract, 
respectively. Substitute cost method is used in determining the fair value of property and equipment. Pre-acquisition values are calculated in 
accordance with IFRS just before the acquisition date.
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4. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD

The joint ventures accounted for using the equity method are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Sun Express  90  61 
Turkish DO&CO  54  52 
TGS  40  42 
THY Opet  28  40 
TEC  26  22 
Turkbine Teknik  2  4 
TCI  3  4 
Uçak Koltuk  2  1 
Goodrich  1  1 
Vergi İade Aracılık (*) - -
 246 227
         
(*) The Group’s share in its shareholders’ equity is less than 1 million USD.

Financial information for Sun Express as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 813  631
Total liabilities 633  510
Shareholders’equity 180  121
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 90  61

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 1.226  1.330
Profit for the year 72  57
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit for the year 36  28

Financial information for Turkish DO&CO as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 174  172
Total liabilities 66  69
Shareholders’equity 108  103
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 54  52

   
 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 377  371
Profit for the year 34  33
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit for the year 17  17
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4. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d)

Financial information for TGS as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 139  140
Total liabilities 59  56
Shareholders’equity 80  84
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 40  42
    
 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 257  270
Profit for the year 25  25
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit for the year 13  13

By the protocol and capital increase dated on 17 September 2009, 50% of TGS’ capital, which has a nominal value of 4 USD, was acquired by HAVAŞ 
for 77 USD and a share premium at an amount of 73 USD has arisen in the TGS’s capital. Because the share premium is related to the 5-year service 
contract between the Company and TGS, the Company’s portion (50%) of the share premium under the shareholders’ equity of TGS was recognized as 
‘Deferred Income’ to be amortized during the contract period and amortization was completed at the end of 2014.

Financial information for THY Opet as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 213 303
Total liabilities 157 223
Shareholders’equity 56 80
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 28 40
   
 1 January - 1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 1.825 2.743
Profit for the year 26 36
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit for the year 13 18
       

Financial information for TEC as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 151  129
Total liabilities 97  84
Shareholders’equity 54  45
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 26  22

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 240  195
Profit for the year 10  1
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit for the year 5  1
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4. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d)

Financial information for Turkbine Teknik as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 5  6
Total liabilities -  (1)
Shareholders’ equity 5  7
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 2  4
    
 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 1  1
(Loss) for the year -  (1)
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit/(loss) for the year -  -

Financial information for TCI as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 11  13
Total liabilities 6  5
Shareholders’equity 5  8
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 3  4

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 9  3
(Loss) for the year (8)  (3)
Group’s share in joint venture’s (loss) for the year (4)  (2)
       

Financial information for Uçak Koltuk as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 17  11
Total liabilities 13  9
Shareholders’equity 4  2
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 2  1

   
    
 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 7  5
Profit/ (loss) for the year 1  (1)
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit/(loss) for the year -  -
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4. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d)

Financial information for Goodrich as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total assets 4  3
Total liabilities 2  2
Shareholders’equity 2  1
Group’s share in joint venture’s shareholders’ equity 1  1

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Revenue 10  8
Profit for the year 1  -
Group’s share in joint venture’s profit/(loss) for the year -  -

Share of investments’ profit/(loss) accounted by using the equity method are as follows:

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Sun Express  36   28 
Turkish DO&CO  17   17 
TGS  13   13 
THY Opet  13   18 
TEC  5   1 
TCI  (4)   (2)

80  75

5. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

Group management makes decisions regarding resource allocation to segments based upon the results and the activities of its air transport and aircraft 
technical maintenance services segments for the purpose of segments’ performance evaluation. The Group’s main activities can be summarized as 
follows:

Air Transport (“Aviation”)

The Group’s aviation activities consist of mainly domestic and international passenger and cargo air transportation.

Technical Maintenance Services (“Technical”)

The Group’s technical activities consist of mainly aircraft repair and maintenance services and providing technical and infrastructure support related to 
aviation sector. 

The detailed information about the sales revenue of the Group is given in Note 30.
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5. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (cont’d)

5.1 Total Assets and Liabilities

Total Assets 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Aviation 16.200  13.677
Technical 1.198  1.110
Total 17.398  14.787
Less: Eliminations due to consolidation (1.015)  (1.041)
Total assets in consolidated financial statements 16.383  13.746
    
    
Total Liabilitites 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Aviation 11.438  9.732
Technical 508  477
Total 11.946  10.209
Less: Eliminations due to consolidation (405)  (413)
Total liabilitites in consolidated financial statements 11.541  9.796

5.2 Profit/ (Loss) Before Tax

Segment Results:

1 January-31 December 2015 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Sales to External Customers 10.334 188 -  10.522 
Inter-Segment Sales 38 762 (800) -
Revenue 10.372 950 (800) 10.522
Cost of Sales (-) (8.519) (701) 800 (8.420)
Gross Profit 1.853 249 - 2.102
Administrative Expenses (-) (181) (98) 7 (272)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) (1.144) (4) - (1.148)
Other Operating Income 264 30 (50)  244 
Other Operating Expenses (-) (55) (19)  43 (31)
Operating Profit Before Investment Activities 737 158 - 895
Income from Investment Activities 102 - -  102 
Expenses from Investment Activities  (1) - -  (1)
Share of Investments’ Profit Accounted by Using The Equity 
Method 76  4 - 80
Operating Profit 914 162 - 1.076
Financial Income 537  8  (13)  532 
Financial Expense (-) (200) (14)  13 (201)
Profit Before Tax 
 1.251 156 - 1.407 
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5. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (cont’d)

5.2 Profit/ (Loss) Before Tax (cont’d)

Segment Results:

1 January-31 December 2014 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Sales to External Customers 10.867 203 -  11.070 
Inter-Segment Sales 38 624 (662) -
Revenue 10.905 827 (662) 11.070
Cost of Sales (-) (9.006) (674) 650 (9.030)
Gross Profit 1.899 153 (12) 2.040
Administrative Expenses (-) (181) (109) 17 (273)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) (1.122) (5)  1 (1.126)
Other Operating Income 83 13 (16)  80 
Other Operating Expenses (-) (46) (9)  10 (45)
Operating Profit Before Investment 
 Activities 633  43 - 676
Income from Investment Activities 96 - -  96 
Expenses from Investment Activities (24) - - (24)
Share of Investments’ Profit Accounted by Using 
The Equity Method 75 - - 75
Operating Profit 780 43 - 823
Financial Income 429 - (10)  419 
Financial Expense (-) (197) (9) 10 (196)
Profit Before Tax 1.012 34 - 1.046

5.3 Investment Operations

1 January-31 December 2015 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets 2.995 224 - 3.219
Current year depreciation and amortization change 816 108 - 924
Investments accounted by using the equity method 215 31 - 246

1 January-31 December 2014 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets 1.934 178 - 2.112
Current year depreciation and amortization change 668 75 - 743
Investments accounted by using the equity method 199 28 - 227



TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

126 TURKISH AIRLINES ANNUAL REPORT 2015

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Cash 2  2
Banks – Time deposits 823  503
Banks – Demand deposits 69  114
Other liquid assets 6  16
 900  635

Details of the time deposits as of 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Amount Currency Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2015
498 TL 9.32%-11.87%  172

March 2016
26 USD 1.64%-1.72% 26

January 2016
571 EUR 1.27%-1.56%  625

March 2016
    823

Details of the time deposits as of 31 December 2014 are as follows:

Amount Currency Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2014
365 TL 8.90%-14.50%  158

February 2015
72 USD 0.80%-3.20% 72

January 2015
223 EUR 0.50%-2.90% 273

February 2015
    503

7. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Short-term financial investments are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Time deposits with maturity more than 3 months 62  87

Time deposit with maturity of more than 3 months as of 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Amount Currency Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2015
56 EUR 1.35%-1.48% April 2016 62

Time deposit with maturity of more than 3 months as of 31 December 2014 is as follows:

Amount Currency Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2014
200 TL 10.54% April 2015 87
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7. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (cont’d)

Long-term financial investments are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Sita Inc. 1  1
Star Alliance Gmbh < 1  < 1
Emek İnşaat ve İşletme A.Ş. < 1  < 1
UATP Inc. < 1  < 1
 1  1

Long-term financial investments are accounted at cost since they are not traded in an active market.

Details of the long-term financial investments of the Group at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

 Country of    
Company Name Registration and Operations Ownership Share Voting Power Principal Activity
     

Sita Inc. Netherlands Less than 0.1% Less than 0.1%
Information & Telecommunication 

Services

Star Alliance Gmbh Germany 5.55% 5.55%
Coordination Between Star Alliance 

Member Airlines

     

UATP Inc. USA 4% 4%
Payment Intermediation Between 

Passengers and Airlines
     
Emek İnşaat ve İşletme A.Ş. Turkey 0.3% 0.3% Construction

8. BORROWINGS

Short term borrowings are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Short term borrowings 250  -

Short term borrowings as of 31 December 2015 is as follows:
         

Amount Currency Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2015
250 USD 0.69% March 2016 250

Short term portions of long term borrowings are as follows:
         

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Finance lease obligations (Note: 20) 763  613

Long term borrowings are as follows:
         
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Finance lease obligations (Note: 20) 6.636  5.318 
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9. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Short-term other financial liabilities of the Group are as follows:

 31 December 2015  
 

31 December 2014
Other financial liabilities 15 19

Other financial liabilities consist of overnight interest-free borrowings from banks obtained for settlement of monthly tax and social security premium 
payments.

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other short-term receivables from related parties are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Turkish DO&CO (*) 3   3 

(*) The amounts are dividend receivables of 2014 and 2013 respectively as of 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.

Short-term trade payables to related parties that are accounted by using the equity method are as follows: 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
THY Opet  54   82 
Turkish DO&CO  28   27 
Sun Express  19   14 
TGS  11   15 
TEC  19   10 
Goodrich  1  -
 132  148

Transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

a) Sales to related parties:
         
 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Sun Express  36   69 
TEC  24   14 
TGS  5   16 
THY Opet  1   1 
Turkish DO&CO  2   1 
Turkbine Teknik Gaz -   1 
 68  102
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10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

b) Purchases from related parties:

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
THY Opet  1.551   2.268 
Turkish DO&CO  339   332 
Sun Express  250   317 
TGS  214   215 
TEC  184   180 
Goodrich  7  -
 2.545  3.312
         

Transactions between the Group and THY Opet are related to the supply of aircraft fuel; transactions between the Group and Turkish DO&CO are 
related to catering services; transactions between the Group and Sun Express are related to wet lease and seat sales operations; transactions 
between the Group and TGS are related to ground services and transactions between the Group and TEC are related to engine maintenance services. 
Receivables from related parties are not collateralized and maturity of trade receivables is 30 days.

The total amount of salaries and other short term benefits provided for the Board Members, General Manager and Deputy General Managers are 4 USD 
(1 January-31 December 2014: 4 USD).

11. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Trade receivables from non-related parties as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Trade receivables 433  523
Allowance for doubtful receivables (72)  (67)
 361  456

Provision for doubtful receivables has been determined based on past experience for uncollectible receivables. Details for credit risk, foreign currency 
risk and impairment for trade receivables are explained in Note 39.

Trade payables to non-related parties as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Trade payables 539  513
Other trade payables -  1
 539  514
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12. PAYABLES RELATED TO EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Payables related to employee benefits as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Salary accruals 98  105
Social security premiums payable 23   23 
 121  128

13. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Other short-term receivables from non-related parties as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
 Predelivery payments made for aircrafts 1.139  990
 Receivables from technical purchases 133  124
 Bank deposits with transfer limitations (*) 59  20
 Value added tax receivables 38  48
 Receivables from pilots for flight training 11  12
 Receivables from employees 1  1
 Other receivables 1  1
 1.382  1.196

(*) As of 31 December 2015, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Morocco, Ethiopia, Ghana, Bangladesh, Sudan, Egypt, Argentina, Algeria, Greece, Nigeria and Ukraine.

Other long-term receivables from non-related parties as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Predelivery payments made for aircrafts 392  650
Interest and commodity swap agreement deposits 418 192
Receivables related to investment certificates 172  140
Receivables from pilots for flight training 58  59
Deposits and guarentees given 12  11
Bank deposits with transfer limitations (*) 5  6
Other receivables 1  1
 1.058  1.059
         
(*) As of 31 December 2015, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Syria.

Other short-term payables to non-related parties are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Taxes and funds payable 61  51
Deposits and guarantees received 15  12
Payables to insurance companies 6  6
Other liabilities 2  2
 84  71
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13. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (cont’d)

Other long-term payables to non-related parties are as follows:
         
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
 Deposits and guarantees received 12  14

14. INVENTORIES
         
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Spare parts 167  148
Other inventories 66  59
 233  207
Provision for impairment (-) (17)  (12)
 216  195
         

The change in the value of provision for impairment for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

 1 January-  1 January-
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Provision at the beginning of the year 12  7
Charges during the year 5  5
Provision at the end of the year 17  12

15. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

Short-term prepaid expenses are as follows: 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Prepaid advertising expenses 22  10
Prepaid operating lease expenses 17  12
Prepaid sales commissions 12  12
Advances given for purchases 12  15
Other prepaid expenses 11  11
 74  60

Long-term prepaid expenses are as follows: 

         
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Prepaid engine maintenance expenses 356  228
Prepaid aircraft financing expenses 43  26
Advances given for fixed asset purchases 10  48
Other prepaid expenses 6   6 
 415  308
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15. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME (cont’d)

Short-term deferred income is as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Advances received 3  7
Unearned bank protocol revenue accruals 7  2
Other income accruals 3  1
 13  10

Long-term deferred income is as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Gross manufacturer’s credits 31  33
Accumulated depreciation of manufacturer’s credit (23)  (20)
Unearned bank protocol revenue accruals 8  1
 16  14

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

 1 January-  1 January-
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Opening balance 36  36
Foreign currency translation difference  (7)  (3)
Valuation gain (Note: 34)  4  3
Transfer to property and equipment (Note:17)  (32)  -
Closing balance 1  36

Valuation is performed by independent valuation firms, authorized by Turkish Capital Markets Board, with reference to market prices for similar 
properties. The Group does not have any rent income or operating expenses from investment property. Determination of fair value of investment 
property is within the scope of Level 2 in terms of valuation technique.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 

 Slot Rights and 
Acquired Technical 

Licenses  Other Rights  

 Other 
Intangible 

Assets   Total 
   
Cost       
Opening balance at 1 January 2015 23 121  5  149
Additions 21 18  - 39
Disposals -  (2)  -  (2)
Closing balance at 31 December 2015 44 137  5  186
       
Accumulated Amortization       
Opening balance at 1 January 2015 - 77  1  78
Amortization charge - 20  -  20
Disposals -  (1)  -   (1)
Closing balance at 31 December 2015 - 96  1  97
Net book value at 31 December 2015 44 41  4  89
       

 

 Slot Rights and 
Acquired Technical 

Licenses  Other Rights  

 Other 
Intangible 

Assets   Total 
   
Cost       
Opening balance at 1 January 2014 23  90   5  118
Additions -  10  - 10
Transfers -  21  - 21
Closing balance at 31 December 2014 23 121   5  149
       
Accumulated Amortization       
Opening balance at 1 January 2014 - 65  -  65
Amortization charge - 12   1  13
Closing balance at 31 December 2014 - 77   1  78
Net book value at 31 December 2014 23 44   4  71

The Group considers slot rights and licenses obtained by purchase of MNG Teknik and included in other rights above amounting to 10 USD at cost as 
intangible assets having indefinite useful lives since they do not have expiry dates and usable in the foreseeable future.

19. GOODWILL

The goodwill amounting to 12 USD is recognized from the acquisition of MNG Teknik has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements. In 
2015, an impairment test has been implemented by the Company and no impairment has been noted on the net book value of goodwill.
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20. LEASING TRANSACTIONS

Maturities of finance lease obligations are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Less than 1 year 896  736
Between 1 – 5 years 3.419  2.848
Over 5 years 3.898  3.067
 8.213  6.651
Less: Future interest expenses (814)  (720)
Principal value of future rentals stated in financial statements    

7.399  5.931
    
    
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Interest Range:    
Floating rate obligations 4.038  3.176
Fixed rate obligations 3.361  2.755
 7.399  5.931

The Group leased certain of its aircrafts and spare engines under finance leases. The lease term is 10-12 years. The Group has options to purchase 
related assets for an insignificant amount at the end of lease terms. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to 
the leased asset.

As of 31 December 2015, the US Dollars, Euro, JPY and Swiss Franc denominated lease obligations’ weighted average interest rates are 3.13% ( 31 
December 2014: 3.69%) for the fixed rate obligations and 1.06% (31 December 2014: 0.98% ) for the floating rate obligations.

21. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND INCENTIVES

Incentive certificates No: 28.12.2010 / 99256 and No: 18.12.2014 / 117132 were obtained from the related authority for investment of aircrafts. Due 
to these certificates, the Group will have advantages of reduction of corporate tax, customs duty exemption and support for insurance premium of 
employers. Please refer to Note: 2.3.16 for the accounting of corporate tax effect of the investment certificates.

22. BORROWING COSTS

During the year of 2015, there is no capitalized borrowing cost on property and equipment. (31 December 2014: None).

23. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Short-term provisions as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Short-term provision for employee benefits is as follows:

31 December 2015  31 December 2014
 Provisions for unused vacation 52  58
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23. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

Changes in the provisions for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are set out below:

 1 January-  1 January-
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
 Provisions at the beginning of the year 58  30
 Provisions for the current year 7  32
 Foreign currency translation differences  (13)   (4)
 Provisions at the end of the year 52  58

The Group recognizes an obligation for unused vacation days based on salaries of employees at the end of each reporting period.

Other short-term provision is as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Provisions for legal claims 15  16

Changes in the provisions for legal claims for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are set out below:

 1 January-  1 January-
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Provisions at the beginning of the year 16  14
Provisions for the current year 6  6
Provisions released  (4)   (3)
Foreign currency translation differences  (3)   (1)
Provisions at the end of the year 15  16

The Group recognizes provisions for lawsuits against itself due to its operations. The law suits against the Group are usually reemployment law suits 
by former employees or related to damaged luggage or cargo. The estimates have been made on the basis of the legal advices. These amounts have 
not been discounted since the effect is not material. It is expected that provision amount will be paid within one year.
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24. COMMITMENTS

a) Guarantees/Pledges/Mortgages (“GPM”) given by the Group: Amount of letter of guarantees given as of 31 December 2015 is 316 USD (31 December 
2014: 58 USD).

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014

 

Original 
currency 
amount  USD equivalent  

Original 
currency 
amount  USD equivalent

A. Total amounts of GPM given on the behalf of its own legal entity -  316  -  58
-Collaterals        

TL  27  9  27  11
EUR  11  13  8  10
USD  291  291  35  35
Other -  3  -  2

B. Total amounts of GPM given on the behalf of subsidiaries that are included in 
full consolidation -  -  -  -
C. Total amounts of GPM given in order to guarantee third party debts for 
routine trade operations -  -  -  -
D. Total amounts of other GPM given -  -  -  -

i. Total amount of GPM given on behalf of the Parent -  -  -  -
ii. Total amount of GPM given on behalf of other group companies not covered 
in B and C -  -  -  -
iii. Total amount of GPM given on behalf of third parties not covered in C -  -  -  -

   316    58

The ratio of other GPM (“D”) given by the group to its equity is 0% as of 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 0%)

b) Operational lease obligations: The breakdown of operational lease obligations related to aircrafts is as follows:
         
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Less than 1 year 286  258
Between 1 – 5 years 738  707
More than 5 years 176  138
 1.200  1.103
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24. COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

c) Other operational lease debts :

The Group has operational lease agreements for 15 years related to the land for the aircraft maintenance hangar and building and another operational 
lease agreement for 23 years related to the land for the aircraft maintenance hangar. The liabilities of the Group related to these lease agreements are 
as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Less than 1 year 5  5
Between 1 – 5 years 21  24
More than 5 years 37  47
 63  76

d) Aircraft purchase commitments:

To be delivered between the years 2013-2021, the Group signed a contract for 259 aircrafts with a list price value of 34.7 billion US Dollars (full). 2 of 
these aircrafts were delivered in 2013, 10 were delivered in 2014 and 33 were delivered in 2015. The Group has made an advance payment of 1.5 billion 
US Dollars (full) relevant to these purchases as of 31 December 2015.

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Provisions for long-term retirement pay liability as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 is comprised of the following:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Provisions for retirement pay liability 119  127

Provisions for retirement pay liability are recorded as follows:

Under Labor Law effective in Turkey, it is an obligation to make legal retirement pay to employees whose employment is terminated in certain ways. 
Also, according to Article 60 of Social Security Law numbered 506 which was revised by the laws 2422, dated 6 March 1981 and numbered 4447, 
dated 25 August 1999, it is an obligation to make legal retirement pay to those who entitled to receive retirement pay when leaving their work. Some 
transfer provisions related to employment conditions prior to retirement are removed from the Law by the revise made on 23 May 2002. 

Retirement pay liability is subject to an upper limit of monthly US Dollar 1,408 (full) as of 1 January 2016 (1 January 2015: US Dollar 1,527 (full)).

Retirement pay liability is not subject to any funding legally. Provisions for retirement pay liability are calculated by estimating the present value of 
probable liability that will arise due to retirement of employees.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cont’d)

IAS 19 (“Employee Benefits”) stipulates the progress of company’s liabilities by use of actuarial valuation methods under defined benefit plans. Actuarial 
assumptions used in calculation of total liabilities are described as follows:

The key assumption is that maximum liability amount increases in accordance with the inflation rate for every service year. Provisions in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2015 are calculated by estimating present value of liabilities due to retirement 
of employees. Provisions in the relevant balance sheet dates are calculated with the assumptions of 7.00% annual inflation rate (31 December 2014: 
5.50%) and 11.00% interest rate (31 December 2014: 9.00%). Estimated amount of non-paid retirement pay retained in the Company due to voluntary 
leaves is assumed as 2.40% (31 December 2014: 2.40%). Ceiling for retirement pay is revised semi-annually. Ceiling amount of US Dollar 1,408 (full) 
which is in effect since 1 January 2016 is used in the calculation of Group’s provision for retirement pay liability.

Movement in the provisions for retirement pay liability is as follows:

 1 January-  1 January-
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Provisions at the beginning of the year  127  117
Service charge for the year  27  28
Interest charges  4  4
Actuarial gains/ (losses)  (3)  5
Payments  (9)   (15)
Foreign currency translation difference  (27)   (12)
Provisions at the end of the year 119  127
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26. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses by nature for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Fuel expenses 2.997  3.806
Personnel expenses 1.640  1.694
Depreciation expenses 924  743
Ground services expenses 619  627
Passenger services and catering expenses 585  558
Aircraft maintenance expenses 516  417
Air traffic control expenses 506  534
Airport expenses 410  408
Commissions and incentives 346  356
Wet lease expenses 285  365
Reservation systems expenses 215  214
Operating lease expenses 211  178
Advertisement and promotion expenses 204  168
Service expenses 64  60
Rent expenses 59  50
IT & communication expenses 41  43
Insurance expenses 32  36
Taxes and duties 31  23
Transportation expenses 29  24
Consultancy expenses 11  12
Utility expenses 10  8
Systems use and associateship expenses 6  5
Membership fees 5  6
Other expenses 94  94
 9.840  10.429

27. PASSENGER FLIGHT LIABILITIES

Passenger flight liability is as follows;

         
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Flight liability generating from ticket sales 833  1.203
Flight liability generating from 
 frequent flyer program 258  195
 1.091  1.398
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28. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Details of other current assets as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Value added tax receivable 34  38
Personnel and business advances 2  1
 36  39

Other short-term liabilities as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Accruals for maintenance expenses of aircraft 
 under operating lease 214  258
Accruals for other expenses 3  5
Other liabilities 1  1
 218  264

29. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The ownership structure of the Group’s share capital is as follows:

               
Class % 31 December 2015 % 31 December 2014

Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization 
Administration (*) A, C 49,12 678 49,12 678
Other (publicly held) A 50,88 702 50,88 702
Paid-in capital   1.380  1.380
Inflation adjustment on share capital (**)   1.124 1.124
Historic capital (***)   2.504  2.504
      
USD Equivalent   1.597  1.597

(*) 1,644 (full) shares belonging to various private shareholders were not taken into consideration when the Group was included to the privatization program in 1984. Subsequently, these shares were 
registered on behalf of Privatization Administration according to Articles of Association of the Group, approved by the decision of the Turkish Republic High Planning Board on 30 October 1990.
(**) Inflation adjustment on share capital represents indexation of historical capital payments based on inflation indices until 31 December 2004.
(***) Historic capital amounts are represented in Millions of Turkish Lira.
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29. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (cont’d)

As of 31 December 2015, the Group’s issued and paid-in share capital consists of 137,999,999,999 Class A shares and 1 Class C share, all with a par 
value of Kr 1 each. These shares are registered. The Class C share belongs to the Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization Administration and has 
the following privileges:

Articles of Association 7: Positive vote of the board member representing class C share with Board’s approval is necessary for transfer of shares 
issued to the name.

Articles of Association 10: The Board of Directors consists of nine members of which one member has to be nominated by the class C shareholder and 
the rest eight members has to be elected by class A shareholders.

Articles of Association 14: The following decisions of the Board are subject to the positive vote of the class C Shareholder:

a) Decisions that will negatively affect the Company’s mission Defined in Article 3.1. of the Articles of Association,
b) Suggesting change in the Articles of Association at General Assembly,
c) Increasing share capital,
d) Approval of transfer of the shares issued to the name and their registration to the “Share Registry”,
e) Every decision or action which directly or indirectly put the Company under commitment over 5% of its total assets of the latest annual financial 

statements prepared for Capital Market Board. (This sentence will expire when the Company’s shares held by Turkish State decrease under 20%.)
f) Decisions relating to merges and liquidation,
g) Decisions cancelling flight routes or significantly decreasing frequency of flight routes, not including the ones that cannot even recover their 

operational expenses, subject to the market conditions.

Restricted Profit Reserves

Turkish Commercial Code (TCC) stipulates that the general legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the rate of 5% per annum, until the 
total reserve reaches 20% of the company’s paid-in share capital. Additionally, not limited with 20% of paid-in share capital, the general legal reserve is 
appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash dividends in excess of 5% of the paid-in share capital. Under TCC, the legal reserves can only be 
used to offset losses, to sustain business when conditions get worse, to prevent unemployment and are not available for any other usage unless they 
exceed 50% of paid-in share capital.

Foreign Currency Translation Differences

Currency translation differences under equity arise from Group’s joint ventures accounted under equity method which have functional currencies other 
than USD.

Distribution of Dividends

Listed companies distribute dividend in accordance with the Communiqué No. II-19.1 issued by the CMB which is effective from 1 February 2014.
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29. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (cont’d)

Distribution of Dividends (cont’d)

Companies distribute dividends in accordance with their dividend payment policies settled and dividend payment decision taken in general assembly in 
accordance with relevant legislations. The communiqué does not constitute a minimum dividend rate. Companies distribute dividend in accordance with 
their dividend policy or articles of associations. In addition, dividend can be distributed by fixed or variable installments and advance dividend can be 
paid in accordance with profit on financial statements of the company.

Actuarial Differences on Defined Benefit Plans

As a result of the adoption of IAS 19 (2011), all actuarial differences are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income.

Gains/Losses from Cash Flow Hedges

Hedge gain/losses against cash flow risk arise from the accounting of the changes in the fair values of effective derivative financial instruments 
designated against financial risks of future cash flows under equity. Total of deferred gain/loss arising from hedging against financial risk are accounted 
in profit or loss when the hedged item impacts profit or loss.

30. REVENUE

Breakdown of gross profit is as follows:

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Passenger revenue    
Scheduled 9.310  9.774
Unscheduled 58  84
Total passenger revenue 9.368  9.858
Cargo revenue    
Carried by passenger aircraft 540  554
Carried by cargo aircraft 395  419
Total cargo revenue 935  973
Total passenger and cargo revenue 10.303  10.831
Technical revenue 188  203
Other revenue 31  36
Net sales 10.522  11.070
Cost of sales (-) (8.420)  (9.030)
Gross profit 2.102  2.040
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30. REVENUE (cont’d)

Breakdown of total passenger and cargo revenue by geography is as follows:
         
 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
- Europe 3.166  3.559
- Far East 2.333  2.418
- Middle East 1.335  1.315
- America 1.270  1.195
- Africa 826  915
Total international flights 8.930  9.402
Domestic flights 1.373  1.429
Total passenger and cargo revenue 10.303  10.831

31. COST OF SALES

Breakdown of the cost of sales is as follows:

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Fuel expenses 2.997  3.806
Personnel expenses 1.258  1.274
Depreciation expenses 860  692
Ground services expenses 619  627
Passenger services and catering expenses 585  558
Aircraft maintenance expenses 516  417
Air traffic control expenses 506  534
Airport expenses 410  408
Wet lease expenses 285  365
Operating lease expenses 211  178
Service expenses 33  34
Insurance expenses 30  34
Rent expenses 30  22
Transportation expenses 29  24
Taxes and duties 13  11
Utility expenses 5  4
IT & communication expenses 3  6
Other expenses 30  36
 8.420  9.030
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32. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING AND SALES EXPENSES

Breakdown of general administrative expenses is as follows:

 1 January - 1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Personnel expenses 123 140
Depreciation expenses 58 44
IT & communication expenses 30 28
Service expenses 20 18
Rent expenses 10 10
Systems use and associateship expenses 6 5
Utility expenses 5 4
Consultancy expenses 3 4
Insurance expenses 2 2
Other general administrative expenses 15 18
 272  273

Breakdown of marketing and sales expenses is as follows:

 1 January - 1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Commissions and incentives 346  356
Personnel expenses 259  280
Reservation systems expenses 215  214
Advertisement and promotion expenses 204  168
Rent expenses 19  18
Taxes and duties 18  12
Service expenses 11  8
Consultancy expenses 8  8
IT & communication expenses 8  9
Depreciation expenses 6  7
Membership fees 5  6
Other marketing and sales expenses 49  40
 1.148  1.126
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33. OTHER OPERATING INCOME / EXPENSES

Breakdown of other operating income is as follows:

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Foreign exchange gains from operational activities, net  108 -
Manufacturers’ credits  68  19 
Insurance, indemnities, penalties income  29  22 
Provisions released  10  8 
Sales premium from suppliers  7  10 
Non- interest income from banks  7  5 
Rent income  3  1 
Delay interest income  2 -
Rediscount interest income  1 -
TGS share premium (Note: 4) -  5 
Other operating income  9  10 

 244  80 

Breakdown of other operating expenses is as follows:

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Provisions  18  14 
Indemnity and penalty expenses  4  4 
Rediscount interest expenses -  2 
Foreign exchange losses from operational activities, net -  20 
Other operating expenses  9  5 
  31   45 

34. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Breakdown of income from investment activities is as follows:

 1 January - 1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Income from investment incentives 64  57
Income from insurance due to aircraft damages 23  -
Interest income from financial investment 8  14
Fair value gain on investment property (Note:16) 4  3
Gain on sale of fixed assets 3  22

 102  96
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34. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (cont’d)

Breakdown of expense from investment activities is as follows:

 1 January -  1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Loss on sale of fixed assets 1  24

35. FINANCIAL INCOME/ EXPENSES

Breakdown of financial income is as follows:

1 January - 1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Foreign exchange gains from financial activities, net 513  397
Interest income 19  22
 532  419

Breakdown of financial expenses is as follows:

1 January - 1 January -
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Finance lease interest expenses 158  156
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments 14  14
Aircraft financing expenses 15  11
Interest expenses on employee benefits 4  4
Rediscount interest expense from repayments of aircrafts 1  5
Other financial expenses 9  6
 201  196

36. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Breakdown of assets related to current tax is as follows:

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Prepaid taxes 12  8
    

Tax liability is as follows:
 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Provisions for corporate tax  12  5 
Prepaid taxes and funds (2) (4)
Tax liability  10  1 
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36. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

Tax expense is as follows:

 1 January-  1 January-
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Current year tax expense 12 5
Deferred tax expense 326 196
Tax expense 338  201
         

Tax effect related to other comprehensive income is as follows:

 1 January-31 December 2015 1 January-31 December 2014
 Amount  Tax  Amount  Amount  Tax  Amount
 before tax  expense  after tax  before tax  expense  after tax
Changes in foreign currency translation difference ( 37)  -  ( 37)  ( 15)  -  ( 15)
            
Change in cash flow hedge reserve ( 178)   36  ( 142)  ( 172)   34  ( 138)
Change in actuarial losses from retirement pay obligation  3  ( 1)   2  ( 5)   1  ( 4)
            
Other comprehensive income ( 212)   35  ( 177)  ( 192)   35  ( 157)

There is no taxation effect for the changes in foreign currency translation difference that is included in other comprehensive income.

Corporate Tax 

The effective tax rate is 20%.

In Turkey, advance tax returns are filed on a quarterly basis. Advance corporate tax rate is also 20%. Losses can be carried forward for offset against 
future taxable income for 5 years. However, losses cannot be carried back for offset against profits from previous periods.

Furthermore, there is no procedure for a final and definitive agreement on tax assessments. Companies file their corporate tax returns between 1-25 
April following the close of the accounting year. Tax authorities may, however, examine such returns and the underlying accounting records and may 
revise assessments within five years.

Income Withholding Tax

In addition to corporate taxes, companies should also calculate income withholding taxes and funds surcharge on any dividends distributed, except for 
dividend receiving companies who are Turkish residents and Turkish branches of foreign companies. Income withholding tax rate is 15%. Undistributed 
dividends incorporated in share capital are not subject to income withholding tax.
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36. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

Deferred Tax 

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between its financial statements as reported for 
IFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. These differences usually result in the recognition of revenue and expenses in different 
reporting periods for IFRS and tax purposes and they are given below. 

For calculation of deferred tax asset and liabilities, the corporate tax rate of 20% is used.

In Turkey, the companies cannot declare a consolidated tax return; therefore, subsidiaries that have deferred tax assets position were not netted off 
against subsidiaries that have deferred tax liabilities position and they are disclosed separately.

Breakdown of the deferred tax assets / (liabilities) is as follows:

    
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Fixed assets (1.138) (884)
Adjustments for passenger flight liabilities (75) (14)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 94 55
Income and expense for future periods 47 28
Tax loss carried forward 47 24
Accruals for expenses 45 54
Miles accruals 46 32
Provisions for employee benefits 24 25
Provisions for unused vacation 10 12
Other 13 13
Deferred tax liabilities (887) (655)
    

The changes of deferred tax liability for interim periods 1 January – 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

1 January- 1 January-
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Opening balance at 1 January 655 518
Deferred tax expense 326 196
Tax income from hedging reserves (36) (35)
Tax expenses of actuarial losses on retirement pay obligation 1 (1)
Foreign currency translation difference (59) (23)
Deferred tax liability at the end of the year 887 655
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36. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

Deferred Tax (cont’d)

Reconciliation with current tax charge for interim periods 1 January – 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

1 January- 1 January-
Reconciliation of effective tax charge: 31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Profit from operations before tax 1.407 1.046

Domestic income tax rate of 20% 281 209
Taxation effects on:
- income from investment accounted by 
 equity method (16) (15)
- income from investment assistance (13) (11)
- adjustment for prior year loss (6)  (21)
- non-deductible expenses - 1
- foreign currency translation difference 92 38
Tax charge in statement of profit or loss 338 201

37. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is determined by dividing the 
net income by the weighted number of shares that have been outstanding during the period concerned. 

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus interest”) to existing shareholders from 
retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus shares are regarded as issued shares. Accordingly, the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding during the years has been adjusted in respect of bonus shares issued without a corresponding change in 
resources, by giving them retroactive effect for the period in which they were issued and for each earlier year.

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding in the relevant period.

Number of total shares and calculation of earnings per share at 1 January – 31 December 2015 and 2014:
    

1 January -  1 January -
31 December 2015  31 December 2014

Number of shares outstanding at 1 January (in full) 138.000.000.000 138.000.000.000
Number of shares outstanding at 31 December (in full) 138.000.000.000 138.000.000.000
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (in full) 138.000.000.000 138.000.000.000
Net profit for the year 1.069 845
Basic profit per share (Full US Cents) (*) 0,77 0,61
    
(*) Basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Breakdown of derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

         
Derivative financial assets 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Cross currency rate swap agreements 77 138
Derivative instruments for fuel prices cash flow hedge 14 2
Derivative instruments for interest rate cash flow hedge 9 12
 100  152

Derivative financial liabilities 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Derivative instruments for fuel prices cash flow hedge 485 358
Derivative instruments for interest rate cash flow hedge 68 68
Cross currency rate swap agreements 15 1
 568  427

39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to 
stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 8, cash and cash equivalents and equity 
attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. 

The Board of Directors of the Group periodically reviews the capital structure. During these analyses, the Board assesses the risks associated with 
each class of capital along with cost of capital. Based on the review of the Board of Directors, the Group aims to balance its overall capital structure 
through the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The overall strategy of the Group has not changed compared to 2014.

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Total debts 7.664 5.951
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 
 with maturity of more than three months (962) (722)
Net debt (A) 6.702 5.229
Total shareholders’ equity (B) 4.842 3.950
Total capital stock (A+B) 11.544 9.179
Net debt/total capital stock ratio 0,58 0,57
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors

The risks of the Group, resulting from operations, include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management program generally seeks to minimize the potential negative effects of uncertainty in financial markets on 
financial performance of the Group. The Group uses a small portion of derivative financial instruments in order to safeguard itself from different financial 
risks.

Risk management is carried out in line with policies approved by the Board of Directors. According to risk policy, financial risk is identified and assessed. 
Working together with Group’s operational units, relevant instruments are used to reduce the risk.
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d)

As of balance sheet date, total amount of cash collateral and letter of guarantee received by Group for past due and not impaired receivable is 12 USD 
(31 December 2014: 7 USD).

As of the balance sheet date, the Group has no guarantee for past due receivables for which provisions were recognized.

b.2) Impairment

Provisions for doubtful trade receivables consist of provisions for receivables in legal dispute and provisions calculated based on experiences on 
uncollectible receivables.

Changes in provisions for doubtful receivables for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:
         
 1 January -  1 January-
 31 December 2015  31 December 2014
Opening Balance 67 66
Charge for the year 12  8 
Collections during the year (6)  (5)
Currency translation adjustment  (1)  (2)
Closing Balance 72  67

b.3) Liquidity risk management

The main responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board designed an appropriate risk management policy for 
short, medium and long term funding and liquidity necessities of the Group management. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate 
reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The tables below demonstrate the maturity distribution of nonderivative financial liabilities and are prepared based on the earliest date on which the 
Group can be required to pay. The interests that will be paid on the future liabilities are included in the related maturities.

Group manages liquidity risk by keeping under control estimated and actual cash flows and by maintaining adequate funds and borrowing reserves 
through matching the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.3) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity risk table:

31 December 2015

Due date on the contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to 
the contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 

months (I) 3-12 months (II) 1-5 years (III)
More than 5 

years (IV)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank borrowings 250 250 250 - - -
Finance lease obligations 7.399 8.213 221 675 3.419 3.898
Trade payables 671 671 671 - - -
Other financial liabilities 15 15 15 - - -
Total 8.335 9.149 1.157 675 3.419 3.898

31 December 2014

Due date on the contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to 
the contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 

months (I) 3-12 months (II) 1-5 years (III)
More than 5 

years (IV)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Finance lease obligations 5.931 6.651 167 569 2.848 3.067
Trade payables 663 663 662 - 1 -
Other financial liabilities 19 19 19 - - -
Total 6.613 7.333 848 569 2.849 3.067

31 December 2015

Due date on the contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to 
the contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 

months (I) 3-12 months (II) 1-5 years (III)
More than 5 

years (IV)

Derivative financial (liabilities) / assets, net

Derivative cash inflows/outflows,net (468) (466) (113) (261) (97) 5
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.3) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

31 December 2014

Due date on the contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to 
the contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 

months (I) 3-12 months (II) 1-5 years (III)
More than 5 

years (IV)

Derivative financial (liabilities) / 
assets, net

Derivative cash inflows/outflows,net (275) (254) (28) (126) (102) 2

b.4) Market risk management

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk exposures 
of the Group are evaluated using sensitivity analysis. There has been no change in the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it 
manages and measures the risk.

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk management

Transactions in foreign currencies expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities as monetary and 
non-monetary items are below:
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

 31 December 2015

 
USD 

EQUIVALENT  TL  EUR  JPY  CHF  OTHER 
1.Trade Receivables  327  40  111  4  9  163 
2a.Monetary Financial Assets  994  185  760  1  1  47 
2b.Non Monetary Financial Assets - - - - - -
3.Other  376  222  62  4  5  83 
4.Current Assets (1+2+3)  1.697  447  933  9  15  293 
5.Trade Receivables - - - - - -
6a.Monetary Financial Assets - - - - - -
6b.Non Monetary Financial Assets - - - - - -
7.Other  60  4  49 - -  7 
8.Non Current Assets (5+6+7)  60  4  49 - -  7 
9.Total Assets (4+8)  1.757  451  982  9  15  300 
10.Trade Payables  417  220  136  1  2  58 
11.Financial Liabilities  531  15  305  191  20 -
12a.Other Liabilities, Monetary  515  407  82  25  1 -
12b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary  67  67 - - - -
13.Current Liabilities (10+11+12)  1.530  709  523  217  23  58 
14.Trade Payables - - - - - -
15.Financial Liabilities  4.916 -  2.367  2.333  216 -
16a.Other Liabilities, Monetary  7 -  5 - -  2 
16b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary  119  119 - - - -
17.Non Current Liabilities (14+15+16)  5.042  119  2.372  2.333  216  2 
18.Total Liabilities (13+17)  6.572  828  2.895  2.550  239  60 
19.Net asset / liability position of off-balance sheet derivatives 
(19a-19b) - - - - - -
19a.Off-balance sheet foreign currency derivative assets - - - - - -
19b.Off-balance sheet foreigncurrency derivative liabilities - - - - - -
20.Net foreign currency asset/(liability) position (9-18+19)  (4.815)  (377)  (1.913)  (2.541)  (224)  240 
21.Net foreign currency asset / liability position of monetary 
items (IFRS 7.B23) (=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a -14-15-16a)  (5.065)  (417)  (2.024)  (2.545)  (229)  150 
22.Fair value of foreign currency hedged financial assets - - - - - -
23.Hedged foreign currency assets - - - - - -
24.Hedged foreign currency liabilities - - - - - -
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

 31 December 2014

 
USD 

EQUIVALENT  TL  EUR  JPY  CHF  OTHER 
1.Trade Receivables  420  73  115  7  10  215 
2a.Monetary Financial Assets  649  268  288  1  3  89 
2b.Non Monetary Financial Assets - - - - - -
3.Other  393  289  55  2  4  43 
4.Current Assets (1+2+3)  1.462  630  458  10  17  347 
5.Trade Receivables - - - - - -
6a.Monetary Financial Assets - - - - - -
6b.Non Monetary Financial Assets - - - - - -
7.Other 61  2  50 - -  9 
8.Non Current Assets (5+6+7) 61  2  50 - -  9 
9.Total Assets (4+8) 1.523  632  508  10  17  356 
10.Trade Payables 449  232  148  2  3  64 
11.Financial Liabilities 411  19  282  110 - -
12a.Other Liabilities, Monetary 427  331  68  21  2  5 
12b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary 74  74 - - - -
13.Current Liabilities (10+11+12) 1.361  656  498  133  5  69 
14.Trade Payables - - - - - -
15.Financial Liabilities 3.690 -  2.219  1.471 - -
16a.Other Liabilities, Monetary 13  1  7 - -  5 
16b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary 127  127 - - - -
17.Non Current Liabilities (14+15+16) 3.830  128  2.226  1.471 -  5 
18.Total Liabilities (13+17) 5.191  784  2.724  1.604  5  74 
19.Net asset / liability position of off-balance sheet derivatives 
(19a-19b) - - - - - -
19a.Off-balance sheet foreign currency derivative assets - - - - - -
19b.Off-balance sheet foreigncurrency derivative liabilities - - - - - -
20.Net foreign currency asset/(liability) position (9-18+19) (3.668)  (152)  (2.216)  (1.594)  12  282 
21.Net foreign currency asset / liability position of monetary 
items (IFRS 7.B23) (=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (3.921)  (242)  (2.321)  (1.596)  8  230 
22.Fair value of foreign currency hedged financial assets - - - - - -
23.Hedged foreign currency assets - - - - - -
24.Hedged foreign currency liabilities - - - - - -
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily from EURO, JPY, CHF and TL. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% 
increase and decrease in EURO, JPY, CHF and TL. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis include only outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Company where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other 
than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss with a same effect on equity.

31 December 2015
Profit / (Loss) 

 If foreign currency 
appreciated 10 %

 If foreign currency 
depreciated 10 %

 
1- TL net asset / liability (38)  38 
2- Part hedged from TL risk (-) - -
3- TL net effect (1+2) (38) 38

4- Euro net asset / liability  (191) 191
5- Part hedged from Euro risk (-) - -
6- Euro net effect (4+5) (191) 191

7- JPY net asset / liability (254) 254
8- Part hedged from JPY risk (-) - -
9- JPY net effect (7+8) (254) 254

  
10- CHF net asset / liability (22) 22
11- Part hedged from CHF risk (-) - -
12- CHF net effect (10+11) (22) 22

  
13- Other foreign currency net asset / liability 24 (24)
14- Part hedged other foreign currency risk (-) - -
15- Other foreign currency net effect (13+14) 24 (24)

TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15) (482) 482
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity (cont’d)

31 December 2014
Profit / (Loss) 

 If foreign currency 
appreciated 10 %

 If foreign currency 
depreciated 10 %

 
1- TL net asset / liability (15)  15 
2- Part hedged from TL risk (-) - -
3- TL net effect (1+2) (15) 15

4- Euro net asset / liability  (222) 222
5- Part hedged from Euro risk (-) - -
6- Euro net effect (4+5) (222) 222

7- JPY net asset / liability (159) 159
8- Part hedged from JPY risk (-) - -
9- JPY net effect (7+8) (159) 159

  
10- CHF net asset / liability 1 (1)
11- Part hedged from CHF risk (-) - -
12- CHF net effect (10+11) 1 (1)

13- Other foreign currency net asset / liability 28 (28)
14- Part hedged other foreign currency risk (-) - -
15- Other foreign currency net effect (13+14) 28 (28)

TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15) (367) 367

b.4.2) Interest rate risk management

The Group has been borrowing at both fixed and variable interest rates. Considering the interest conditions of the current borrowings, the majority of 
the borrowings are at variable interest rates. In addition to this; under the condition that the cost of financing of aircraft purchases are reasonable, the 
Group has been trying to increase the amount of the fixed interest rate borrowings in order to create a partial balance between the fixed and variable 
interest rate borrowings. Due to the fact that the variable interest rates of the Group are dependent on Libor and Euribor, exposure to local interest rate 
is low.
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.2) Interest rate risk management (cont’d)

Interest Rate Position Table
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Instruments with fixed interest rate
Financial Liabilities  3.361 2.755

Financial Instruments with Variable Interest Rate
Financial Liabilities 4.038 3.176
Interest Swap Agreements Not Subject to Hedge Accounting (Net)  (22)  (16)
Interest Swap Agreements Subject to Hedge Accounting (Net)  (37)  (40)

As indicated in Note 40, the Group fixed the interest rate for 3,073 USD of floating–interest-rated financial liabilities via an interest rate swap contracts 
as of 31 December 2015.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following sensitivity analysis are done considering the interest rate exposure in the reporting date and possible changes on this rate and are fixed 
during all reporting period. Group management checks out possible effects that may arise when Libor and Euribor rates, which are the basis for variable 
interest rates, fluctuate 0.5% and reports the effects to the top management.

Assuming that there is a 0.5% increase in Libor and Euribor interest rates and all other variables are kept constant:

Current profit before tax of the Group for the year will decrease by USD 20 (For the year ended 31 December 2014 profit before tax will decrease by 16 
USD). In contrast, if Libor and Euribor interest rate decrease by 0.5%, profits before tax will increase by the same amounts. 

Moreover, as a result of the interest rate swap contracts against cash flow risks, in the event of a 0.5% increase in the Libor and Euribor interest 
rates, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 48 USD, excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2014 the 
shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 43 USD, excluding the deferred tax effect.) In the event of a 0.5% decrease in the Libor and Euribor 
interest rates, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by the same amounts, excluding the deferred tax effect.

b.4.3) Fuel prices sensitivity

As explained in Note 40, Group has entered into forward fuel purchase contracts in order to hedge cash flow risks arising from fuel purchases. Due 
to forward fuel purchase contracts subject to hedge accounting, as a result of a 10% increase in fuel prices, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will 
increase by 88 USD, excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2014, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 78 
USD excluding deferred tax effect.) 
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39. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.3) Fuel prices sensitivity (cont’d)

In case of a 10% decrease in fuel prices, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by 98 USD, excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the year 
ended 31 December 2014, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by 93 USD, excluding deferred tax effect.)

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Under standard maturities and conditions, fair values of financial assets and liabilities traded in an active market are determined using quoted market 
prices.
• Fair values of derivative instruments:

-  Fixed-paid/floating received interest swap contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using discounted cash flow 
technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward interest rates (from observable yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and 
contract interest rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

-  Forward fuel purchase contracts and fuel collar contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using discounted cash flow 
technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward fuel prices (from observable forward fuel prices at the end of the reporting period) 
and contract fuel prices, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

-  Forward currency contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows 
are estimated based on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period) and contract 
forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

-  Cross-currency swap contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using discounted cash flow technique. Future cash 
flows are estimated based on forward interest rates and forward exchange rates (from observable yield curves and forward exchange rates 
at the end of the reporting period) and contract interest rates and forward exchange rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of 
various counterparties.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and obligations.

• Level 2: Variables obtained directly (via prices) or indirectly (by deriving from prices) which are observable for similar assets and liabilities other than 
quoted prices mentioned in Level 1. 

• Level 3: Variables which are not related to observable market variable for assets and liabilities (unobservable variables).

Financial assets and liabilities, measured at their fair values are classified as below:

  Fair value level
as of the reporting date  

Financial assets  
31 December 

2015  
Level 1 

USD  
Level 2 

USD  
Level 3 

USD
         
Derivative instruments at  30  -  30  -
 fair value through profit or loss     
         
Derivative instruments accounted  70  -  70  -
 for hedge accounting     
Total  100  -  100  -
         
Financial liabilities         
         
Derivative instruments at  36  -  36  -
 fair value through profit or loss     
         
Derivative instruments accounted  532  -  532  -
 for hedge accounting     
Total  568  -  568  -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments (cont’d)

  Fair value level
as of the reporting date  

Financial assets  
31 December 

2014  
Level 1 

USD  
Level 2 

USD  
Level 3 

USD
Derivative instruments at  33  -  33  -
 fair value through profit or loss     
         
Derivative instruments accounted  119  -  119  -
 for hedge accounting     
Total  152  -  152  -
         
Financial liabilities         
         
Derivative instruments at  29  -  29  -
 fair value through profit or loss     
         
Derivative instruments accounted  398  -  398  -
 for hedge accounting     
Total  427  -  427  -

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions

In order to hedge important operations and cash flows in the future against financial risks, Group entered into interest rate swap contracts to convert 
some of the fixed-rate finance lease liabilities to floating rate and cross-currency swap contracts to convert Euro-denominated finance lease liabilities to 
US Dollars. The changes in the fair values of those derivative instruments are directly accounted in the income statement for the period.

The floating-rate financial liabilities of the Group are explained in Note 39 b.4.2. Beginning from September 2009, in order to keep interest costs at an 
affordable level, considering long-term finance lease liabilities; Group entered into fixed-paid/floating-received interest rate swap contracts to fix interest 
rates of finance lease liabilities of which maturities are after the second half of 2010 which account for approximately 76% of floating rate USD, JPY 
and Euro denominated liabilities. Effective part of change in the fair values of those derivative instruments for cash flows risks of floating-rate finance 
lease liabilities are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in cash flow hedge reserve under the shareholders’ equity, in accordance 
with hedge accounting. 
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d)

In 2010, in order to control risk arising from fluctuations in price of fuel, which is approximately 37% of cost of sales, the Group began hedging 
transactions for approximately 20% of annual jet fuel consumption. For this purpose, the Group made forward fuel purchase contracts settled on a cash 
basis. In accordance with the Company’s BOD resolution issued on 21 January 2011, hedging rate which was 20% of the monthly consumption would 
then increase to 50% in 12 months by 2.5% gradual increase every month. In addition, the Company started to use zero cost 4 way collars in 2011 
instead of forward fuel purchase contracts to hedge cash flow risk of fuel prices. 

The effective portion of fair value of fuel hedge contracts for cash flow hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in cash flow 
hedge reserve under the shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge accounting.

Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

31 December 2015 Positive fair value Negative fair value Total

Fixed-paid/floating received interest rate swap 
 contracts for hedging against cash flow risks of 
 interest rate  1  (38)  (37)
Forward fuel purchase contracts for hedging against 
 cash flow risk of fuel prices  12  (213)  (201)
Collar contracts for hedging against cash flow risk of 
 fuel prices  2  (272)  (270)
Forward currency contracts for hedging purposes  55  (9)  46 
Fair values of derivative instruments for hedging 
 purposes  70   (532)   (462)
Cross-currency swap contracts not subject to hedge 
 accounting  17  -   17 
Interest rate swap contracts not subject to hedge 
 accounting  8   (30)   (22)
Forward currency contracts not for hedging purposes  5   (6)   (1)
Fair values of derivative instruments not for hedging 
 purposes  30  (36)   (6)
Total  100  (568)   (468)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d)

Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows (cont’d):

31 December 2014 Positive fair value Negative fair value Total

Fixed-paid/floating received interest rate swap 
 contracts for hedging against cash flow risks of 
 interest rate -  (40)  (40)
Forward fuel purchase contracts for hedging against 
 cash flow risk of fuel prices  2  (90)  (88)
Collar contracts for hedging against cash flow risk of 
 fuel prices -  (268)  (268)
Forward currency contracts for hedging purposes  117 -  117 
Fair values of derivative instruments for hedging 
 purposes 119  (398)  (279)
Cross-currency swap contracts not subject to hedge 
 accounting  8  (1)   7 
Interest rate swap contracts not subject to hedge 
 accounting  12  (28)   (16)
Forward currency contracts not for hedging purposes  13 -   13 
Fair values of derivative instruments not for hedging 
 purposes 33  (29)   4 
Total 152  (427)   (275)

31 December 2015  
Hedging against 

fuel risk  
Hedging against 

interest risk  
Hedging against 

currency risk  Total
Fair values of derivative instruments for 
 hedging purposes   (471)   (37)   46   (462)
The amount of financial expenses inside 
 hedge funds  -  -  -  -
Ineffecient part in the risk elimination of 
 fair value of hedging gains of fuel 
 hedging derivative instrument to financial 
 revenues   60  -  -   60 
Ineffecient part in the risk elimination of 
 fair value of hedging gains of currency 
 hedging derivative instrument to financial 
 revenues  -  -   (6)   (6)
Total   (411)   (37)   40   (408)
Deferred tax   82   7   (8)   81 
Hedge reserve as of 31 December 2015   (329)   (30)   32   (327)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d)

Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows (cont’d):

31 December 2014  
Hedging against 

fuel risk  
Hedging against 

interest risk  
Hedging against 

currency risk  Total
Fair values of derivative instruments for 
 hedging purposes   (356)   (40)   117   (279)
The amount of financial expenses inside 
 hedge funds  -   2  -   2 
Ineffecient part in the risk elimination of 
 fair value of hedging gains of fuel 
 hedging derivative instrument to financial 
 revenues   48  -  -   48 
Foreign currency translation differences  -   (2)  -   (2)
Total   (308)   (40)   117   (231)
Deferred tax   62   8   (23)   46 
Hedge reserve as of 31 December 2014   (246)   (32)   94   (185)
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

None.

42. OTHER ISSUES AFFECTING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MATERIALLY OR NECESSARY TO MAKE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SOUND, 
INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE

Consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared comparatively with the prior period in order to help analyzing financial position and 
performance. To keep consistency, with current year consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassified and significant changes 
are disclosed if necessary. So, the Group has made below reclassifications in the prior year consolidated financial statements in order to maintain 
consistency with current year consolidated financial statements.

- Fair value loss of fuel derivative instruments amounting to 38 USD, which was disclosed under “Cost of Sales” is reclassified to fair value gain/ 
losses on derivative financial instruments, which is disclosed under “Financial Expenses” .

- Discount interest income, amounting to 1 USD which was disclosed under “Other Operating Income” is net off with discount interest expense which 
is disclosed under “Other Operating Expenses”.




